
CABINET
4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 21ST FEBRUARY, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER
This Agenda has been prepared by the 

Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 
contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA
1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


OPEN SESSION

Strategic

3. Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2021/22 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 5 - 20

4. Council Priorities and Budget Consultation 
2018/19 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 21 - 30

5. Cwm Taf Wellbeing Plan 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 31 - 82

6. Capital Monitoring Report 2017/18 – Quarter 3 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 83 - 92

7. Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 – Quarter 3 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 93 - 116

8. Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22 – 
Final 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 117 - 122

9. Annual Equality Report for 2016/17 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 123 - 182

Portfolio

10. Special Guardianship Orders 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

183 - 186

11. Cwm Taf Regional Plan 2018-23 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

187 - 292



Information Reports

12. Rural Development Programme – Tirwedd y 
Comin The Common Landscape 
To receive report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

293 - 296

CLOSED SESSION

Exempt

In order for the following to be considered in private, it is suggested that the 
public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph/s (14 & 16) under 
Part 4 of Schedule 12A Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

13. Part Of Taff Bargoed Park, Trelewis, Merthyr Tydfil 
To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services

297 - 302

RE-OPENED SESSION

14. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillor K O'Neill (Chair)

Councillors H Barrett, A Barry, D Hughes, L Mytton and 
G Thomas

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Capital Programme 2018/19 To 2021/22

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The basis for determining the Capital Programme for the four year period 2018/19 to 
2021/22 is the Capital Programme approved by Council on 2nd March 2017 for the 
period 2017/18 to 2020/21. The Capital Programme approved on 2nd March 2017 
totalled £25.938 million for the four year period.

1.2 The indicative “core funded” Capital Programme for 2018/19 to 2021/22 totals 
£37.142 million with £10.923 million required for 2018/19.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) THAT

2.1 The Capital Programme for 2018/19 to 2021/22 be accepted and recommended to 
Council for approval. 

2.2 Continued discussions with external providers to support the required Regeneration 
Programme be noted.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires Local Authorities to demonstrate an 
integrated approach in determining their revenue and capital spending decisions 
through an integrated Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), evidencing the impact of 
financial decisions and ambitions on the Council Tax payer.

Date Written 29th January 2018
Report Author Adele Lewis/Geoff Francis
Service Area Finance
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st February 2018

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



3.2 The Council’s Revenue Budget Requirement and Council Tax increase for 2018/19 
are to be approved at the Council of 7th March 2018. Included within the Budget 
Requirement is the cost of borrowing to support capital expenditure plans.  

4.0 CAPITAL PROGRAMME BASIS

4.1 The basis for determining the Capital Programme for the four year period 2018/19 to 
2021/22 is the Capital Programme approved by Council on 2nd March 2017 for the 
period 2017/18 to 2020/21. As any MTFP is a rolling programme, continuously 
updated to take into account changing circumstances or revised priorities, it was 
necessary to review the Capital Programme to address the implications of delays in 
project commencement or completion, revised expenditure and financing profiles’, 
Welsh Government initiatives, additional updated information and urgent demands. 
This process was carried out in consultation with relevant officers in the Authority 
and with reference to the Authority’s Asset management plan.

4.2 The revised Capital Programme has been compiled over a four year period 2018/19 
to 2021/22, to enable a focused approach to current capital expenditure 
commitments whilst allowing, through a currently developing enhanced capital option 
appraisal scheme, further projects to be considered for the longer term.

5.0 CAPITAL PROGRAMME PROPOSALS

5.1 The proposed Capital Programme for 2018/19 to 2021/22 is outlined in Appendix 1 
and indicates a core funded Capital Programme of £10.923 million for 2018/19 and 
£37.142 million for the four year period. 

5.2 It should be noted that a significant amount of additional capital investment is 
supported by external providers such as Welsh Government and Heritage Lottery 
Fund demonstrating the Council’s ability to attract and successfully bid for external 
capital funding.

5.3 Appendix 2 outlines the 21st Century School Programme requirement in supporting 
the Council’s school improvement agenda. It is evident that the Band A 21st Century 
Schools Programme bid totals £19 million, requiring a £9.5 million (50%) match 
funding contribution from the Council. Band B totals £53.608 million over the lifetime 
of the programme (£17.066 million over the 4 years of the MTFP) with a total 
contribution of £17.225 million as match from the Council (£3.925 million over the 
first 4 years). Both Band A and Band B programmes are subject to Welsh 
Government approval.

5.4 Appendix 3 outlines the indicative Physical Regeneration Programme for the Council 
whereby a financial commitment of £4.550 million from the Authority, commencing 
2018/19, potentially secures for the Council additional capital finance of £39.400 
million. It should be noted that certain external funding bids are still subject to formal 
approval. 

Page 6



5.5 Appendix 4 outlines the Riverside/Riverside Phase 3 Taff and Crescent Street 
Programmes. The Authority was successful in securing £6.700 million of funding in 
2014/15 and 2015/16 to support both projects, with a contribution from the Authority 
of £7.007 million. This required a commitment from Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council to complete the house purchase programme in Taff and Crescent Streets by 
the close of the 2018/19 financial year.

5.6 A brief description of the remaining projects to the original capital programme is 
detailed in Appendix 5a with new additional priorities briefly outlined in Appendix 5b, 
the latter totalling £12.112 million over the 4 years of the MTFP with £5.278 million 
being required in 2018/19.

5.7 From Appendices 1 to 5 it is evident that the Council is faced with challenging capital 
finance constraints but is innovative and effective in securing external funding and 
working with partners to support its capital investment ambitions. General Capital 
Funding received from the Welsh Government is projected to be maintained at 
£2.613 million per annum over the period of the Capital Programme.

5.8 It is recognised that owing to funding restrictions there are a number of potentially 
significant projects currently not included within the proposed Capital Programme 
which may result in further urgent requests to Cabinet for capital funding during 
2018/19.

5.9 Council of 25th January 2017 approved the Joint Working Agreement formally 
establishing the Cardiff Capital Region Joint Committee under the City Deal initiative 
involving the 10 constituent Local Authorities within South East Wales. Specific 
projects within the initiative are currently being determined with associated financial 
commitments and will be subject to a separate report to Council in due course.

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS(S)

6.1 The proposed Capital Programme for 2018/19 to 2021/22 outlined in Appendix 1 
indicates a core funded Capital Programme of £10.923 million for 2018/19 and 
£37.142 million for the four year period.
 

6.2 As reported to Cabinet on 7th February 2018, in supporting the Council’s Capital 
Programme (outlined in Appendix 1) and its borrowing commitments a reduction in 
budgeted capital financing cost requirement in 2018/19 and 2019/20, as outlined in 
Table 1 below, is assumed subject to the Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) 
repayment of £12 million Loans, projected interest rates and projected capital 
expenditure profiles.

Page 7



Table 1 – Revised Capital Financing Costs

Description 2018/19 
£’000

2019/20 
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

2021/22 
£’000

Loan Commitments
New Borrowing
Estimated LOBO Repayment
LOBO Contingency

6,937
334

-300
50

6,641
893

-290
50

6,377
1,560
-280

50

6,111
1,848
-270

50

Capital Financing Costs 7,021 7,294 7,707 7,739

Currently Budgeted 7,260 7,362 7,284 7,443

Projected Surplus/Deficit -239 -68 423 296

6.3 Table 2 demonstrates the additional borrowing to be within the limits approved by 
Council of 2nd March 2017 in respect of the projected prudential indicator - ratio of 
financing cost to net revenue stream.

Table 2 – Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream Prudential Indicator

Description 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Council Approved Prudential 
Indicator 7% 7% n/a n/a
Estimate of financing costs 7,021 7,294 7,707 7,739
Estimate of net revenue stream 117,135 116,558 116,024 115,534

Prudential Indicator 6.0% 6.3% 6.6% 6.7%

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

Page 8



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21

2nd March 2017 Council agenda and minutes/Finance 
Department

Final Local Government 
Settlement 2018/19

20th December 2017 Finance Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 9



Indicative Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2021/22 Appendix 1

Revised Revised Revised
Original Schemes 2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Education 
21st Century Schools Programme : Band A Ysgol Y 
Graig 3,800 706 0 6,000 0 0 0
Schools Feasibility Studies 40 40 0 0 0 0 0

Physical Regeneration
Town Centre Regeneration Programme 160 160 200 300 160 160 160
Cyfarthfa Park Heritage 240 240 400 400 340 340 340
Vibrant and Viable Places Programme/City Deal 
Programme 150 150 350 350 400 400 400
Bus Station 100 250 100 250 150 150 0
Taf Bargoed Regeneration Programme 0 250 50 50 100 100 100

Miscellaneous Schemes
Riverside Phase 3 Taff and Crescent Street 516 633 637 1,037 0 1,000 0
Highway Maintenance 600 1,000 600 1,000 600 1,000 1,000
Corporate Maintenance 235 300 235 300 235 300 300
Disabled Facilities Grants 850 850 850 850 850 850 850
Redundancy Costs 500 600 0 0 0 0 0
Costs of Supporting Capital Projects 466 466 466 466 466 466 466
Unallocated 616 0 234 0 780 0 0
Total original programme 8,273 5,645 4,122 11,003 4,081 4,766 3,616

P
age 10



Indicative Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2021/22
Revised Revised Revised

New Schemes 2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education 
Abercanaid Insulation 50
Cyfarthfa Lighting Replacement 120
Dowlais Learning Resource Base 225 130
Cyfarthfa High School Gym Roof 0 133
21st Century Schools Programme Band B 0 975 1,962 988
Gwaunfarren Roof 0 0 0 250
Transport Infrastructure
Pont Bren Bridge Replacement 75
Pont Cefn Bridge Concrete Repairs 100
Highways Congestion Improvement Schemes 120
Drainage Replacement Schemes 70
Land/Works 900
Brandy Bridge Abercanaid 60
Pontsticill Bridge 25
Traffic Light Replacement 20 60 48 30
Highways Drainage Replacement Schemes 110 18 27 18
Safety Fence Renewal 27 13 29 20
Disabled Access Schemes 20 20 20 20
Streetlight Column Replacement 81 81 81 81
Edwardsville Tramroad Bridge Repair 0 60
Quakers Yard Road Bridge Expansion Joints 0 80
Harveys Bridge Quakers Yard Junction Improvements 0 20 120

Land and Buildings
Depot Review - Unit 3 and 4 Dilapidations 350
Household Waste Recycling Centre 183
Cefn Cemetery 200
Cyfarthfa Lake Dam Walls 320
Ty-Penderyn Reception Improvements 22
Pengarnddu 1,000 1,000
Depot Review - Unit 20 Works 1,200 100
Civic Centre Roof and Windows 0 150 150 150
Total New Demands 5,278 2,840 2,437 1,557

P
age 11



Indicative Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2021/22          
    Revised  Revised  Revised  
Capital Programme Requirement:   2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22
   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
          
Original Schemes   8,273 5,645 4,122 11,003 4,081 4,766 3,616
New Schemes   0 5,278 0 2,840 0 2,437 1,557
          
Total   8,273 10,923 4,122 13,843 4,081 7,203 5,173
          
Capital Funding:          
          
General Capital Funding - Grant   986 988 986 988 986 988 988
          
Supported Borrowing          
General Capital Funding - Supported Borrowing   1,619 1,625 1,619 1,625 1,619 1,625 1,625
WG Supported Borrowing - 21st Century Schools   0 531 0 0 0 0 0
          
Capital Receipts          
Capital Receipts - General   0 0 500 0 500 0 0
Capital Receipts - Capitalisation   500 600 0 0 0 0 0
Capital Receipts - Riverside   428 259 0 0 0 0 0
          
Unsupported Borrowing          
Unsupported Borrowing - General   852 5,929 380 3,218 976 1,628 1,572
Unsupported Borrowing - 21st Century Schools   3,800 175 0 6,000 0 0 0
Unsupported Borrowing - Band B Schools   0 0 0 975 0 1,962 988
Unsupported Borrowing - Riverside Project   88 633 637 1,037 0 1,000 0
          
Contribution from Reserves   0 183 0 0 0 0 0
          
Total   8,273 10,923 4,122 13,843 4,081 7,203 5,173

P
age 12



Indicative Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2021/22

21st Century Schools Band A Appendix 2

Proposed Project 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Total
Expenditure £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Afon Taf High School Remodelling 35 2,465 5,000 3,125 1,375 0 0 12,000
Ysgol Y Graig Primary School 0 0 0 67 133 800 6,000 7,000

Total 35 2,465 5,000 3,192 1,508 800 6,000 19,000

Funding Source 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Afon Taf High School Remodelling 0 2,375 3,500 1,625 1,375 0 0 8,875
Ysgol Y Graig Primary School 0 0 0 0 0 625 0 625

Total Welsh Government 0 2,375 3,500 1,625 1,375 625 0 9,500

Afon Taf High School Remodelling 35 90 1,500 1,500 0 0 0 3,125
Ysgol Y Graig Primary School 0 0 0 67 133 175 6,000 6,375

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 35 90 1,500 1,567 133 175 6,000 9,500

Total 35 2,465 5,000 3,192 1,508 800 6,000 19,000

P
age 13



21st Century Schools Band B 
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Total Expenditure 0 1,949 8,533 6,584 12,646 11,536 8,362 3,998 53,608

Funding Welsh Government 0 975 6,571 5,596 8,239 11,536 3,467 0 36,383

Funding Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 0 975 1,962 988 4,407 0 4,895 3,999 17,225

Total 0 1,949 8,533 6,584 12,646 11,536 8,362 3,999 53,608

P
age 14



Indicative Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2021/22 Appendix 3

Summary Regeneration Programme 2018/19 to 2021/22

MTCBC External
Project  Funding Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Town Centre Regeneration Programme 780 8,500 9,280
Cyfarthfa Heritage Area 1,320 15,000 16,320
Vibrant and Viable Places  / City Deal Programme 1,300 5,000 6,300
Bus Station 650 10,000 10,650
Taff Bargoed Regeneration Programme 500 900 1,400

Total 4,550 39,400 43,950

Page 15



Indicative Capital Programme 2017/18 to 2020/21 Appendix 4

Summary Riverside Programme 2018/19 to 2021/22

Expenditure Profile / 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Total
Funding Source £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

MTCBC 36 3,376 437 709 412 1,037 1,000 0 7,007
Welsh Government 5,700 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,700

Total 5,736 4,376 437 709 412 1,037 1,000 0 13,707P
age 16



Original Capital Scheme Proposals       Appendix 5a
          

1 School Feasibility Studies – relates to scoping works in respect of several schools 
particularly to assess the future capital programme requirement in relation to the 21st 
Century Band B Programme. 

2 Highways Structural Maintenance – annual commitment to tackle the backlog of 
required highway asset investment.

3 Disabled Facilities Grants – a mandatory demand-led annual commitment provided 
for improvement works to disabled people’s homes.

4 Corporate Maintenance – commitment for general capital maintenance and 
improvement projects including emergency projects and statutory compliance.

5 Costs of Supporting Capital Expenditure – relates to professional costs contributing 
to the implementation of capital projects. 

6 Redundancy costs – The Council has the potential flexibility to utilise capital receipts 
for the period 2018/19 to finance the revenue costs of service reform. The value of 
revenue expenditure eligible for capitalisation in any given financial year is restricted 
to the amount of new capital receipts realised in that same financial year. Appendix 1 
details an estimated amount of £600,000 new capital receipts available to finance 
redundancy costs.

    

Page 17



New Capital Scheme Proposals       Appendix 5b

1 Abercanaid Insulation – Upgrading the insulation to the external fabric of the school 
building is required to reduce the excessive heating costs currently being incurred 
and to mitigate the risk of not achieving required heating standards.

2 Cyfarthfa Lighting Replacement – School classroom lighting is below the required lux 
levels and so detrimental to the teaching environment. Poor corridor lighting levels 
could also prove a health and safety hazard. 

3 Dowlais Learning Resource Base – Provision requires the purchase of a portable 
building, upgrading of toilet facilities within the existing school building and either the 
full replacement or significant refurbishment of the existing roof structure.

4 Cyfarthfa High School Gym Roof – The roof has reached the end of its useful life and 
despite recent remedial works a condition survey has recommended a complete roof 
replacement. Also, the gutters are rusted which could prove a health and safety 
hazard.  

5 21st Century Schools Band B – New builds / Refurbishment schemes under the 21st 
Century Schools Band B programme have been identified. The authority is required 
to match fund between 15% and 50% of the total cost for each scheme with the 
balance being provided by Welsh Government through direct grant.

6 Gwaunfarren Roof – The roof is approaching the end of its useful life and will shortly 
require replacing.

7 Pont Bren Bridge Replacement – The existing footbridge forms part of a designated 
safe walking route for children to school and access to the Taff trail. It is in a poor 
state of repair and currently being propped up as a temporary measure to prevent 
collapse. Failure to replace would likely result in bridge closure and restrict access to 
the trail.     

8 Pont Cefn Road Bridge Concrete Repairs – The road bridge is Grade 2 listed and 
urgently requires concrete repairs to prevent further deterioration. It serves as the 
main access road to Cefn Coed and will be subject to increased traffic volumes 
following carriageway alterations as part of the duelling works on the Heads of the 
Valleys road. 

9 Highways Congestion Improvement Schemes – An allocation to target Traffic 
congestion schemes. 

10 Drainage Replacement Schemes – A number of culverts and watercourses within 
the borough are deteriorating and in need of urgent repair. Failure to do so could 
potentially result in flooding and increased future repair costs.

11 Land / Works – A budget allocation for work on land key to the Councils’ future 
plans. 

Page 18



12 Brandy Bridge Abercanaid – Completion of repair works to correct and further 
prevent concrete from de-bonding from the steel reinforcement and breaking off in 
large sections, reducing the strength and loading capacity of the piers. This is the 
only road bridge into the village of Abercanaid.

13 Pontsticill Bridge – The capital allocation is required to allow the remaining 
strengthening works to be completed and for the bridge weight restriction to be 
removed.

14 Traffic Light Replacement – A number of traffic light systems within the borough 
have exceeded their useful life (more than 25 years old) and are at risk of failure. 
Due to their age ongoing maintenance difficulties are being encountered as spare 
parts are difficult and in some instances impossible to obtain. Traffic light systems 
replacement is recommended.

15 Highways Drainage Replacement Schemes – Sections of the highways drainage 
system have collapsed or are otherwise compromised increasing the likelihood of 
localised flooding.

16 Safety Fence Replacement – A number of fences have been identified which have 
either collapsed or are safety noncompliant exposing the authority to potential third 
party risk. 

17 Disabled Access Schemes – The provision of disabled access (drop-kerbs) is not 
part of the Highways maintenance function. A number of requests have been 
received from the public for such provision which due to current budget constraints 
can only be accommodated through the allocation of additional capital funding. 

18 Streetlight Column Replacement – There are a total of 421 concrete columns within 
the borough that are beyond their useful serviceable life, and many of which are 
showing serious signs of degradation. Their replacement with aluminium columns is 
recommended to mitigate potential risk.

19 Edwardsville Tramroad Bridge Repair – The bridge currently provides access to a 
number of properties and is part of the Trevithick trail. The spandrel walls above its 
masonry arch are bulging severely and in need of repair to prevent closure and 
subsequent loss of access.  

20 Quakers Yard Road Bridge Expansion Joints – The expansion joints of the bridge - 
which serves the A4054 Cardiff Road, are approaching the end of their useful life 
and are currently failing. If not replaced, speed ramps will need to be installed and 
speed restrictions imposed. 

21 Harveys Bridge Quakers Yard Junction Improvements – The current junction is 
unsafe to all traffic users as vehicles have no alternative but to reverse into the 
oncoming traffic on the A4054 Cardiff Road. Since 2011 there has been seven 
reported collisions as a result. Junction improvements are required to ensure the 
safe movement of traffic and to prevent further accidents. 

Page 19



22 Depot Review – Unit 3 & 4 Dilapidations – The units are currently leased to the 
Waste / Recycling department and in order to vacate and relocate operations to Unit 
20, reinstatement of the buildings is required. 

23 Household Waste Recycling Centre – The amenity is currently being operated by an 
external contractor. It is proposed that operations be brought in-house which will 
require the purchase of waste containers and sundry equipment to replace that 
owned by the current operator. 

24 Cefn Cemetery – A new plot of land has been provided by the Welsh Government in 
exchange for that given up to adjacent road works. As the land value of the plot 
provided is greater than that lost, the Welsh Government will not provide any 
financial assistance towards the development of the land which is required before it 
is able to be brought into use. 

25 Cyfarthfa Lake Dam Wall – The lake walls have suffered damage from a Crayfish 
infestation with the joints between the stonework becoming permeable. As a 
consequence, water leakage (approximately 50,000 gallons per day) from the lake is 
causing subsidence to the pedestrian pathway and surrounding grass areas. Failure 
of the dam wall would result in serious flooding to Brecon Road, Pandy Close and 
the nearby industrial estate - which has already experience minor cases of flooding.

26 Ty-Penderyn Reception Improvements – Currently, the reception area is open 
planned with no clear demarcation between public and non-public areas. Office 
reconfiguration to prevent access to non-public areas and enhance employee safety 
is required as highlighted by recent incidents in which members of staff were directly 
confronted by aggressive members of the public. 

27 Pengarnddu – As site owner, MTCBC has an obligation to remove significant levels 
of contaminants left behind from operations conducted by the outgoing lessee. 
Removal is necessary prior to the disposal or alternative use of land.

28 Depot Review – Unit 20 Works – Works are required to accommodate the relocation 
of the Waste / Recycling department currently occupying units 3 & 4 together with 
the Parks and Street Cleaning departments.

29 Civic Centre Roof & Windows – Both roof and windows are approaching the end of 
their useful lifespan and issues of leakage a common occurrence. A four year rolling 
programme of replacement is recommended.

Page 20



Civic Centre, Castle                              
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Council Priorities and Budget Consultation 2018/19

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT  
          
1.1   As part of the budget setting process, the Council has a requirement to consult with 

the residents of the County Borough on how we spend their money and what should 
be the Council’s priorities for 2018/19.

         
1.2 As part of this process, over a twelve week period from 21st November, 2017 until 

12th February, 2018 a series of consultation events were undertaken across the 
County Borough. The results of which are contained in this report.       

        
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The results of the Council Priorities and the Budget Consultation exercise be    
received and considered.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1   Engagement with citizens is essential as part of the priority and budget setting         
process. This provides the Council with opinions from the public on the delivery of          
services, priorities and potential council tax increases. The aim of the consultation 
was to speak to a variety of citizens across the County Borough via:

Date Written 13th February, 2018
Report Author Ceri Dinham
Service Area Communications, Consultation 

and Engagement
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt
Committee Date 21st February 2018

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



 Cabinet Roadshows
 On-line survey available via the Council website and on Cwm Taf Community 

Engagement Hub
 Engagement through social media

4.0 COMMUNICATION AND CONSULTATION METHODOLOGY 

4.1 The methodology used for consultation took a three-pronged approach which was 
coordinated by the Communications, Consultation and Engagement Team, in 
partnership with the Council’s Cabinet and the Chief Finance Officer.

4.2 During the Budget Consultation, an article was featured in the December 2017 
edition of CONTACT Community Newspaper to raise awareness of the opportunity 
for our residents to have their say on how the Council spends its budget. 

4.3 An online survey was designed using the consultation software housed and placed 
on the Council website as well as the “Cwm Taf Community Engagement Hub” for a 
twelve week period from 21st November until 12th February.

4.4 Updates reminding citizens of the online survey, Cabinet road shows and how to 
engage were sent periodically via the Council social networking accounts (namely 
Facebook and Twitter) to followers during the consultation process.

4.5 A press release raising awareness to the on-line survey was published on the 
Council website on 21st November, 2017.

4.6 On 31st December, 2017, reference was made in a Wales Online article to Merthyr 
Tydfil carrying out budget consultation.  

4.7 Emails were also sent out to all MTCBC staff and elected members at the start of the 
consultation process to raise awareness and to increase engagement. 

4.8 Partnership work with the Council’s Trade Union representative was also undertaken 
to ensure that all their members, that were residents of the County Borough, had the 
opportunity to participate in the budget consultation.

4.9 Results were analysed using the consultation software in order to determine citizens’ 
opinions and preferences.

4.10 A campaign was carried out in February in order to illustrate what various levels of 
Council Tax increases would mean, in real terms, for residents in Merthyr Tydfil.  

Cabinet Road shows

4.11 Eight Cabinet Roadshows were held between November 2017 and January 2018 
across the County Borough. Citizens were asked to use only eight counters to 
choose eight of the 10 priority areas, which represented a service that the Council 
provides.  

Page 22



4.12 Residents were also asked questions regarding whether they would prefer Council 
Tax to remain the same or increase and by how much they would be happy for the 
increase to be, if at all. 

4.13 Cabinet Roads shows were held on:

 Tuesday, 21st November – Tesco
 Tuesday, 29th November – The College, Merthyr Tydfil
 Thursday, 30th November – M&S 
 Tuesday, 5th December – One Stop Shop, Civic Centre
 Tuesday, 9th January - 3Gs Development Trust, Gurns 
 Monday, 15th January – Bedlinog Post Office
 Wednesday, 17th January – Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Centre
 Thursday, 18th January – Co-op, Pentrebach

Paper copies

4.14 Paper copies were printed and distributed at each Cabinet Roadshow and were also 
available at the reception area of the One Stop Shop at the Civic Centre.  At the end 
of the consultation all paper copies were then entered onto the Cwm Taf Hub to be 
included in the results analysis. 

4.15 In total 766 people took part in this consultation, with a combination of face-to-face, 
online, and hard copy responses given.

4.16 The results of the consultation are listed in Appendix 1.

4.17 Feedback will be provided to the public via a report placed on the Cwm Taf 
Community Engagement Hub and the corporate website, with this information also 
published on the Council’s social networking sites and through the Council’s 
CONTACT newspaper.  This will allow members of the public to be fully aware of the 
Council’s commitment to feedback and will allow the Council to thank the public for 
their engagement. 

Key Findings

4.18 Below is a table indicating how participants in the consultation prioritised Council 
services: 

Budget Priority Area %
Schools and Education 16
Care for the Elderly 15
Children’s and Adults’ Social Care 13
Refuse & Waste 10
Street Scene 9
Environment, Health & Community Safety 8
Leisure & Culture 8
Highways & Infrastructure 8
Community Regeneration 8
Physical Regeneration 5

Page 23



4.19 The public response to the Council Tax increase was very much in favour of 
maintaining services even if it means a reasonable increase in Council Tax, with 267 
opting for this as opposed to 85 selecting to ‘Cut services to keep any increase in 
Council tax to a minimum’.

4.20 See Appendix 2 for Council Tax survey results.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 Financial implications arising from the consultation process will be considered within 
the final budget process where appropriate.

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 It has been agreed that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form is not required at 
this stage.  

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
GARETH CHAPMAN

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER  FOR GOVERNANCE 

& CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Budget Consultation 
and Council Tax survey 
analysis 

21st November, 2017 
until 12th February, 

2018

Communications, Consultation and 
Engagement Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 24



Appendix 1

 
Schools & 
Education

Children's 
Social 
Care & 
Adult

Care 
for the 
Elderly

Physical 
Regeneration

Community 
Regeneration

Highways & 
Infrastructure

Refuse 
& 
Waste

Street 
Scene

Enviro. 
Health & 
Community 
Safety

Leisure 
& 
Culture

TOTAL 
(Responses)

TOTAL 
(Respondents)

Tesco 186 134 227 54 98 93 138 85 74 53 1142 143
Merthyr 
College 221 132 147 44 74 75 99 107 91 138 1128 141
M&S 93 112 99 20 31 68 37 42 38 30 570 71
Civic Centre 196 190 176 43 83 67 102 96 118 61 1132 142
3 G's 19 23 23 6 19 9 19 11 13 6 148 19
Bedlinog 
Post Office 22 17 22 0 6 10 15 10 5 6 113 14
Merthyr 
Leisure 125 87 85 48 47 53 58 65 39 88 695 87
Leo's 24 24 31 11 6 9 9 13 7 11 145 18
Online 100 98 103 101 107 109 108 111 112 100 1049 131

986 817 913 327 471 493 585 540 497 493 6122 766
16% 13% 15% 5% 8% 8% 10% 9% 8% 8%

P
age 25



Appendix 2

P
age 26



Outcomes of Council Tax

Step 1:
When making decisions about spending next year, should the Council:
This single response question was answered by 352 respondents.
Response Number of 

Respondents
Percentage of Respondents

Maintain as many services at the 
current level as possible, even if it 
means a reasonable increase in Council 
Tax 267 76%

Cut services to keep any increase in 
Council Tax to a minimum 85 24%

P
age 27



Step 2:
What would be your preferred level of Council Tax increase for next year, taking into account 
the significant reduction in Central Government funding, key local government related 
inflationary pressures rising by more than the rate of general inflation, demands on services for 
the most vulnerable in society are increasing and there is a need to fund growing pressures on 
our key front-line Services? 
This single response question was answered by 344 respondents.
Response Number of 

Respondents
Percentage of Respondents

No increase (£0 Additional Council 
Income) 71 21%

Between 0% and 2% (Between £0 and 
£500,000 Additional Council Income) 171 50%

Between 2% and 4% (Between £500,000 
and £1 million Additional Council 
Income) 77 22%

Over 4% (Over £1 million Additional 
Council Income) 25 7%

P
age 28



P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Cwm Taf Well-being Plan 2018-2023
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1. For Statutory Partners of the Public Services Board to approve the Cwm Taf Well 
Being Plan, recently approved by the Cwm Taf Public Services Board (PSB).  The 
Well-being Plan is also subject to approval through the governance arrangements 
with the individual statutory partners of the Public Services Board: Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC, Natural Resources Wales, Cwm Taf University 
Health Board and South Wales Fire and Rescue Service. 

1.2. In order to streamline this process as much as possible, the PSB committed to the 
use of  one report template (the PSB template) and one covering report and that it is 
this report that is presented at all partner governance meetings.

1.3. Further details on the development of the Cwm Taf Well-being Plan and the next 
steps can be found in Appendix 1 of this report.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

2.1 Cabinet note and discuss the content of this report and recommend Appendix 2 to 
Council for approval. 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 In April 2016, all public bodies became subject to new duties under the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act (WFG). The purpose of the WFG Act is to ensure 
that the governance arrangements in public bodies for improving the wellbeing of 

Date Written 5 February 2018 *
Report Author Suzanne Davies 
Service Area Performance/ Partnerships and 

Scrutiny 
Committee Division Corporate 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-exempt 
Committee Date 21 February 2018 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



Wales take into account the needs of future generations. The aim is for public bodies 
to pursue a common aim to improve the cultural, economic, social and environmental 
well-being of Wales in accordance with detailed sustainable development principle 
and seven national well-being goals prescribed by the Act.

3.2 The Act prescribed the establishment of statutory Public Service Boards (PSB’s) for 
each local authority area in Wales with a duty to improve the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of its area by contributing to the achievement 
of the Well-being goals. The Cwm Taf PSB was the first merged PSB in Wales and 
was established in May 2016. 

3.3 Each PSB must improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being 
of its area by working to achieve the well-being goals. It will do this by: 

 Assessing the state of economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being
in its area; and

 Setting objectives that are designed to maximise the PSBs contribution to the 
wellbeing goals.

They must do this in accordance with the sustainable development principle.

3.4 The PSB is required to prepare and publish a Local Well-being Plan, which sets out 
the local well-being objectives and the steps it proposes to take to meet them. These 
must be designed to maximise the Board’s contribution to delivering the well-being 
goals within its area; and take all reasonable steps to meet those objectives. The 
Plan must be published within one year of the 2017 local government elections, i.e. 
the first Well-being Plan must be published by 3 May 2018 and will cover a five-year 
period.

3.5 The context of and the background to the development of the Cwm Taf Well-being 
Plan 2018 – 2023 can be found in the Cwm Taf PSB report – attached in Appendix 1 
of this report. The attached report covers:

3.5.1 The duties under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

3.5.2 The development of the Cwm Taf Well-being Plan – the journey so far including: the 
development and publication of the Well-being Assessment, the engagement and 
consultation on the draft Well-being Objectives and the draft Well-being Plan. 

3.5.3. The Cwm Taf Well-being Plan including its overarching Well-being Objectives. 

3.5.4 Next steps. 
 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 There are no financial implications in relation to the development of the Cwm Taf 
Well-being Plan. 

4.2 Welsh Government grant funding (on a regional footprint) was secured for 2017 – 18 
for the sum of £46,753 to support the development of a clear and robust Cwm Taf 
Well-being Plan by April/May 2018, which reflects the Cwm Taf Public Services 

Page 32



Board’s (PSB) innovative and challenging, problem-solving approach to meeting the 
requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act.  The delivery of 
the Well-being Plan will help the PSB to demonstrate how it can collectively improve 
the lives of people that live, work and visit Cwm Taf- aligning the Well-being Plan 
with other plans and WG initiatives policies, avoiding overlap and duplication of 
activity. In addition, PSB partners provided staff time, commitment and support in 
kind when developing the Well-being Plan, including supporting the engagement and 
statutory consultation activities. 

4.3 Future financial implications will need to be considered when the Well-being Plan 
goes into its implementation stage with delivery plans being aligned to the steps 
identified within Plan. Further funding has been secured, again through a Welsh 
Government grant for 2018-19 but again there is specific criteria laid down on what 
activity can be supported by the grant funding. 

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 The guidance for PSB in relation to developing Well Being Plans Shared Purpose 
Shared Future a Public Services Board is not under a duty to carry out formal impact 
assessments. However, they might consider it a useful way of reflecting on matters 
that statutory members of the Board would need to consider, or expect to be 
considering in any case if they are to meaningfully assess the well-being of their 
area. In addition, individual statutory members of the board may be required to carry 
out Equality Impact Assessments in relation to particular decisions, and it may be 
helpful to draw on these to consider the impact of decisions on different people 
within the community from a board level. It is important to remember that some of 
those people may be impacted in a number of different ways.

5.2 The Cwm Taf Well - being Plan is a “high level” strategic plan and the next steps will 
be to develop a detailed delivery plan, which will provide the necessary additional 
information to undertake an Impact Assessment to ensure we protect against any 
disproportionately negative impacts for protected characteristics groups. 

GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR KEVIN O’NEILL
LEADER 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) 

Date
Document 
Location

 Our Cwm Taf   
 Cwm Taf Well-being Assessment
 Cwm Taf Draft Well-being Objectives and Well-being 

Plan 
 Analysis of the responses received to the public 

consultation on the draft Cwm Taf Well-being Plan 
Engagement and Consultation report – - Local 
Government Data Unit Wales - to be published 

Page 33

http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/161111-spsf-3-collective-role-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/161111-spsf-3-collective-role-en.pdf
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/objectives
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/objectives


alongside the Cwm Taf Well Being Plan 
 Cwm Taf Public Services Board Joint Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee
 Essentials Guide to the Future Generations Act 
 Shared Purpose Shared Future  Statutory Guidance to 

the Well-being of Future Generations Act 
 Future Generations Commissioner  website 
 Future Generations Framework for Projects 

https://futuregenerations.wales/documents/future-
generations-framework/

  Future Generations Framework for service design 
http://gov.wales/topics/improvingservices/future-
generations-framework-for-service-
design/?lang=en&askdfjkajdf 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s Constitution? NO 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 34

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Committees/CwmTafPublicServicesBoardJointOverviewandScrutinyCommittee.aspx
http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Committees/CwmTafPublicServicesBoardJointOverviewandScrutinyCommittee.aspx
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/150623-guide-to-the-fg-act-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en
https://futuregenerations.wales/
https://futuregenerations.wales/documents/future-generations-framework/
https://futuregenerations.wales/documents/future-generations-framework/
http://gov.wales/topics/improvingservices/future-generations-framework-for-service-design/?lang=en&askdfjkajdf
http://gov.wales/topics/improvingservices/future-generations-framework-for-service-design/?lang=en&askdfjkajdf
http://gov.wales/topics/improvingservices/future-generations-framework-for-service-design/?lang=en&askdfjkajdf


Appendix 1 

CWM TAF WELL-BEING PLAN 2018-2023
Author/s:

Contact: Angela Jones angela.jones26@wales.nhs.uk
Consultant in Public Health, Cwm Taf Public Health Team, Public 
Health Wales 
Lead for the Well-being Plan Workstream

Classification: For approval 
Reason for 
exemption:

Non – exempt 

1.  PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1. For Statutory Partners of the Public Services Board to approve the Cwm Taf Well Being 
Plan, recently approved by the Cwm Taf Public Services Board (PSB).  The Well-being Plan 
is also subject to approval through the governance arrangements with the individual 
statutory partners of the Public Services Board: Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Rhondda Cynon Taf 
CBC, Natural Resources Wales, Cwm Taf University Health Board and South Wales Fire 
and Rescue Service. 

1.2. In order to streamline this process as much as possible, the PSB committed to the use of  
one report template (the PSB template) and one covering report and that it is this report that 
is presented at all partner governance meetings.

2.  RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1  That members receive and approve the Cwm Taf Well-being Plan –provided in Appendix 1 
to this report. 

3.  BACKGROUND OR CONTEXT

3.1.  The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

3.1.1 In April 2016, all public bodies became subject to new duties under the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act (WFG). The purpose of the WFG Act is to ensure that the 
governance arrangements in public bodies for improving the wellbeing of Wales take into 
account the needs of future generations. The aim is for public bodies to pursue a common 
aim to improve the cultural, economic, social and environmental well-being of Wales in 
accordance with detailed sustainable development principle and seven national well-being 
goals prescribed by the Act: 
 A prosperous Wales Page 35

mailto:angela.jones26@wales.nhs.uk


 A resilient Wales
 A healthier Wales
 A more equal Wales
 A Wales of cohesive communities
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language
 A globally responsible Wales

3.1.2 The sustainable development principle is supported by five key ways of working and how 
we need to do things differently. These are long term, integration, collaboration, prevention 
and involvement.  What this means is: 
 Balancing short and long term needs and planning better for the future;
 Partners and others working together to deliver priorities;
 Involving those with an interest in the Well-being goals ensuring that those people reflect 

the diversity of the area;
 Putting resources into preventing problems occurring or getting worse; and 
 Considering how Well-being goals impact upon each other and on those of other bodies.

3.1.3 Details on the Well Being Goals and the five ways of working can be found in more detail 
within the Cwm Taf Well-Being Plan and also through the Welsh Government and Future 
Generations Commissioner web-sites. 

3.2  Future Generations Commissioner 
 

The Well-being of Future Generations Act introduced the role of Future Generations 
Commissioner, from whom the Cwm Taf Public Services Board (PSB) is required to seek 
advice on how to take steps to meet the local draft well-being objectives to be included in 
the plan. Her advice must be given in writing; be provided no later than 14 weeks after it is 
sought and must be published at the same time as the plan. The Commissioner will provide 
advice and challenge, but it is the Joint Scrutiny Committee of the PSB that must provide 
oversight and scrutiny of the PSB and of the Well-being Plan. Again more detailed 
information can be found via the Future Generations Commissioner  web-site. 

3.3 Public Service Boards

The Act prescribed the establishment of statutory PSB’s for each local authority area in 
Wales with a duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
its area by contributing to the achievement of the Well-being goals. The Cwm Taf PSB was 
the first merged PSB in Wales and was established in May 2016. Further details on the 
Cwm Taf PSB can be found on the Cwm Taf PSB’s web-site - Our Cwm Taf 

3.4 The Well Being Assessment and the Well - being Plan 

3.4.1 Each PSB must improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of its 
area by working to achieve the well-being goals. It will do this by: 

 Assessing the state of economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being in its
area; and

 Setting objectives that are designed to maximise the PSBs contribution to the wellbeing
goals.

They must do this in accordance with the sustainable development principle.

3.4.2 The PSB is required to prepare and publish a Local Well-being Plan, which sets out the 
local well-being objectives and the steps it proposes to take to meet them. These must be Page 36

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/?lang=en
https://futuregenerations.wales/
https://futuregenerations.wales/
https://futuregenerations.wales/
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/


designed to maximise the Board’s contribution to delivering the well-being goals within its 
area; and take all reasonable steps to meet those objectives. The Plan must be published 
within one year of the 2017 local government elections, i.e. the first Well-being Plan must 
be published by 3 May 2018 and will cover a five-year period

4.  DEVELOPMENT OF THE CWM TAF WELL-BEING PLAN – THE JOURNEY SO FAR 

4.1 In March 2017, the PSB published its Well-being Assessment, which provides an overview 
of well-being in Cwm Taf and what is important to our communities. It has been used to 
inform the development of the Cwm Taf Local Well-being Plan (the Well-being Plan). 

4.2 In preparing the Well-being Assessment the PSB talked to hundreds of people who live, 
work and use public services across the Cwm Taf area, community groups and members of 
our communities who wanted to have their say. The findings from the Assessment were 
used to help start a more detailed work to find out what was important to communities and 
what can be done to improve people’s well-being. The Well-being Assessment will be used 
across public services to inform design and delivery of services.

4.3 The work conducted in Cwm Taf in carrying out the Well-being Assessment has been 
received positively by Welsh Government and the independent Future Generations 
Commissioner .The Well-being Assessment methodology has been recognised as a 
considered attempt “to develop a conversation across traditional policy silos.” The PSB is 
committed to building on this approach as it developed the Well-being Plan.

4.3 This was set out in the PSB’s Cwm Taf Draft Well-being Objectives and Well-being Plan 
with engagement on the draft objectives taking place during the summer 2017 and the draft 
Well-being Plan being consulted on for a 12 week statutory consultation period during the 
autumn, ending on the 19 December 2017. This involved engaging with communities, 
partners, Welsh Government and the Future Generations Commissioner among others. 

4.4 Analysis of the responses to the consultation and engagement on the draft Well-being Plan 
was undertaken by the Data Unit Wales. Further details can be found in the Plan itself In 
Appendix 1 of this report under the “Listening to our Communities”. A separate engagement 
and consultation report will also be made available on the “Our Cwm Taf” web-site.  We 
received support for the objectives and the steps and also advice and suggestions to further 
strengthen the Plan. 

 
5. CWM TAF’S WELL-BEING PLAN  

5.1 The Well - being Plan is the result of two years work with the involvement of the community 
being central to it. The Public Services Board sees this Plan as a huge opportunity to 
strengthen its work as “One Public Service”.  There is a recognition that partners need to 
work better together and be radical, removing the divisions between services to develop a 
way of working that makes sense to partners and to the people and communities they 
serve”.  Further details are contained in the PSB’s Statement of Intent with new principles to 
guide how it works together. 

5.2 The Plan sets out how a clear ambition: 

“to work as One Public Service, with communities, to support the development of resilient 
communities that are informed, connected, active and resourced and have the ability to 
adapt and influence change and improve well-being”.  

5.3 The Cwm Taf Well-being overarching objectives are to :
Page 37

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
https://futuregenerations.wales/letters-public-services-boards/
https://futuregenerations.wales/letters-public-services-boards/
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/objectives
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/statement-of-intent


 promote safe, confident, strong and thriving communities improving the well-being of 
residents and visitors and building on our community assets;

 help people live long and healthy lives and overcome any challenges; and 
 grow a strong local economy with sustainable transport that attracts people to live, work 

and play in Cwm Taf. 

5.4 Additional information  on the work already identified as required to deliver these objectives 
in the immediate, short to medium and the longer term can be found in the Well-being Plan 
under the “Plan on a Page” and also the specific section on “Our Well-being Objectives”  

5.5 It is important to point out that this Plan will be an evolving document as the PSB develops 
and implements its delivery plan, with the involvement of communities. 

6. NEXT STEPS 

6.1 The next steps for the PSB will include:

 Continuing the conversation with communities to deliver One Public Service. 
 Developing a detailed delivery plan that will set out the way forward.   Increasing public 

awareness about the Public Services Board its work and priorities and how they can get 
involved

 Putting in place arrangements that will enable the PSB to support and challenge   
progress

6.2 As workstreams are initiated, leads will be nominated to take work forward with relevant 
partners. A detailed delivery plan will be produced setting out actions, timescales, key 
milestones, performance and outcome indicators which will support and inform performance 
management, governance and scrutiny arrangements. The delivery of the objectives at 
pace is at the forefront.

6.3 The PSB will receive regular updates on the progress against the delivery plan. Progress 
will be made communicated in line with the PSB’s communication and engagement strategy 
which includes the use of the PSB website. 

6.4 Cwm Taf Public Services Board Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee will scrutinise the 
governance arrangements and the decisions made the decision made collectively by the 
Cwm Taf PSB.  The Committee’s Terms of Reference also include scrutiny of the 
effectiveness of the Well-being Plan, the level of commitment of the partners and the 
effectiveness of the PSB in communicating with its stakeholders. 

6.6 Each PSB is required to prepare and publish an Annual Report. The first report needs to be 
14 months after the publication of the Well-being Plan, i.e.  in July 2019. 

 Further details can be found in the full Cwm Taf Well-being Plan in Appendix 1 and 
specifically under the “Next steps” section of the Plan 

7.   IMPACT ASSESSMENTS 

7.1 The guidance for PSB in relation to developing Well Being Plans Shared Purpose Shared 
Future a Public Services Board is not under a duty to carry out formal impact assessments. 
However, they might consider it a useful way of reflecting on matters that statutory 
members of the Board would need to consider, or expect to be considering in any case if 
they are to meaningfully assess the well-being of their area. In addition, individual statutory 
members of the board may be required to carry out Equality Impact Assessments in relation Page 38

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Committees/CwmTafPublicServicesBoardJointOverviewandScrutinyCommittee.aspx
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/161111-spsf-3-collective-role-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/161111-spsf-3-collective-role-en.pdf


to particular decisions, and it may be helpful to draw on these to consider the impact of 
decisions on different people within the community from a board level. It is important to 
remember that some of those people may be impacted in a number of different ways.

7.2 The Cwm Taf Well - being Plan is a “high level” strategic plan and the next steps will be to 
develop a detailed delivery plan, which will provide the necessary additional information to 
undertake an Impact Assessment to ensure we protect against any disproportionately 
negative impacts for protected characteristics groups. 

8. CONCLUSION

8.1.The Well-being Plan has been developed with extensive involvement and engagement of 
communities and partners in Cwm Taf informed by the Well-being Assessment.  

INFORMATION 

 Our Cwm Taf 
 Cwm Taf Well-being Assessment
 Cwm Taf Draft Well-being Objectives and Well-being Plan 
 Analysis of the responses received to the public consultation on the draft Cwm Taf Well-being 

Plan Engagement and Consultation report – - Local Government Data Unit Wales - to be 
published alongside the Cwm Taf Well Being Plan 

 Cwm Taf Public Services Board Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee
 Essentials Guide to the Future Generations Act 
 Shared Purpose Shared Future  Statutory Guidance to the Well-being of Future Generations 

Act 
 Future Generations Commissioner  website 
 Future Generations Framework for Projects https://futuregenerations.wales/documents/future-

generations-framework/
  Future Generations Framework for service design 

http://gov.wales/topics/improvingservices/future-generations-framework-for-service-
design/?lang=en&askdfjkajdf 

Page 39

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/objectives
http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Committees/CwmTafPublicServicesBoardJointOverviewandScrutinyCommittee.aspx
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/150623-guide-to-the-fg-act-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en
https://futuregenerations.wales/
https://futuregenerations.wales/documents/future-generations-framework/
https://futuregenerations.wales/documents/future-generations-framework/
http://gov.wales/topics/improvingservices/future-generations-framework-for-service-design/?lang=en&askdfjkajdf
http://gov.wales/topics/improvingservices/future-generations-framework-for-service-design/?lang=en&askdfjkajdf


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Our Cwm Taf

Cwm Taf Well-being Plan 2018-2023

 

Page 41



2

Contents

Contents .............................................................................................................................................2

Foreword ............................................................................................................................................3

Summary.............................................................................................................................................4

The Plan on a Page: Cwm Taf Well-being Objectives and Steps.........................................................5

Introduction........................................................................................................................................6

Cwm Taf Public Services Board - working together and doing things differently...............................9

How we developed the Well-being Plan...........................................................................................13

Listening to our Communities and feedback on our Draft Well-being Plan .....................................19

Our Well-being Objectives................................................................................................................25

Cross Cutting Approach to delivering our Objectives.......................................................................26

Objective 1........................................................................................................................................27

Objective 2........................................................................................................................................30

Objective 3........................................................................................................................................34

Next Steps.........................................................................................................................................38

Appendix 1: Contributions to the seven Well-being goals ...............................................................40

Page 42



3

Foreword 

The Well-being of Future Generations Act is a ground breaking law that provides a unique 

opportunity for all public services to work differently together, involving communities in 

shaping our long term future and improving well-being for all.  We have a great history of 

close partnership working in Cwm Taf and we now have this opportunity to build on that in 

new, exciting and sustainable ways.

We have heard from our communities that we have many assets. We greatly value our 

heritage, culture and beautiful landscapes.  Our unique and close knit communities are 

supportive and nurturing environments where people want to volunteer their time, skills 

and experience to help others. We have also learned that we are living longer which is a 

great achievement.

We know that we have challenges to overcome with many of our communities being 

amongst the poorest in Wales, with ill health, lower paid jobs and skill shortages. Transport 

links are difficult and expensive for some. As leaders of public services in Cwm Taf we 

recognise that loneliness and isolation are key issues for many of our residents of all ages.  

These assets and challenges, together with our communities have shaped this Well-being 

Plan.  It is ambitious and will require our public services to work in new and different ways.  

The Well-being Plan will continue to develop as we learn together from this.  In particular, 

we will be working together in new ways to channel the undoubted strengths of our 

communities to tackle more effectively the loneliness and isolation which often exists within 

many of them.

 We are committed to make this happen, to be radical in our thinking, clever in the use of all 

our resources and involve our communities in shaping and delivering better well-being for 

all in Cwm Taf. 

Professor Marcus Longley

Chair of the  Public Services Board

Page 43



4

Summary

This Well-being Plan is the result of more than two years work with the involvement of our 

communities being central to it.  Initially the Well-being Assessment was undertaken, 

looking at the assets and challenges of our communities in terms of the social, economic, 

environmental and cultural. We looked at data, long term population, environmental and 

economic trends and had many conversations with our communities to inform us.

We then used all this information to develop draft Well-being Objectives and a Plan and 

again engaged on this with our communities, partners, Welsh Government and the Future 

Generations Commissioner, among others. We heard overwhelming support for the 

Objectives and steps and also advice and suggestions to further strengthen the Plan.

The Public Services Board sees this as a huge opportunity to strengthen our work as “One 

Public Service” which is set out in our Statement of intent and have introduced new 

principles to guide how we work together in the future:

“The members of the Cwm Taf Public Services Board are committed to developing a 

collaborative public service that puts the people in our communities at its centre.”

Our ambition for what this plan will deliver is also clear: 

‘We work as One Public Service, with communities, to support the development of 

resilient communities that are informed, connected, active and resourced and have the 

ability to adapt to and influence change and improve wellbeing” 

We have listened to our communities, identified our Well-being Objectives and prioritised 

what we need to do to achieve them, which is summarised on the next page.  In delivering 

the Plan we will also directly link and boost the asset of volunteering with the challenge of 

loneliness and isolation and make the most of this in each of our objectives.  

Our next step is to make this plan a reality.  We will develop and implement a delivery plan 

with detailed steps and actions to complete, continue to involve our communities to shape 

our work and share our progress as we go.

Page 44



5

The Plan on a Page: Cwm Taf Well-being Objectives and Steps
Objectives: 1. To promote safe, 

confident, strong, and 
thriving communities 
improving the well-
being of residents and 
visitors and building on 
our community assets.

2. To help people live long 
and healthy lives and 
overcome any challenges.

3. To grow a strong local economy 
with sustainable transport that 
attracts people to live, work and 
play in Cwm Taf.

Cross- cutting 
approach : 
Immediate

We will work in new ways to channel the undoubted strengths of our communities to tackle more 
effectively the loneliness and isolation which often exists within many of them

Steps: 
Immediate
(1-2 years)

1.1 Develop Community 
Zones as an area or place 
based approach focussing 
support to improve outcomes 
for our areas  with the 
greatest challenges 

2.1 To work with our 
communities to make sure 
everyone has the best chance 
to live long and happy lives e.g. 
First 1000 days, working with 
older people to stay fit and 
healthy for as long as possible 

3.1  Stimulate and boost the 
aspirations and skills of our people to 
meet public and private sector career 
opportunities 

Steps: Short to  
Medium Term

 1.2 Work with our 
communities to provide 
consistent messages, links 
and signposting to 
community, public sector and 
business support within and 
close to communities 

2.2 Collectively promote 
healthy lifestyles by 
encouraging “One More 
Healthy Behaviour” for all staff 
and citizens 

3.2   Growth and promotion of 
tourism using the assets of our 
beautiful natural environment, 
heritage and culture for the health, 
prosperity and benefit of the whole 
community and alongside the 
development of the Valleys Landscape 
Park.

Steps: Short to  
Medium  Term

1.3 Work with and support 
communities who want to 
manage and improve their 
local environment

2.3 To work together as public 
services and with our 
communities to reduce levels 
of obesity 

3.3  To make the most of the 
investment and return opportunities 
of the £1.229 billion City Deal locally 
within Cwm Taf

Steps: Short to  
Medium  Term

3.4 Further explore the opportunities 
for sustainable housing and 
renewable energy developments with 
associated community funds

Vision: Long 
Term

 Well coordinated 
community volunteers 
and public services with 
ACE informed and 
thriving communities

 Safe and pleasant 
environments and green 
spaces, where people are 
proud to live and 
participate

 The communities shaping 
services to meet the 
needs of residents and 
visitors.

 Reduce the frailty of our 
ageing population by 
improving the rates of the 
population that have 4 or 5 
healthy behaviours to 20%.

 Improve the rates of 
healthy life-expectancy 
and life expectancy in Cwm 
Taf to the average Wales.

 Encourage opportunities for 
development and regeneration as 
the City Deal delivers jobs and 
returns on its investments, 
including attracting hotels

 Supporting the development of a 
clean economy

 A sustainable, energetic and 
expanding economy with 
employment rates equalling the 
UK average

 A vibrant tourist industry 
attracting people from near and 
far, enjoying our natural 
environment, history and culture

Page 45



6

Introduction

The Well-being Plan and why we need it

In 2015, the Welsh Government made a new law in Wales called the Well-being of Future 

Generations Act.  This followed conversations with many thousands of people across Wales 

about the “Wales we want”. From these conversations, the Government found out what 

most mattered to people in Wales, things like climate change, the environment, skills, 

education, jobs and health.

This new law puts the citizens of Wales in the centre of everything public services do to 

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales and has the 

sustainable development principle at its heart.  This means that all public services need to 

work in a way that improves well-being for people today without doing anything that could 

make things worse for future generations of babies, children, young people, adults and 

older people, in other words all our families, young and old, and our friends and neighbours. 

Sustainable development

• Economic
• Social
• Environmental
• Cultural

Take action  to 
improve well-

being

• Meet the need of the present
• Do not affect future generations 

meeting their own needs

Sustainable 
development 

principle

This video clip will help to explain it.  Megan's Story 

Page 46

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rFeOYlxJbmw


7

The Well-being of Future Generations Act asks all our public services, e.g. councils, health, 

police, environment, fire and third sector organisations to work together to improve well-

being for everyone in Wales. This is a new approach to improve public services in a 

sustainable way and we will all work towards seven new goals shown here:

The Well-being of Future Generations Act also asks individual public services to act 

sustainably and apply the following five ways of working:

Page 47



8

As well as each public service working in this way, the Well-being of Future Generations Act 

asks all public services to come together and form a Public Services Board so that we can 

work better together to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-

being of people and communities in our area.

Working in partnership is not new, but there is a new approach with the Public Services 

Board working with our communities to improve their well-being in a sustainable way to 

meet the seven goals and the five ways of working.  Importantly, we are encouraged to 

think long term, so this is the first stage of a long term plan for Cwm Taf.

Page 48



9

Cwm Taf Public Services Board - working together and doing things differently

Locally, our public services have agreed to come together across the Cwm Taf area, 

including Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil local authorities.  We, the Cwm Taf Public 

Services Board, have agreed to develop a collaborative public service that puts the people in 

our communities at its centre.  It is about breaking down barriers between public services 

and changing the way they work so that we prevent problems from happening rather than 

having to react to them.  This diagram shows the many services we have in Cwm Taf: 

Resources

Collectively the Public Services Board have many resources including staff, land and 

buildings. Although there is no new money to support different ways of working, we 

recognise that in working together and involving our communities, we can be more 

efficient, provide more focused services, share our assets and have a much bigger impact 

locally. We will develop radical and innovative ways of working, creating the momentum 

needed to improve the well-being of all in Cwm Taf.

Page 49



10

How we will work together with our communities to deliver our Wellbeing Plan

In October 2016, the Public Services Board agreed a Statement of Intent: 

“The members of the Cwm Taf Public Services Board are committed to developing a 

collaborative public service that puts the people in our communities at its centre.”

We intend to lead our organisations through a change in culture to a more innovative, 

integrated and preventative way of doing things for the benefit of people who live and work 

in Cwm Taf now and in the future. We will use our influence as a Board to encourage other 

public organisations to adopt the same approach and to make a collective effort in 

overcoming any legislative, financial or practical barriers to achieving our intent.

We aim to shift focus from reacting to problems and challenge 'crisis management', seeking 

to make decisions for the long term benefit of people in Cwm Taf. We aim to focus our joint 

efforts far more on better outcomes for the people we serve through understanding and 

tackling the causes of problems and preventing situations from arising.

To do this, we aim to be radical, removing the divisions between services to develop a way 

of working that makes sense to us and to the people and communities we serve. To 

understand what that means, we will be involving people, in an equal relationship to the 

Board, to design, deliver and improve services.

This will involve working together with citizens, and within our own organisations, in a 

different way through making some high-risk decisions and attempting the things that seem 

too difficult to do.

As a Board, we intend to spend our finances in a different way, continue to train our staff to 

get to the root of issues and give permission to staff to support and enable people to live 

better lives.

In meeting this statement and further defining how we will achieve this intention, we 

have developed leadership principles to guide us going forward. 

Cwm Taf Public Services Board will work as One Public Service with residents and 

communities to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being to 

achieve the Sustainable Development Principle at the heart of the Well-being of Future 

Page 50

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/statement-of-intent


11

Generations Act.  This means that we will act in a way to ensure that the needs of the 

present are met without compromising the ability of our future generations to meet their 

own needs.

In doing this, our ambition is that: 

‘We work as One Public Service, with our communities, to support the development of 

resilient communities that are informed, connected, active and resourced and have the 

ability to adapt to and influence change and improve wellbeing” 

To achieve this we will adopt the following leadership principles in our decision making to 

meet the five ways of working and identify where we can have a more collective and 

powerful impact:

Thinking Long Term

We will use the responses to our consultation and engagement to state the longer term 

vision and aspirations of our communities, alongside data and information on long term 

trends to help us plan our services now and for the future. Where there are gaps in our 

knowledge we will seek advice and research, where possible, to best inform us.

Preventing problems happening or getting worse

We will seek preventative measures that can be woven into each of our objectives and steps 

going forward.  Priority will be given to predicting and preventing problems arising, then 

acting early when problems arise to improve the situation and prevent things getting worse 

and then to reduce harm from established problems. Information from the Well-being 

Assessment, long-term trends and community engagement will be used to guide how we 

work in this way alongside evidence of what works. Where evidence is not available, we will 

seek research opportunities to gain local evidence to inform us.

Working better together and with others

Page 51



12

We will work together to jointly develop and implement intelligence led, innovative and 

creative approaches to achieving our Well-being Objectives. To do this we will challenge 

ourselves at Public Services Board and sub groups to ensure we have the best partners from 

the public, private, academic and third sector along with the voice of citizens, with lived 

experience, to inform and challenge ourselves in line with the expectations of our 

communities. 

One Public Service

Working together and with our partners, communities and citizens, we will provide services 

that are seamless at the point of delivery.  We will consider our services from our citizens’ 

perspectives and where appropriate and possible co-locate staff, provide joint training, 

share our buildings and land in the best interest of our communities.  Where there are 

obstacles to this approach we will work with partners and Welsh Government to resolve 

them.

Involving our communities  

We will continue to involve our communities in informing, shaping and implementing plans.  

Building on the Community Zone approach we seek an ongoing conversation to jointly 

produce solutions, meeting the expectations for One Public Service for Cwm Taf. We will 

involve people with lived experience to inform our plans, building on our ground breaking 

work locally to tackle domestic abuse. 

Page 52



13

How we developed the Well-being Plan 

Last year we published a Well-being Assessment of the people and communities of Cwm 

Taf.  In preparing this we talked to hundreds of people e.g. people who live, work and use 

public services across the Cwm Taf area, community groups and anyone else that wanted to 

have their say.  The findings from this Assessment were used to help to start more detailed 

work to find out what is most important and what can be done to improve people’s well-

being.  This was set out in Draft Well-being Objectives and Well-being Plan for the Cwm Taf 

area.  We continued our conversations with our communities and others such as Welsh 

Government and the Future Generations Commissioner to get views on the draft Objectives 

and Plan.  This diagram shows the process: 

Involve, engage and consult

Well-being 
assessment

Draft Well-being 
Objectives and Plan

Well-being Plan

Page 53

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-wellbeing-assessment
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=286&mid=613&fileid=57


14

Well-being

Well-being is about people having the ‘assets’ they need to meet the ‘challenges’ they face 

in their everyday lives.  These assets can include skills, family support, education and good 

health.  Challenges could be poor health, bullying, neglect or violence at home.  When 

people have more challenges than assets their well-being dips.  Similarly if someone has 

many assets but few challenges, they may not feel fulfilled and that can also tip the see-saw, 

as shown:

Page 54



15

Model of Well-being

Assets:
Physical
Mental
Emotional 
Social

Challenges:
Physical
Mental
Emotional 
Social

Source:  adapted from Dodge R, et al (2012) The challenge of defining wellbeing, International 
Journal of Wellbeing, 2 (3) 22-235 

Differences in opportunity, experience and health can have a poor effect on wellbeing.  This 

can shows itself in high levels of anxiety, depression, addictive medication, alcohol and drug 

misuse.  In addition, we know that being fit, active, not smoking, a healthy weight and 

eating fruit and vegetables can protect our well-being. 

What the Well-Being Assessment told us

The main information we learned from the Well-being Assessment is:

Page 55



16

Cultural well-being

 People need to feel part of their community and many want to offer their time, skills 
and connections.

 Our heritage and history, landscape and buildings should be celebrated and used in the 
future.

 Taking part in things seems to be good for everyone’s well-being.
 Language is an important part of who we are and makes us feel like we belong.

Economic well-being

 Growing a resilient local economy that recognises the limits of the global environment.
 Helping the movement of people throughout Cwm Taf.
 People in decent work improving their overall wealth.
 People gaining new skills and qualifications to tackle the challenges they face.
 Development that facilitates a growing local economy and recognises the limits of the 

global environment.

Environmental well-being

 A healthy natural environment is the foundation for sustained economic growth, 
prosperity and resilience.

 Cwm Taf’s environment (urban and countryside) has an important part to play in 
improving people’s health and well-being.

 People want to live in a clean, safe environment and increasingly want to help manage 
their local areas.

 Communities face significant risks from a changing climate, now and in the future.
 Cwm Taf’s unique wildlife is increasingly fragmented and under threat but people can 

make a difference and help wildlife thrive.
 Children are spending less time outdoors but access to safe, natural play space 

outdoors has been shown to improve children’s physical and emotional well-being.

Social well-being

 Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy are improving in Cwm Taf. However, 
outcomes for our population are determined by the inequalities that persist.

 A good start in life is fundamental to the well-being of future generations.
 Preventing ill-health across the population improves well-being and reduces 

inequalities.
 Ageing well in Cwm Taf: meeting the needs of an older population.
 Mental well-being: building resilient communities.
 Personal resilience and community cohesion.
 The quality of the home and environment has a substantial impact on well-being.
 A change of focus for Cwm Taf: from deficits to assets.

Links to other plans

Page 56



17

The Well-being Plan is the overarching plan for Cwm Taf and the Public Service Board is the 

overarching partnership board.  There are other partnership boards that sit under this 

including the Mental Health Partnership Board, the Area Planning Board, the Community 

Safety Board and the Safeguarding Board.  These will each have their own plans for their 

area of responsibility and can contribute to this Well-being Plan. 

There is also another new law, the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  This law 

looks to improve the well-being of people who need care and support and carers who need 

support. A Population Needs Assessment was carried out by the Social Services and Well-

being Partnership Board to help develop an Area Plan for these services in Cwm Taf. There 

are parts of both plans that affect the well-being of people in our communities and it is 

important that they each work well together and complement each other. For example, the 

Area plan has a strong focus on connecting you to your communities and providing 

information and signposting.  This has been clear in our Well-being Assessment and features 

in Well-being Plan. In developing both plans we will keep strong links to make this work 

well. 

Page 57



18

The following diagram shows the links of the Public Services Board and the Well-being Plan 

to the other main partnerships:

Cwm Taf 
Public 

Services 
Board and 
Well-being 

Plan  

Welsh 
Government 
(laws ,policies 
& strategies)

Valleys Task 
Force

(7 Local 
Authorities)

Cwm Taf 
Mental health 

partnership 
and plan

Cwm Taf Area 
Plan

For health and 
social care

Cwm Taf 
Community 

Safety 
partnership 

and plan

Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding 

Board

City Deal 
(10 Local 

Authorities) 

When other information becomes available, that can also help to shape this plan we will 

include it. For example, there has recently been an assessment carried out for community 

safety. Following a review of the evidence, the Community Safety Strategic Assessment will 

focus on several core theme areas:

 Improving service access and provision to reduce the impact of alcohol and drug 

misuse on our communities.

 Divert and prevent offenders and reduce re- offending

 Protecting vulnerable people against violence, harm and victimisation

 Keeping communities safe from acquisitive crime

 Improve our environment and reduce environmental crime

 Improve road safety

 Improving consultation and engagement

Page 58



19

In addition the Welsh Government has established a Ministerial task force to improve 

prosperity in the South Wales Valleys. The recent report of this Valleys Task Force has 

suggested a number of actions including a Valleys Landscape Park to promote the natural 

environment and tourism. Three priorities have been identified for action by 2021:

 Good quality jobs and the skills to do them

 Better public services

 My local community, including a Valleys Landscape Park.

The Welsh Government has also published “Prosperity for all” a strategy setting out how it 

will work with the wider Welsh public service to lay the foundations for achieving prosperity 

for all. There are four key themes and five priority areas, as shown:

Key themes: Priority areas:

Prosperous and secure Early years

Healthy and active Housing 

Ambitious and learning Social care

United and connected Mental health

Skills and employment

All this information has helped, along with our conversations with our communities, to 

develop this Well-being Plan. 

Page 59

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/taskforce-for-the-valleys/our-valleys-our-future/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf


20

Listening to our Communities and feedback on our Draft Well-being Plan 

Analysis of the responses to the consultation and engagement on the Draft Well-being Plan 

was undertaken by the Data Unit Wales. The report is available on Our Cwm Taf.

The conclusions from the responses received and any common or emerging themes are 

highlighted here. These may not be specific to one of the objectives and, in some cases, may 

be relevant to all three.

In reaching the emerging themes, information was considered from every source. The 

following are extracts from the conclusions in their report with a response from the Public 

Services Board:

Are these the right objectives?

“This is a key question. Although the Well-being assessment was a thorough exercise with 

public engagement, and received praise from the Future Generations Commissioner and 

Welsh Government, moving from that stage to a set of draft objectives and a draft Well-

being plan requires a lot of decisions to be made, and a lot of evidence and information to be 

considered.

To some extent, much of the information we have considered for this analysis does not 

consider if the draft objectives are the right ones. The responses from the Future Generations 

Commissioner and Welsh Government barely consider the content of the objectives, 

choosing to focus on process and organisation instead.

However, where responses do directly comment on the content of the objectives, they are 

overwhelmingly positive across all sources of information. They agree with the objectives 

themselves and the actions suggested to meet them. Where respondents have disagreed, 

this was often in a constructive manner, suggesting alternative or additional actions to meet 

the objectives.”

The Public Services Board is very pleased with the extent of engagement and responses on 

the Draft Well-being Plan.  The overwhelming support for the objectives and steps is 

welcomed and reflects the participation in each stage of the process from the Well-being 

Page 60

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=286&mid=613&fileid=57


21

Assessment, engagement of partners in developing the Draft Well-being Objectives and in 

the consultation and engagement process. 

Strong support for objectives and draft Well-being Plan

“The Public Services Board should remember that across all engagement for this exercise, 

there was strong support for your draft objectives.

Responses to online consultation questions were overwhelmingly in support of the proposed 

content and aims of the objectives. The written responses and engagement events also 

mirrored this view. “

“There is clear ambition in the draft Plan, 
which is welcomed, and each objective is 
set out clearly. The narrative is well-
written and comprehensive, and the vision 
for the area is distinct.”

Welsh Government

“It is good to hear that you have 
identified that you want your PSB to 
work collaboratively to put people in 
your communities at its centre, with an 
ambition to break down barriers 
between public services to change the 
way you work.”

Future Generations Commissioner

The Public Services Board is reassured that where responses directly comment on the 

content of the objectives and actions to achieve them, they are overwhelmingly positive 

across all sources of information. There was agreement with the objectives themselves and 

the actions suggested to meet them. Where constructive comments have been received, 

they have helped provide further detail in the Well-being Plan.

Page 61



22

Potential for increased use of existing assets and facilities

“Throughout the online consultation responses and engagement events, participants 

expressed a desire for more activities and community events. This included: 

 formal and informal learning opportunities;

 the development of community groups; 

 using the natural environment and countryside in Cwm Taf to facilitate activities; and 

 the promotion of existing groups, clubs and activities that would improve 

participation, engagement with other people and physical/mental health and well-

being.

The common theme across all these suggestions was that existing assets and facilities could 

be used as venues to host these activities. Respondents commented that across all public 

sector organisations, there is a large portfolio of locations and buildings (schools and 

Merthyr Tydfil College were mentioned specifically) that are closed or under-utilised at 

evenings, weekends and during non-term time. Whilst some are already being used, there is 

potential to make many more facilities available to the public, groups and organisations, and 

to promote their potential use.”

The PSB understands that common theme across all these suggestions was that existing 

assets and facilities could be used as venues to host additional activities. The Well-being 

Plan supports this, is promoting an asset based approach and will continue to involve 

communities in the planning and delivery of the actions identified.  

Improving overall well-being – physical and mental health

“Overall well-being was a priority across all the consultation exercise.. However, the focus 

was clearly about improving the physical and mental health of the population. This included 

the provision of opportunities for organised and self-directed physical activity, supporting 

older people to reduce loneliness, the increased availability of leisure facilities, and utilising 

the natural environment to facilitate more physical activity.”

Page 62



23

Public Services Board believes improving overall well-being and meeting the sustainable 

development principle is the main purpose of this plan.  This includes physical, mental, 

emotional and social well-being.   Improving and promoting physical activity, both in 

facilities and the natural environment, is directly included in Objective 2 and many of the 

actions in Objectives 1 and 3 will also support this. Increasing participation will help reduce 

loneliness and isolation for all citizens, including older people.

Improve timeliness of access to all health provision

“This issue was raised across all engagement events and was also frequently referenced in 

online consultation responses. The concerns were about the geographical location of 

services, with many being concentrated in the two general hospitals in the Cwm Taf area 

when a community-based approach would be preferred. Difficulties accessing services in a 

timely manner was also a concern. The timeliness issue related to out-patient and referral 

services, where waiting times were considered too long. Many respondents outlined the 

difficulties when contacting their GP surgery in the first instance, and then the waiting time 

before they could get an appointment.

There were also a large number of responses wanting mental health services to improve.  

These focused mainly on reducing the stigma attached to mental health issues and 

improving access to, and the quantity of, services”

Public Services Board has Cwm Taf University Health Board is an active partner.  The Health 

Board is keen to consider the feedback as part of its planning processes and is already 

committed to improving access and timeliness and providing services as close to home as 

possible.  For example Stay Well @Home is a joint health and social care service to provide a 

rapid package of care to patients to avoid unnecessary hospital admissions.  Also the 

community Hospitals Ysbyty Cwm Rhondda and Ysbyty Cwm Cynon and the Health Parks in 

Keir Hardie, Merthyr Tydfil and Dewi Sant, Pontypridd provide a range of health, social and 

mental health care services both at the site and in the community including GPs, 

outpatients, district nursing, community midwifery, health visitors and school nursing, 

dietitians, speech therapists and mental health teams.  

Page 63



24

The Public Services Board has also prioritised action in the Well-being Plan to help people 

keep healthy for as long as possible, which will contribute to reducing preventable demand 

on healthcare services and make better use of capacity. The Mental Health Partnership 

Board is a part of the Public Services Board and action is being progressed to improve 

mental health services, with a range of partners working together. 

Need and opportunity to work differently

“One of the guiding principles, from the passing of the Well-being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act 2015, through the guidance provided by Welsh Government, and up to the 

development of the Future Generations Commissioner’s policy stance and advice, has been 

that the Act is not about ‘business as usual’.

The Act and the creation of Public Services Boards, have been promoted as an opportunity 

for public sector organisations to work differently. Indeed, it has been pointed out that 

persistently poor outcomes across some services and indicators mean that doing the same 

thing is not an option.

It is clear, from the formation of the Cwm Taf Public Services Board and the development of 

your draft Objectives and Well-being Plan, that you have approached this challenge head-on. 

Indeed, there are comments from the Future Generations Commissioner and Welsh 

Government acknowledging the progress already made.

However, they both encourage you to follow through on these promises and deliver your 

Well-being Plan in a way that promotes a new style of partnership working and engages 

with a wider range of partners.

There were responses from the consultation that hinted at a public cynicism towards the 

proposals, that it had all been seen before. There was also a request from some respondents 

asking for more engagement and more information sharing around progress on the Well-

being Plan. It might be the case that by addressing the latter point, you also deal with the 

former.”

The Public Services Board believes the purpose of this Well-being Plan is to demonstrate 

how we can improve well-being in Cwm Taf by working differently together. The Public 

Services Board has agreed a Statement of Intent and Leadership Principles to support and 

Page 64



25

guide new ways of working, both detailed in this plan.  We appreciate that people want 

seamless services and to be involved in shaping these and we are committed to make this 

happen.  

We will publish and communicate our progress to keep our communities informed and 

share opportunities for involvement

Communications and engagement with all sectors of the community

“Both the formal responses, from the Future Generations Commissioner and Welsh 

Government, highlight the work you have done to engage across all sectors, previously on 

your Well-being Assessment and now on your draft Objectives and Well-being Plan.

Some responses from this engagement, particularly from young people, highlighted the fact 

that more engagement would be welcomed.

This highlights the challenging position the Public Services Board finds itself in. The Public 

Services Board has met, and gone beyond, the statutory requirement to consult on your draft 

Objectives and Well-being Plan. However, large-scale engagement can be resource intensive, 

expensive and technically challenging, and the legislative requirement to complete this work 

is predominantly within existing resources. Some responses highlight innovative and cost-

efficient ways to continue to engage with the public that could be considered (working in 

schools directly with young people, using existing groups and channels, etc.).”

The Public Services Board has a Public Engagement Group, with the community and 

voluntary sector leading this.  We have worked hard to get our communities involved in our 

Well-being Assessment and our Well-being Plan. We have also started conversations with 

communities in the Upper Rhondda Fach and Gurnos to promote meaningful involvement in 

shaping our Community Zones and we will learn from this approach going forward.

The Public Engagement Group has also initiated a research project to specifically engage 

young people, including seldomly heard groups and communities who may experience 

barriers to involvement, funded by the Open Government Programme and including both 

Welsh Government and the Future Generations Commissioner’s Office. We will be looking 

Page 65



26

at how young people feel in relation to their involvement in the Wellbeing of Future 

Generations Act, and in particular, how the Cwm Taf Public Service Board, including elected 

members, deliver on the sustainable development principle and goals in relation to the five 

ways of working. There will be an emphasis on the involvement of young people, including 

how feedback is taken forward to action and how young people hold the Public Services 

Board to account for its actions.

The PSB will use this intelligence to help us have ongoing meaningful conversations with 

communities and the workforce together with resources and a structure to do so, to embed 

involvement of all our communities including seldom heard groups and communities.

Our Well-being Objectives 

We have listened to all the feedback we have received from our communities and others, as 

well as local information and evidence of what works. We will continue to work with our 

communities to develop new and different solutions in implementing our Objectives. The 

contribution of our Objectives to the national Well-being Goals is outlined in Appendix 1.  

Page 66



27

Cross Cutting Approach to delivering our Objectives

Cross- 

cutting 

approach : 

Immediate

We will work in new ways to channel the undoubted strengths of our communities to 

tackle more effectively the loneliness and isolation which often exists within many of 

them.  This is a cross-cutting step supporting the delivery of all our Objectives

People want to feel a part of their community and many want to offer skills and 

connections. We will help to remove any barriers to volunteering, focus involvement 

and support for those that are lonely or isolated and stand back when the communities 

are growing their own success. This will include:

a. Working with our communities to understand what is important to them and how 

together, we can help to build support to make improvements. 

b. Target volunteering to include people who are lonely or isolated, either through 

joining in or receiving support.

c. Connecting people interesting in volunteering, along with their specific interests, 

resources and skills.  This will provide opportunities to children and young people 

as well as adults e.g. linking opportunities for young people doing the Welsh 

Baccalaureate or Duke of Edinburgh awards with local volunteering opportunities 

and encouraging public service employees to enable more volunteering in public 

services that help inspire others.  This links to Objective 3.1

d. Advertise volunteering opportunities on behalf of community groups, third sector, 

public service organisations and businesses.

e. Help with the official parts of volunteering e.g. Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) 

checks, advice on supervision and health and safety risk assessments.

f. Recognition and celebration of volunteering and its achievements in our 

communities.

This will initially be focused in the three priority steps in each Objective.  We will 

develop a greater understanding, with our communities, of why people volunteer, 

what barriers there may be to volunteering and how new, innovative opportunities 

could be developed.

Although the objectives are numbered, they have equal priority. They are detailed here:

Page 67



28

Objective 1

Cwm Taf Well-being Objectives and Steps

Objective 1: To promote safe, confident, strong, and thriving communities 

improving the well-being of residents and visitors and building on our 

community assets.

Steps – Immediate

(1-2 years)

1.1 Develop Community Zones as an area or place based approach 

focussing a preventative approach to support to improve outcomes for 

our areas with the greatest challenges. With our communities, we will 

work to join up our services in the heart of our communities. It is 

difficult to describe them now, as we want to work with our 

communities to make sure they are what they need. When children 

have difficult times or suffer abuse or distress this can often lead to 

poor outcomes for them as children and into adulthood.  These are 

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs).   By working together we will 

develop vulnerability profiles, sharing our information, to help target 

support to those who need it most, provide training and skills with our 

staff and communities to prevent and reduce the effect of ACEs to 

help all our citizens thrive.  

a. The approach will start in two of communities, Gurnos and Upper 

Rhondda Fach.  The Zones will be worked up with the local 

communities to show how it will work for them. These Zones could 

include NHS, social services, schools and job centres working 

together with third sector to provide services for local 

communities using local assets.  Years 1-2

b. The learning from these communities will be used as the approach 

is rolled out across communities in Cwm Taf, with priority given to 

Page 68



29

areas where there is greatest need. Years 2-5

This objective is cross cutting and links to all other objectives and steps 

and as the other steps are developed they can be trialled with these 

communities. 

Steps – Short to  

Medium  Term

1.2 Work with our communities to provide consistent messages,  links 

and signposting to community, public sector and business support 

within and close to communities. What we will explore:

 Consistent advice from all public sector staff

 Our Cwm Taf the Public Services Board web site

 DEWIS a website providing information on social care, health and 

third sector organisations across Wales

 local community information boards,

 Community Zones, 

 Physical signs.

This will be guided by our communities, particularly in the Community 

Zone areas and opportunities to link this with volunteers will also be 

explored (Cross-cutting approach and step 1.1).

Steps – Short to  

Medium  Term

1.3 Work with and support communities who want to manage and 

improve their local environment 

People told us that they wanted to live in clean and safe environments. 

Across the valleys there are a growing number of individuals and 

groups who want to use, manage and take ownership of their local 

open, green spaces. As well as bringing people together, this will 

improve mental and physical health, benefit wildlife, and bring a sense 

of ownership to places that can foster local pride and reduce crime 

and anti social behaviour.  It will also attract people to the “Valleys 

Landscape Park” which is being developed by the Valleys Task Force. 

Page 69



30

We will explore options to  encourage and support this by:

a. Helping groups to take ownership or adopt open green spaces. 

b. Helping groups to improve rundown buildings for community use.

c. Helping groups to develop creative activities in our community 

spaces

d. Helping people who have poor mental health, are lonely or have 

damaged the local environment to get involved in local projects.  

We will prioritise these actions in our Community Zones area, in 

conversation with our communities.

Vision: Long Term  Well coordinated community volunteers and public services with 

ACE informed and thriving communities

 Safe and pleasant environments and green spaces, where people 

are proud to live and participate

 The communities shaping services to meet the needs of residents 

and visitors.

Page 70



31

Objective 2

Objective 2: To help people live long and healthy lives and overcome any 

challenges.

Steps – Immediate

(1-2 years)

2.1 To target our support in the areas with the biggest challenges, 

working with our communities to make sure everyone has the best 

chance to live long and happy lives 

Preventing things before they happen makes the best sense, but if we 

cannot prevent them we will act early to help improve and stop things 

getting worse. There are some areas where this approach has an even 

better effect:

a. In the early years and especially the First 1000 days from 

pregnancy to age two years, is the most important time of 

development.  Together with parents, parents to be and child care 

providers, we can help provide the best environment for our 

children to have a great start in life.  This is an approach which can 

help our youngest people have the best outcomes in life.  In 

Community Zones we can work together to help overcome the 

challenges facing people, including help to gain skills, services, 

linking to local jobs or volunteering opportunities or participate in 

local activities.  Working with our communities and pulling 

together our services we can help get the right support to the right 

people at the right time. 

b. Working together with older people to stay fit and healthy for as 

long as possible is in everyone’s best interest.  We know that as we 

live longer it is even more important that we can be well enough to 

enjoy our older years.  This is a time, as many retire, that we can 

spend more time involved in our communities.  Being active, 

involved and enjoying healthy lives helps us live longer and reduces 

loneliness and isolation. 

Page 71



32

Many of us will spend a third of our lives in old age, and as we hope to 

live independently, robust in body and mind, with a wide social circle, 

we will need to be active and healthy, to be “Super-agers”. Our older 

generations have the skills, experience and time that can benefit our 

communities and especially our younger generations, linking these two 

areas. 

Steps: Short to  

Medium Term

2.2 Collectively promote healthy lifestyles by encouraging “One More 

Healthy Behaviour” for all staff and citizens 

 The five healthy behaviours are:

 Not smoking

 Keeping a healthy weight

 Regular physical activity in line with national guidance

 Eating a healthy diet including 5 portions of fruit and vegetables a 

day

 Reducing alcohol and substance misuse

We will:

a.  Promote healthy behaviours with our staff. Our staff makes up 

about one quarter of the workforce in Cwm Taf and have big 

impact on our communities, with most living in the area. Together, 

we will support our staff to improve healthy behaviours with 

healthy workplaces and by supporting volunteering. This will build 

on the One More Healthy Behaviour campaign trialled in Cwm Taf 

University Health Board, sharing the learning among partners.

b. Promote healthy behaviours with citizens. We will promote and 

support our communities to take advantage of local opportunities 

and support services in a coordinated way, providing reliable 

information, signposting and access to services. We will promote 

Page 72



33

“social prescribing” in our services, where improving life style is the 

best way to improve health. Social prescribing enables services to 

connect people who need social, emotional or practical help to 

improve their lifestyles to local services in their community.  It is 

also an opportunity for people to develop their own services.

In promoting these opportunities, we will make links to accessing the 

natural environment, sports, heritage, arts, culture and language to 

provide a range of fun and engaging activities. We will collaborate with 

national bodies, including Sport Wales, Arts Council for Wales, 

National Museums of Wales and National Library of Wales as well as 

local groups.

Steps – Short to  

Medium  Term

2.3 To work together as public services and with our communities to 

reduce levels of obesity 

As levels of obesity in children and adults are rising in Cwm Taf it is 

having a bad effect on our health, both physical and mental.  There are 

many causes including poor access to healthy food, low levels of 

physical activity, easy access to fast food, reliance on cars, comfort 

eating due to bad experiences and low incomes to name but a few.  

There is no simple answer, so we need to work together to improve. 

Ways we can work together include:

a. Making the most of opportunities to walk and cycle to work and 

school with safe routes to schools, community venues, the natural 

environment and new Metro links to encourage walking and 

cycling.

b. Integrate outdoor activity into daily lives e.g. daily mile and 

outdoor learning in schools, identifying walking routes near 

workplaces to encourage activity in breaks and walking routes in 

every community.

Page 73



34

c. Improving menus in publicly controlled food outlets to offer more 

healthy choices.

d. Using our Local Development Plans, planning laws and publicly 

owned land to increase safe access to the outdoors, walking and 

cycling with a healthy range of food outlets.

The Valleys Landscape Park will provide more opportunities for activity 

in the natural environment and transport hubs in the new Metro will 

help us combine walking and cycling with trains and buses. Maximising 

and promoting opportunities in the Community Zone areas and local 

assets, as part of the First 1000 days work and with older people will 

be prioritised to support the delivery of this plan.

Vision: Long Term  Reduce the frailty of our ageing population by improving the rates 

of the population that have 4 or 5 healthy behaviours to 20%.

 Improve the rates of healthy life-expectancy and life expectancy in 

Cwm Taf to the average Wales and reduce inequalities. 

Page 74



35

Objective 3

Objective 3: To grow a strong local economy with sustainable transport that 

attracts people to live, work and play in Cwm Taf.

Steps – Immediate

(1-2 years)

3.1 Stimulate and boost the aspirations and skills of our people to meet 

public and private sector career opportunities 

There are skills shortages in many of our public services now and as 

our population ages there are opportunities to “grow our own” by 

targeting training for adults and young people in areas such as nursing, 

health and care support, social work, foster care, medicine and allied 

health professionals.  There is also an opportunity for generic public 

service apprenticeships providing placements in partner organisation 

to build the future workforce. In addition, people may wish to take on 

a number of different roles across public services with coordination 

and support e.g. working in different organisations and recognising 

their skills.

a. Promote the advantages of the use of the Welsh language and 

bilingualism in gaining skilled employment across sectors in Wales.

b. Through employability programmes, provide a gateway to skills, 

experience, qualifications and employment for those who are not 

in work supported by the anti-poverty programmes of the Welsh 

Government, along with higher and further education.  

c. Targeted early support with education and the employability 

programmes for more vulnerable residents e.g. children who are 

looked after and people in the criminal justice system.

d. Linking residents who are out of work with local job opportunities 

e.g. guaranteed interviews for residents in new supported 

businesses and the public sector on completion of programmes will 

provide incentives. 

e. Commit to the living wage in Public Services Board organisations 

Page 75



36

and promote it for suppliers and commissioned services

New ways to target support to those with the greatest need will be 

trialled in Community Zones with vulnerability profiling for people and 

families. Long term trends will be used to look at future job 

opportunities, especially in developing technologies, low carbon 

industries and care of older people, working with the Valleys Task 

Force

Steps – Short to  

Medium  Term

3.2 Growth and promotion of tourism using the assets of our beautiful 

natural environment, heritage and culture for the health, prosperity 

and benefit of the whole community and alongside the development of 

the Valleys Landscape Park.

Areas for development include:

a. Cycling and mountain biking networks and centres and links to the 

Brecon Beacons National Park. Lots of people use these attractions 

for leisure and play. 

b. Mapping of cultural  and heritage sites and buildings by local 

historians,  community stewards and  volunteers to promote them 

and share information with the community and visitors

c. Walking routes from every town and village centre with colour 

coded routes of different lengths and challenge, again, supported 

by local historians, community stewardship and volunteers to 

include points of interest and creativity.  This will also support 

objective 1 and 2

d. Coordinated approach to supporting the small businesses to 

establish tourist support services as part of town centre 

regeneration schemes e.g. bed and breakfast, cafes, restaurants, 

outdoor supplies, local produce and gifts, regenerating town 

centres.  This will include a joint approach to tackling negative 

aspects such as homelessness, drug equipment and antisocial 

Page 76



37

behaviour and is closely linked with Objective 1.4 

e. Market our Valleys as a place to live, work and play, making the 

most of the  Valleys Landscape Park

Our approach in involving our communities will support this work, in 

finding active travel routes, creating small and local business 

opportunities and encouraging a focus around the culture, heritage 

and language.

Steps – Short to  

Medium  Term

3.3 To make the most of the investment and return opportunities of the 

£1.229 billion City Deal locally within Cwm Taf.

The City Deal provides opportunities to attract investment, particularly 

in innovative communication technology and promote development in 

areas serviced by the Metro across South Wales Public Services Board.  

Opportunities include: 

a. Make the most of the opportunities to deliver regeneration in 

areas served by the Metro: 

I. Looking at public sector land and property to identify 

opportunities for development or joint use close to Metro 

stops. This can encourage jobs, tourism and easier access to 

services and linked to the planned development of the 

Valleys Landscape Park.

II. Provide support to make it easier for people to bring jobs 

and visitors into the area.  Support for innovators, 

entrepreneurs, small businesses, social enterprises as well 

as the innovation, information and communication 

technologies.

III. Look at how community transport across the valleys could 

be expanded and linked in, for example, building on 

volunteer-led community transport. 

b. Coordinated approach to sustainable land planning, economic and 

Page 77



38

housing development across the region, reducing congestion and 

associated air pollution, maximising redevelopment of brown field 

sites and limiting green field development. 

Working closely with the Valleys Task Force and the City Deal 

Authorities will provide important opportunities to influence decisions, 

investment, planning and pollution control on a regional basis, in 

support of this Plan.  

Steps – Short to  

Medium  Term

3.4 Further explore the opportunities for sustainable housing and 

renewable energy developments with associated community funds.  

This will include:

a. Tackle fuel poverty by promoting the Warm Homes Programme, 

community energy schemes and home insulation. Community 

Zones can be used to target support and signpost community 

members. exploring opportunities from our public land and assets

b. Support for an increase of well insulated, affordable, smaller units 

of social housing, supporting town centre regeneration. 

c. Work with older people to develop of a range of homes in 

dementia friendly communities e.g. smaller unit accommodation, 

retirement complexes, extra care facilities, care homes and 

sheltered accommodation.

Vision: Long Term  Encourage opportunities for development and regeneration as the 

City Deal delivers jobs and returns on its investments, including 

attracting hotels

 Supporting the development of a clean economy

 A sustainable, energetic and expanding economy with employment 

rates equalling the UK average

 A vibrant tourist industry attracting people from near and far, 

enjoying our natural environment, history and culture

Page 78



39

Next Steps

We will continue to work together to share and achieve the ambition and objectives in this 

plan, finding innovative, radical and more effective ways of working for the benefit of our 

communities. Our next steps include:

Continue our conversations with our communities to deliver One Public Service

Our journey through our Well-being Assessment to our Well-being Plan has involved many 

conversations with our communities across Cwm Taf.  The next stage of this journey will be 

to make this a routine part of the way we work to improve our services and the well-being 

of the people of Cwm Taf. This new way of working will challenge us, but we are committed 

to create the momentum and allow the innovation needed to deliver One Public Service.

A detailed delivery plan

As work streams are initiated, Leads will be appointed to take work forward with relevant 

partners.  We will use the Framework for meeting the Well-being Objectives, five ways of 

working and contribution to the seven National Well-being Goals developed by the Future 

Generations Commissioner. A detailed delivery plan will be produced with actions, 

timescales, key milestones, performance and outcome indicators and accountability for 

delivery.  The delivery of the Objectives at pace is at the forefront.

Increase public awareness about the Public Services Board

A communications and engagement strategy is being developed by the Public Engagement 

Group.  This will outline how the Public Services Board and the individual organisations that 

are part of it can: 

 raise the profile of the Public Services Board to increase awareness of its work

 communicate its key work streams simply 

 involve residents and communities in helping to identify solutions to the wider issues 

facing their community and,

 report on progress

Page 79

https://futuregenerations.wales/documents/future-generations-framework/


40

Reporting

The Public Services Board will receive updates on the progress against the delivery plan and 

any difficulties encountered.  The decisions made at these meetings will be detailed in the 

minutes and will be made available on Our Cwm Taf website. In addition, in line with the 

communications and engagement strategy, progress will be shared publicly through a range 

of methods.

There is also a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee of both Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda 

Cynon Taf Councils, made up of Councillors from both Councils. The role of this committee is 

to scrutinise decisions and governance arrangements of the Public Services Board and to 

make any recommendations. It may also carry out additional functions required by Welsh 

Government and the Future Generations Commissioner.

As the Public Services Board we will prepare and publish a report on each full year’s activity.  

The first report will be available in July 2019 and annually after that until the next Well-

being Assessment is undertaken following local government elections. The report will 

include the steps taken since the Well-being Plan was published to meet the objectives, 

progress against National Indicators or other performance measures and any other 

information the Public Services Board thinks would be helpful. Copies of the Annual Report 

will also be shared with Welsh Ministers, the Future Generations Commissioner, the Auditor 

General and the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Page 80

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=286&mid=613&fileid=57


41

Appendix 1: Contributions to the seven Well-being goals

A prosperous Wales
An innovative, productive and low carbon society which recognises the limits of the global 
environment and therefore uses resources efficiently and proportionately (including acting on 
climate change); and which develops a skilled and well-educated population in an economy 
which generates wealth and provides employment opportunities, allowing people to take 
advantage of the wealth generated through securing decent work.
Cross Cutting Approach We will work in new ways to channel the undoubted strengths of our 
communities to tackle more effectively the loneliness and isolation which often exists within 
many of them
1.4 Work with and support communities who want to manage and improve their local 

environment 
3. To grow a strong local economy with sustainable transport that attracts people to live, 
work and play in Cwm Taf.
3.1  Stimulate and boost the aspirations and skills of our people to meet public and private 
sector career opportunities
3.2   Growth and promotion of tourism using the assets of our beautiful natural environment, 
heritage and culture for the health, prosperity and benefit of the whole community and 
alongside the development of the Valleys Landscape Park.
3.3  To make the most of the investment and return opportunities of the £1.229 billion City 
Deal locally within Cwm Taf
3.4 Further explore the opportunities for sustainable housing and renewable energy 
developments with associated community funds
A resilient Wales
A nation which maintains and enhances a bio diverse natural environment with healthy 
functioning ecosystems that support social, economic and ecological resilience and the 
capacity to adapt to change (for example climate change).
1.4 Work with and support communities who want to manage and improve their local 
environment 
3.4 Further explore the opportunities for sustainable housing and renewable energy 
developments with associated community funds
A healthier Wales
A society in which people’s physical and mental well being is maximised and in which choices 
and behaviours that benefit future health are understood.
Cross Cutting Approach We will work in new ways to channel the undoubted strengths of our 
communities to tackle more effectively the loneliness and isolation which often exists within 
many of them
2.  To help people live long and healthy lives and overcome any challenges.
2.1 To target our support in the areas with the biggest challenges, working with our 
communities to make sure everyone has the best chance to live long and happy lives e.g. First 
1000 days, working with older people to stay fit and healthy for as long as possible
2.2 Collectively promote healthy lifestyles by encouraging “One More Healthy Behaviour” for 
all staff and citizens 
2.3 To work together as public services and with our communities to reduce levels of obesity 

Page 81



42

A more equal Wales
A society that enables people to fulfil their potential no matter what their background or 
circumstances (including their socio economic background and circumstances).
Cross Cutting Approach We will work in new ways to channel the undoubted strengths of our 
communities to tackle more effectively the loneliness and isolation which often exists within 
many of them
1.1 Develop Community Zones as an area or place based approach focussing support to 
improve outcomes for our areas with the greatest challenges
2. To help people live long and healthy lives and overcome any challenges.
3.1  Stimulate and boost the aspirations and skills of our people to meet public and private 
sector career opportunities
A Wales of cohesive communities
Attractive, viable, safe and well-connected communities.
Cross Cutting Approach We will work in new ways to channel the undoubted strengths of our 
communities to tackle more effectively the loneliness and isolation which often exists within 
many of them
4. To promote safe, confident, strong, and thriving communities improving the well-being 

of residents and visitors and building on our community assets.
1.3 Work with our communities to provide consistent messages and links and signposting to 
community, public sector and business support within and close to communities 
A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
A society that promotes and protects culture, heritage and the Welsh language, and which 
encourages people to participate in the arts, and sports and recreation.
Cross Cutting Approach We will work in new ways to channel the undoubted strengths of our 
communities to tackle more effectively the loneliness and isolation which often exists within 
many of them
3.1 Stimulate and boost the aspirations and skills of our people to meet public and private 
sector career opportunities 

a. Promote the advantages of the use of the Welsh language and bilingualism in gaining 
skilled employment across sectors in Wales.

3.2   Growth and promotion of tourism using the assets of our beautiful natural environment, 
heritage and culture for the health, prosperity and benefit of the whole community and 
alongside the development of the Valleys Landscape Park. Our approach in involving our 
communities will support this work, in finding active travel routes, creating small and local 
business opportunities and encouraging a focus around the culture, heritage and language.
A globally responsible Wales
A nation which, when doing anything to improve the  economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well being of Wales, takes account of whether doing such a thing may make a positive 
contribution to global well-being.
1.4 Work with and support communities who want to manage and improve their local 
environment 
3.4 Further explore the opportunities for sustainable housing and renewable energy 
developments with associated community funds

Page 82



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street,
                           Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Capital Monitoring Report 2017/18 – Quarter 3

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report details the capital expenditure and financing position for the Period 
Ended 31st December 2017 for both core and externally funded capital projects.

1.2   The report details the capital expenditure position for the period 1st April 2017 to 
31st December 2017, together with expenditure projections for the 2017/18 financial 
year.

1.3 An overspend of £44,000 on core funded projects is projected for the 2017/18 
financial year based upon the revised budget position as at 31st December 2017, 
which is the end of the third quarter.

1.4 An underspend of £50,000 on grant funded projects is projected for the 2017/18 
financial year based upon the revised budget position as at 31st December 2017.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that:

2.1      The Capital Monitoring Report for the third quarter of 2017/18 be noted.

2.2 The budget amendments for core funded projects as detailed in paragraph 4.1 be 
approved.

2.3 Variances to the budget as per paragraph 4.3 be noted and where appropriate 
approved.

Date Written 6th February 2018
Report Author Adele Lewis/Geoff Francis
Service Area Finance
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st February 2018

Page 83

Agenda Item 6



2.4 The requirement for Officers to continue to rigorously monitor budgets to ensure that 
expenditure remains within approved budgets be noted.

2.5 The requirement for Chief Officers to scrutinise project delivery to ensure 
expenditure remains within approved budgets be noted.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Core Capital Programme as agreed at the Council of 22nd November 2017 for 
the 2017/18 financial year totalled £11.955 million and was financed through General 
Capital Funding received from the Welsh Government, unsupported borrowing 
through the Prudential Code framework and the utilisation of capital receipts from 
fixed asset disposals.

3.2 Details in respect of core funded projects are outlined in Appendix 1a. 

3.3 The Council has also been successful in securing additional funding through external 
grants, mainly from the Welsh Government and Heritage Lottery Fund which totalled 
£3.905 million for the 2017/18 financial year. Details in respect of grant/externally 
funded projects are outlined in Appendix 2a and b.

4.0 CORE FUNDED PROJECTS

4.1 Amendments to the budgets of core funded projects as outlined in appendix 1 are 
required as follows –

 21st Century Schools – Afon Taf – A reduction of £1.375 million following an 
application to Welsh Government for budget re-profiling in which core funding will 
be substituted for external grant funding. 

 Cyfarthfa Heritage Area – A reduction of £52,000 following the rescheduling of 
investigation works at the Cyfarthfa Furnace site. 

 Town Centre Regeneration Programme – An increase of £52,000 to progress the 
development of the Economic Growth and Creative Merthyr strategies and 
implement the Merthyr Tennis project in Thomas Town House.

 
 21st Century Schools – Ysgol-Y-Graig – A reduction of £1.398 million (to be 

carried forward) as a result of budget re-profiling following unavoidable time 
delays in project execution.

 Brandy Bridge – Abercanaid – A reduction of £60,000 to be carried forward into 
the 2018/19 financial year. Completion is now expected 4th May 2018. 

 Pontsticill Bridge – A reduction of £25,000 to be carried forward into the 2018/19 
financial year. Completion is now expected 11th May 2018.

 Security Fences – A reduction of £145,000 as a result of securing external 
funding.

Page 84



 Land / Works – A reduction of £900,000 associated with works to the New 
Merthyr Town Centre Bus Station and South Entrance area which will now begin 
in 2018/19. A carry forward of funding into the 2018/19 financial year is required.

4.2 Appendix 1 shows that £4.905 million of capital expenditure has been incurred on 
core financed projects up to 31st December 2017. Capital expenditure tends to be 
weighted towards the second half of the financial year.

4.3 Appendix 1a details a project overspend of £44,000 against budget, resulting in a 
projected outturn for the 2017/18 financial year of £8.096 million. Major overspends / 
underspends result from the following:

 An underspend of £276,000 on Riverside as Sewer works are no longer required 
at the site. 

 An underspend of £187,000 on the Riverside Phase 3 scheme due to the 
rescheduling of property purchases and Tenant Compensation Payments.

 An overspend of £139,000 on the School Roof at Coed Y Dderwen. Emergency 
works are required to the Flat roof at the school as the roof is now leaking. Works 
to the roof had originally been planned for the 2018/19 financial year. 

 An overspend of £100,000 following the payment made in relation to a final 
settlement as detailed in the Exempt Cabinet Report on the 25th October 2017. 

 An underspend of £308,000 on Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s) due to lower 
numbers of referrals than expected and the introduction of a new case 
management system that has delayed DFG works.

 An overspend of £313,000 on the Brandy Bridge scheme is expected in this 
financial year as detailed in the Cabinet Report of 25th October 2017.

 An overspend of £243,000 on the Road Slip South of Pontygwaith. The 
overspend is as a result of inaccurate information being held on the existing wall, 
which led to changes in the design and method of construction on more than one 
occasion as unforeseen problems occurred. In addition the depth to the rock 
below ground was more than previously investigated leading to changes in 
design and larger piles being used. This also had an effect of the use of 
scaffolding and has resulted in increased costs.

 An overspend of £85,000 to reflect the final purchase price of the Unit 20 Depot 
and associated works.

4.4 Appendix 1b shows Capital Receipt income for 2017/18 from the Riverside project is 
lower than anticipated by £170,000 as detailed in the Cabinet Report of 25th October 
2017.

Page 85



5.0 OTHER CAPITAL PROJECTS

5.1 Amendments to the budgets of Grant funded projects are required as follows –

 21st Century Schools – Afon Taf – An increase of £1.375 million following an 
application to Welsh Government to via grant funding originally awarded to 
Ysgol–Y-Graig to Afon Taf.

 21st Century Schools – Ysgol-Y-Graig – A reduction of £1.469 million following an 
application to Welsh Government to via funding to Afon Taf (£1.375 million) and 
carry forward the balance (£94,000) into 2018 / 19.

 Flying Start – An increase of £45,000 to fund a new setting at Zoar.

 Renewals Area – An increase of £5,000 (funded from earmarked reserves) for 
retention payments associated with the Cosy Home Scheme.

 Collaborative Change Programme (CCP) Capital – An increase of £362,000 
awarded by Welsh Government to fund security fencing, recycling boxes and 
enabling works.

 Townscape Heritage Initiative Phase 2 – A reduction of £64,000 as a result of 
project slippage and consequential re-profiling.

5.2 Other capital projects totalling £3.855 million funded from a variety of external capital 
grants together with the related financing profiles are detailed in Appendix 2a and b.

Appendix 2a details a project underspend of £50,000 against budget (which will be 
returned to the provider) as a result of the following:

 21st Century Schools – Afon Taf – An underspend of £50,000 as a result of 
professional fees being lower than expected.

5.3 Utilisation of each individual grant is defined by detailed prescriptive terms and 
conditions specific to that grant, including eligibility for carry over to the following 
financial year.

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 As at 31st December 2017 the projected outturn is an overspend of £44,000 on core 
funded projects which is to be funded from additional unsupported borrowing and the 
capital contribution reserve as detailed in Appendix 1b.

6.2 As at 31st December 2017 the projected outturn is an underspend of £50,000 on 
grant funded projects which will be returned to the awarding body.

Page 86



7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE  

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Capital Budget 
Monitoring Reports

 
December2017 Accountancy Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 87



Capital Monitoring Statement 2017/18 Appendix 1a
(For the period Ended 31st December 2017)

Core Funded Projects

Budget 22nd 
November 

2017
Amendment 
to Budget

Revised 
Budget

Outturn 
2017/18

Projected 
outturn 
2017/18

Variance 
2017/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

21st Century Schools Programme - Afon Taf 1,375 (1,375) 0 0 0 0
21st Century Schools Programme - Ysgol Y Graig 1,531 (1,398) 133 41 93 (40)

Physical Regeneration Programme
Cyfarthfa Heritage Area 751 (52) 699 323 699 0
Town Centre Regeneration Programme 170 52 222 64 222 0
Taff Bargoed Regeneration Programme 133 0 133 4 133 0

Riverside
Riverside Project 290 0 290 5 14 (276)
Riverside Phase 3 Taff and Crescent Street 584 0 584 260 397 (187)
Other Projects
Schools Feasibility Studies 60 0 60 14 40 (20)
Cyfarthfa High School Roof Replacement 129 0 129 93 100 (29)
Coed Y Dderwen School Roof 0 0 0 2 139 139
Homes For Life Care Homes 100 100 100
Highway Maintenance 670 0 670 630 670 0
Disabled Facilities Grants 850 0 850 332 542 (308)
Brandy Bridge Abercanaid 497 (60) 437 390 750 313
Replacement Expansion Joints Fiddlers Elbow 0 0 0 0 25 25
Road Slip South of Pontygwaith 517 0 517 650 760 243
Pontsticill Bridge 100 (25) 75 1 75 0
Pentwyndeinter Bridge 100 0 100 68 99 (1)
Security Fences 200 (145) 55 16 55 0
Corporate Maintenance 235 0 235 180 235 0
Costs of Supporting Capital Projects 466 0 466 350 466 0
Redundancy costs 750 0 750 750 750 0
Land Purchase/Works 2,000 (900) 1,100 0 1,100 0
Depot Review 547 0 547 632 632 85
Total 11,955 (3,903) 8,052 4,905 8,096 44

P
age 88



Appendix 1b

Core Funding Available

Budget 22nd 
November 

2017
Amendment 
to Budget

Revised 
Budget

Outturn 
2017/18

Projected 
outturn 
2017/18

Variance 
2017/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Capital Grant 986 0 986 986 986 0

Supported Borrowing
General Capital Funding - Supported Borrowing 1,619 0 1,619 1,619 1,619 0
WG Supported Borrowing - 21st Century Schools 531 (531) 0 0 0 0

2,150 (531) 1,619 1,619 1,619 0
Capital Receipts
Capital Receipts - Capitalisation 750 0 750 750 750 0
Capital Receipts - Riverside 429 429 429 259 (170)

1,179 0 1,179 1,179 1,009 (170)
Unsupported Borrowing
Unsupported Borrowing - General 4,550 (985) 3,565 1,226 4,043 478
Unsupported Borrowing - 21st Century Schools 2,375 (2,242) 133 41 93 (40)
Unsupported Borrowing - Riverside Project 445 0 445 (164) 152 (293)

7,370 (3,227) 4,143 1,103 4,288 145

Contribution from Corporate Risk Fund 200 (145) 55 16 55 0

Capital Contribution Reserve 70 0 70 2 139 69

Total 11,955 (3,903) 8,052 4,905 8,096 44

P
age 89



Capital Monitoring Statement 2017/18
(For the period Ended 31st December 2017) Appendix 2a

Specified Grant/External Funded Projects

Budget 
22nd 

November 
2017      
£000

Amendment 
to Budget   

£000

Revised   
Budget 
2017/18          

£000

Outturn to 
date 

2017/18 
£000

Projected 
outturn 
2017/18 

£000

Variance 
2017/18 

£000

21st Century Schools Programme - Afon Taff 0 1,375 1,375 1,213 1,325 (50)
21st Century Schools Programme - Ysgol -Y- Graig 1,469 (1,469) 0 0 0 0
Flying Start Projects 65 45 110 5 110 0
Renewal Areas at Merthyr Vale, Dowlais, Bedlinog 2 5 7 7 7 0
Eco renewals 262 0 262 262 262 0
Enable 75 0 75 38 75 0
Penydarren Subway (SRIC) 150 0 150 0 150 0
Collaborative Change Programme (CCP) Capital 0 362 362 0 362 0
Waste and Resources Action Programme 48 0 48 48 48 0
Vibrant and Viable Places Programme 1,419 0 1,419 320 1,419 0
Town Centre Arts Project 37 0 37 29 37 0
Townscape Heritage Initiative Programme (phase 2) 124 (64) 60 0 60 0

Total 3,651 254 3,905 1,922 3,855 (50)

   

P
age 90



Appendix 2b

Specific Grant/other Funding Available

Budget 
22nd 

November 
2017

Amendment 
to Budget   

£000

Revised   
Budget 
2017/18          

£000

Outturn to 
date 

2017/18 
£000

Projected 
outturn 
2017/18 

£000

Variance 
2017/18 

£000

Welsh Government (WG):
   - 21st Century Schools Programme 1,469 (94) 1,375 1,213 1,325 (50)
   - Flying Start 65 45 110 5 110 0
   - Eco renewals 262 0 262 262 262 0

- Enable 75 0 75 38 75 0
- Collaborative Change Programme (CCP) 0 362 362 0 362 0

Welsh Government (WG)/Metro:
- Vibrant and Viable Places (VVP) 1,419 0 1,419 320 1,419 0

Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF):
   - Townscape Heritage Initiative Programme (phase 2) 124 (64) 60 0 60 0

Other contributions:
 - Arts Council of Wales 37 0 37 29 37 0
 - Waste and Resources Action Programme 48 0 48 48 48 0
 - Transport Wales 150 0 150 0 150 0
 - Revenue 2 5 7 7 7 0

Total 3,651 254 3,905 1,922 3,855 (50)
   

P
age 91



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 – Quarter 3

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The report details the projected revenue outturn for 2017/18 as at 31st December 
2017 that is the 3rd Quarter, and was considered at Budget Board on 7th February 
2018.

1.2 The report advises Cabinet of the projected outturn position for the 2017/18 financial 
year whilst focusing on projected major budget variances, be it service areas 
experiencing significant financial pressures or service areas projected to be 
significantly underspent against approved budgets.

1.3 A net revenue surplus of £43,000 is projected for the financial year; however, 
significant financial pressures still exist within the Social Services Department 
(£469,000 deficit), the Learning Department (£309,000 deficit) and the Places and 
Transformation Directorate (£227,000 deficit). These pressures are offset against 
projected budget surpluses of £80,000 for Corporate Costs and £968,000 for 
Contributions/Recharges.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

2.1 The third Revenue Budget Monitoring report for the 2017/18 financial year, based on 
3rd Quarter projections, is accepted.

2.2 Budget Virements outlined in Appendix 2 be approved.

Date Written 7th February 2018 *
Report Author Steve Jones / Ian Kent / Adam Price
Service Area Finance
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st February 2018

Page 93

Agenda Item 7



2.3 Managers to urgently address projected budget deficits within their respective 
service areas, identifying all possible remedial measures to offset projected deficits. 

2.4 Managers to continue to rigorously monitor all revenue budgets and immediately 
notify the Chief Finance Officer of potential financial difficulties.

     

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Regular planned budget monitoring is crucial in ensuring effective financial 
stewardship and accountability and is governed by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy’s recommended best working practices.

3.2 It is considered critical that Budget Monitoring arrangements are continually 
reviewed and enhanced to ensure continued effectiveness with robust challenge 
provided by both the Budget Board and Change Management Board.

3.3 This report details the net revenue expenditure position for the period 1st April 2017 
to 31st December 2017 (3rd Quarter) and revenue outturn projections for the 2017/18 
financial year, and was considered at Budget Board of 7th February 2018. 

4.0 FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS 2017/18

4.1 Detailed in Appendix 1 is the summary Revenue Budget Monitoring statement as at 
31st December 2017 (Quarter 3) with a net revenue surplus of £43,000 projected for 
the 2017/18 financial year. 

4.2 Detailed in Appendix 2 are requested Budget virements resulting from budget re-
alignment, required investment and departmental re-configuration.

4.3 Detailed Directorate net expenditure to date and projected budget outturn positions 
are disclosed in Appendices 3 to 5 as follows:

o Appendix 3 – People and Performance Directorate
o Appendix 4 – Place and Transformation Directorate
o Appendix 5 – Corporate Costs

4.4 Major variances satisfying the following criteria are disclosed in Appendix 6:  

o Any under / over spend of at least £50,000
o Any under / over spend that is 10% or more of the budget and at least 

£20,000 in value
o Any other under / over spend considered significant at the discretion of the 

Chief Finance Officer

5.0 CURRENT  MAJOR ISSUES AND ASSUMPTIONS

5.1 A significant net revenue deficit of £469,000 is projected for the Social Services 
Department. This is owing to a delay in the approval of the Learning Disability Day 

Page 94



Opportunities business case (£117,000), higher than anticipated staff direct 
replacement costs in the Homes for the Elderly budget (£172,000), and 5 new 
residential placements in the Looked After Children system (£377,000). These 
overspends are being offset by underspends in the Supported Placements 
(£116,000), and the Independent Residential Establishments (£172,000) budgets.

5.2 A significant net revenue deficit of £309,000 is projected for the Learning Department 
owing to identified additional learning needs within the Enhanced Provision budget 
(£173,000), special tuition fees (£93,000) and the increased transport costs in 
respect of Additional Learning Needs pupils (£106,000). 

5.3 A significant net revenue deficit of £227,000 is projected for the Places and 
Transformation Directorate. This is owing to increased school transport costs in 
respect of mainstream pupils (£64,000), additional agency staff employed to achieve 
Fly Tipping clearance targets (£70,000), and a delay in the roll-out of the new Litter 
Enforcement team (£35,000). Additionally, the budgeted £100,000 reduction in the 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust’s Management Fee (approved by Council of 2nd March 
2017) will not be achieved, owing to the ongoing financial difficulties encountered by 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust.

5.4 A net revenue surplus of £80,000 is projected for the ‘Corporate Authority’ Budget 
owing to an underspend against Capital Financing Costs (£92,000 – see 5.5), a 
reduction in anticipated eligible demand for assistance with council tax payments 
(£53,000), lower than estimated grant audit fees (£44,000), lower than estimated 
Welsh Translations (£27,000), reduced corporate requirement for holiday pay costs 
(£70,000), and Living Wage contract increases and Energy Levy costs that have 
since been absorbed within service budgets (£150,000 and £50,000 respectively). 
This is net of unbudgeted costs for security and utilities at the Pengarnddu site 
(£146,000). In addition, the net revenue surplus includes a provision for £325,000 
relating to a potential financial liability within Social Care, which is currently the 
subject of an ongoing investigation and negotiation.

5.5 A projected underspend of £92,000 is shown against Capital Financing Costs. The 
Authority has made a conscious decision to fund its capital programme through short 
term temporary loans at a lower interest rate, rather than taking fixed long term loans 
through the PWLB (Public Works Loan Board). The premium payment of £144,000 
as referenced in the LOBO (Lender Option Borrower Option) restructuring report to 
Cabinet on the 7th February 2018 has been reflected in the projected outturn. 

5.6 Based on trend data over the previous number of years it is anticipated that the 
budgeted Collection Fund Surplus of £600,000 will be exceeded by £250,000 
resulting in a projected Collection Fund Surplus of £850,000.

5.7 Corporate Vacancy Factor savings, resulting from the time elapsing between core 
funded posts becoming vacant and being filled, are projected to exceed the budget 
of £400,000 by £332,000. 

5.8 A projected underspend of £159,000 is shown against Redundancy and EPP (Early 
Pension Payments) committed costs. This projected outturn reflects known 
Redundancy/Retirement costs to be approved to year end. 

Page 95



5.9 The Council has the flexibility to utilise capital receipts for the period 2016/17 to 
2018/19 to finance the revenue costs of service reform. The value of revenue 
expenditure eligible for capitalisation in any given financial year is restricted to the 
amount of new capital receipts realised in that same financial year. For the 2017/18 
financial year capital receipts available to finance redundancy costs are projected to 
exceed the budget of £500,000 by £250,000.

5.10 The residual strategic partnership required savings for 2017/18 of £195,000 has 
been reduced to £97,000 owing to the delivery of savings relating to the Supporting 
People efficiency work stream.

5.11 In order to ensure net expenditure remains within the approved budget for 2017/18, 
a 5% Corporate Levy has been charged to all council budgets. This achieved an in-
year saving of £74,000.  The levy was calculated by taking the total expenditure for 
each budget less any uncontrollable spend (staff costs, premises costs, contract 
payments, fleet costs etc.), and applying 5% to the remaining controllable 
expenditure.

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 A net budget surplus of £43,000 is projected for 2017/18 based on the financial 
position as at 31st December 2017.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report. It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time. The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Revenue Budget 
Monitoring Working 
Papers

April 2017 to December 
2017

Accountancy Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 96



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
Corporate Summary

30-Sep-17 Vacant 31-Dec-17
Budget Post Other Budget Outturn

Summary 2017/18 Virements Virements 2017/18 Month 9
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

People and Performance
Social Services, Chief Officer Social Services - Lisa Curtis Jones 30,166 -77 0 30,089 23,115 30,558 469 1.56
Learning, Chief Officer Education  - Dorothy Haines 43,920 3 0 43,923 41,643 44,232 309 0.70

74,086 -74 0 74,012 64,758 74,790 778 1.05

Place and Transformation
Deputy Chief Executive Services - Ellis Cooper 2,223 -12 0 2,211 1,679 2,207 -4 -0.18
Community Regeneration - Alyn Owen 3,402 -49 0 3,353 3,620 3,443 90 2.68
Neighbourhood Services - Cheryllee Evans 10,546 -26 0 10,520 7,936 10,571 51 0.48
Corporate Services - Mark Thomas 3,869 -7 0 3,862 3,646 3,963 101 2.62
Finance - Steve Jones 1,172 0 0 1,172 897 1,161 -11 -0.94
Total 21,212 -94 0 21,118 17,778 21,345 227 1.07

Corporate Costs
Corporate Management - Executive 1,544 0 0 1,544 1,161 1,539 -5 -0.32
Corporate Authority - Steve Jones 18,466 0 0 18,466 14,765 18,474 8 0.04
Human Resources & Organisational Development - Fran Donnelly 788 -8 0 780 578 754 -26 -3.33
Legal - Carys Kennedy 1,579 -24 0 1,555 1,070 1,498 -57 -3.67
Performance 318 0 0 318 236 318 0 0.00
Total 22,695 -32 0 22,663 17,810 22,583 -80 -0.35

Contributions / Recharges
Non General Fund Allocations -835 0 0 -835 0 -835 0 0.00
Discretionary Non Domestic Rate Relief 20 0 0 20 0 20 0 0.00
Collection Fund Surplus -600 0 0 -600 0 -850 -250 41.67
Corporate Vacancy Factor -34 200 0 166 0 -166 -332 -200.00
Contribution from Budget Reserve -1,245 0 0 -1,245 0 -1,245 0 0.00
Contribution from Living Wage Reserve -277 0 0 -277 0 -277 0 0.00
Contribution to/from Corporate Investment Fund -178 0 0 -178 0 -178 0 0.00
Redundancy & EPP Committed 1,305 0 0 1,305 1,051 1,146 -159 -12.18
Capitalisation of Severance costs -500 0 0 -500 -750 -750 -250 50.00
Earmarked Reserves/Change Management -757 0 0 -757 0 -757 0 0.00
Strategic Partnership Workstreams -97 0 0 -97 0 0 97 -100.00
Corporate Levy 0 0 0 0 -74 -74 -74 100.00

Total -3,198 200 0 -2,998 227 -3,966 -968 32.29

Net Expenditure 114,795 0 0 114,795 100,573 114,752 -43 -0.04

Variance

Appendix 1

Year End 
Projection

P
age 97



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
Proposed Budget Virements Appendix 2

Budget
Amount 

£'000 Budget
Amount 

£'000
Enhanced Provision (1-1 LSA's) -171 Behaviour Support 171 To enhance budget monitoring the Behaviour

Support element of Enhanced provision is
removed form the 1-1 LSA support.

Waste Disposal -15 Grounds Maintenance 15 Transfer of disposal budget for street cleansing
waste

Highways Administration -49 Depots 49 Highways have moved out of Unit 20 and 
therefore the budget for internal accomodation 
charges needs to be reversed.

Total -235 235

Virement From Virement To
Reason for Virement

P
age 98



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Day Services Business Case -117 -117 0 0 117 -100.00
Outsourcing (Group Home) Business Case -30 -30 0 0 30 -100.00

Social Services
Business Support
Business Manager 58 58 44 58 0 0.00
Compliments and Complaints 77 77 48 71 -6 -7.79

135 0 0 135 92 129 -6 -4.44

Social Care Services and Recharges
Quality & Regulation Services 99 99 73 101 2 2.02
Client Financial Management Services 223 223 176 227 4 1.79
Receivership 22 22 14 27 5 22.73
Social Care Service Responsibility & Recharges 0 0 -122 0 0 0.00

344 0 0 344 141 355 11 3.20

Duty, IAA & ACT Compliance
Out of Hours/Emergency Duty Services 63 63 4 67 4 6.35
IAA Duty Services 59 59 43 59 0 0.00
Citizen Engagement 3 3 0 2 -1 -33.33

125 0 0 125 47 128 3 2.40

Early Intervention and Assistance Services
Multiple Intervention Assistance Service 0 0 181 0 0 0.00
Carers Network 201 201 70 201 0 0.00

201 0 0 201 251 201 0 0.00

Social Services Collaborative Partnerships
SEW IT Shared Service 26 26 30 11 -15 -57.69
Integrated Community Equipment Store (ICES) 175 175 129 175 0 0.00
Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 146 146 -166 146 0 0.00
Cwm Taf Youth Offending Services 323 323 -37 323 0 0.00
Vale, Valleys & Cardiff (VVC) Regional Adoption Group 165 165 111 163 -2 -1.21
Integrated Family Support Services (IFST) 280 280 210 280 0 0.00
Delivering Transformation (Collaborative Regional Change Agenda) 62 62 0 62 0 0.00
Cwm Taf Autism Service 40 40 -9 40 0 0.00
Deprivation of Liberty (DOLs) Services 88 88 45 80 -8 -9.09

1,305 0 0 1,305 313 1,280 -25 -1.92

Appendix 3

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 99



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Adult Social Services
Adult Social Care
Adult Services Management 139 139 52 147 8 5.76
Social Care Client Service Strategies 38 38 25 36 -2 -5.26
Health Park Building Costs 163 163 83 163 0 0.00

340 0 0 340 160 346 6 1.76

Assessment & Care Management Services
Social Work Team 1,108 -11 1,097 797 1,094 -3 -0.27

1,108 -11 0 1,097 797 1,094 -3 -0.27

Initial Support Services
ISS Management 65 65 49 66 1 1.54
Initial Adult Services 242 -10 232 172 232 0 0.00
Initial Response Services 517 -12 505 389 505 0 0.00
Community Occupational Therapy 381 381 270 382 1 0.26
Telecare / Telehealth Services 37 37 10 37 0 0.00

1,242 -22 0 1,220 890 1,222 2 0.16

Supported and Accommodation Services
MTCBC Homes for the Elderly 1,636 1,636 1,382 1,808 172 10.51
MTCBC Group Home (Llysfaen Fach) 909 909 676 918 9 0.99
Supporting People 61 -3 58 -51 55 -3 -4.92

2,606 -3 0 2,603 2,007 2,781 178 6.83

Day Care Services
Outside/Community Based Activities 238 238 156 220 -18 -7.56
Day Centres 981 981 746 1,001 20 2.04
Transport 207 207 106 201 -6 -2.90

1,426 0 0 1,426 1,008 1,422 -4 -0.28

Appendix 3

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 100



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Independent External Care Provision
Supported Placements 2,477 2,477 1,710 2,361 -116 -4.68
Shared Lives 350 350 207 326 -24 -6.86
Independent Domiciliary Care 1,750 1,750 1,130 1,799 49 2.80
Direct Payments 981 981 762 1,000 19 1.94
Independent Commissioned Day Services 166 166 100 176 10 6.02
Independent Residential Establishments (IRE's) 4,574 4,574 2,870 4,402 -172 -3.76
Extra Care Facility 256 256 151 238 -18 -7.03

10,554 0 0 10,554 6,930 10,302 -252 -2.39

Children Social Services
Children's Social Care
Children's Social Care 204 204 95 204 0 0.00

Children with Disabilities
Children with Disabilities 749 749 522 742 -7 -0.93

Children Looked After
Looked After Children Team 468 468 341 472 4 0.85
Looked After Children Educational Support (LACES) 173 173 88 154 -19 -10.98
Fostering & Family Placement Team 432 432 323 429 -3 -0.69
LAC Residential Placement Services 993 993 752 1,370 377 37.97
Fostering Services 3,088 3,088 2,027 3,034 -54 -1.75
Leaving Care Support Services 311 311 199 301 -10 -3.22
Adoption Services 111 111 64 102 -9 -8.11
Advocacy Services 65 65 -4 65 0 0.00

5,641 0 0 5,641 3,790 5,927 286 5.07

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 3

P
age 101



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Intake & Family Support Services
Intake Team 531 -17 514 263 539 25 4.71
Child & Family Team 611 611 468 642 31 5.07
Specialist Family Support 25 25 19 25 0 0.00
Family Centre & Contact Services 614 -8 606 420 595 -11 -1.79
Children in Need 324 324 259 336 12 3.70
Support Other Than Looked After Services 588 588 536 655 67 11.39

2,693 -25 0 2,668 1,965 2,792 124 4.60

Youth Justice Services
Youth Justice Services (LASPO) 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 0.00

Safeguarding
Merthyr Tydfil Safeguarding Unit 193 193 145 195 2 1.04
Independent Safeguarding Services 114 114 88 122 8 7.02
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 317 317 224 337 20 6.31

624 0 0 624 457 654 30 4.81

Early Years and Youth Management 60 60 45 60 0 0.00

Early Years
Early Years 157 157 97 156 -1 -0.64
Out of School Childcare Grant 0 0 20 0 0 0.00
Integrated Children's Centre 68 68 38 62 -6 -8.82
Flying Start 0 0 1,700 0 0 0.00

225 0 0 225 1,855 218 -7 -3.11

Appendix 3

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 102



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Youth Services
Youth Service Management 116 116 90 117 1 0.86
Youth Service Street based 65 65 46 63 -2 -3.08
Youth Service 16+ 33 33 27 33 0 0.00
Youth Servie Penydre 87 -16 71 43 70 -1 -1.15
Youth Service Treharris 85 85 58 86 1 1.18
Youth Service Cyfarthfa 69 69 46 68 -1 -1.45
Youth Service Troedyrhiw 73 73 45 68 -5 -6.85
Youth service YPAG 0 0 3 0 0 0.00
Youth Service Strategy Grant 0 0 68 0 0 0.00
Sufficiency Assessments 20 20 13 20 0 0.00
Participation & Youth Support Services 82 82 43 80 -2 -2.44

630 -16 0 614 482 605 -9 -1.43

Communities First 0 0 0 0 538 0 0 0.00

Inspire Programmes
Inspire to Achieve 0 0 89 0 0 0.00
Inspire to Work 0 0 59 0 0 0.00
Inspire Match Funding 24 24 0 24 0 0.00

24 0 0 24 148 24 0 0.00

Families First (grant) 0 0 531 0 0 0.00

Community Development
Adult Community Learning 30 30 10 29 -1 -3.33
Family & Community Services 47 47 28 43 -4 -8.51
NIACE 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

77 0 0 77 38 72 -5 -6.49

Net Expenditure Social Services 30,166 -77 0 30,089 23,115 30,558 469 1.55

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 3

P
age 103



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Learning Department

Individual Schools Budget
Individual Schools Budget (ISB) 38,649 38,649 38,649 38,649 0 0.00
Ynysowen Speech & Language 78 78 78 78 0 0.00
Partial Hearing Classes 160 160 160 160 0 0.00
EIG 236 236 230 230 -6 -2.54

39,123 0 0 39,123 39,117 39,117 -6 -0.02

Other School Expenditure
Maternity Costs 61 61 -15 61 0 0.00
Facility Time 15 15 21 15 0 0.00
Retirement / Severance 356 356 272 373 17 4.78
Welsh Joint Education Committee (WJEC) 15 15 14 14 -1 -6.67
Standardising Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE) 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

447 0 0 447 292 463 16 3.58

School Meals and Milk
School Meals 15 15 -268 15 0 0.00
Breakfast Clubs 0 -64 0 0 0.00

15 0 0 15 -332 15 0 0.00

Strategic Management and Support
Strategic Management 10 10 6 10 0 0.00
Extended Leadership Team 69 69 55 70 1 1.45

79 0 0 79 61 80 1 1.27

Appendix 3

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 104



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

School Support Services
Building Maintenance 47 47 70 78 31 65.96
Ground Rent - Cyfarthfa Park Infants buillding 17 17 12 12 -5 -29.41
Health & Safety 28 28 15 22 -6 -21.43
Caretaking & Cleaning SLA 0 0 -11 0 0 -100.00
LMS & Resources 36 3 39 21 39 0 0.00
Admissions 78 78 59 78 0 0.00
Governor Support 24 24 -35 24 0 0.00
Headteacher / Schools Forum 2 2 0 0 -2 -100.00
General Office Running Costs 10 10 0 6 -4 -40.00
Peripatetic Music Service 0 0 -4 -4 -4 0.00
Youth Orchestra Service 15 15 9 17 2 13.33

257 3 0 260 136 272 12 4.62

Other Education
Local Safeguarding Children's Board (LSCB) 10 10 9 9 -1 -10.00
Vacant Education Properties 0 0 0 0 0 0.00
Grant to Organisations 1 1 1 1 0 0.00

11 0 0 11 10 10 -1 -9.09

Special Educational Needs
Education Inclusion 68 68 44 66 -2 -2.94
Enhanced Provision (1-1 LSA's) 1,167 -171 996 836 1,169 173 17.37
Behaviour Support 171 171 104 137 -34 -19.88
Speech Therapists 41 41 25 50 9 21.95
Special Tuition 137 137 181 230 93 67.88
Special Needs Advisory  Teachers 91 91 60 91 0 0.00
Special Recoupment 815 815 104 744 -71 -8.71
Psychological Services 369 369 267 369 0 0.00
SNAP Cymru 13 13 13 13 0 0.00
ALN Training 12 12 4 12 0 0.00
School Counselling 68 68 34 68 0 0.00
School Transport 762 762 540 868 106 13.91

3,543 0 0 3,543 2,212 3,817 274 7.73

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 3

P
age 105



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
People and Performance Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

School Improvement
Strategic Education Projects 89 89 39 89 0 0.00
Schools Data Management Systems 98 98 108 114 16 16.33
Joint Education Service 258 258 0 255 -3 -1.16

445 0 0 445 147 458 13 2.92

Net Expenditure Learning Department 43,920 3 0 43,923 41,643 44,232 309 0.70

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 3

P
age 106



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
Places and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Director of Place & Transformation

ICT
ICT Computers 1,461 1,461 1,151 1,461 0 0.00
Schools ICT Team 0 0 -64 0 0 0.00
ICT Printing 184 184 172 184 0 0.00

Business Change 339 -12 327 244 324 -3 -0.92

Communications
Corporate Communication Team inc Contact 127 127 97 125 -2 -1.57
News Merthyr/Contact Supplement 15 15 8 16 1 6.67

Emergency Planning 97 97 71 97 0 0.00

2,223 -12 0 2,211 1,679 2,207 -4 -0.18

Appendix 4

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 107



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
Places and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Community Regeneration

Economic Development 242 242 238 242 0 0.00
Physical Regeneration 179 179 289 173 -6 -3.35
Rights of Way 91 91 70 91 0 0.00
Orbit Business Centre -31 -31 -11 -24 7 -22.58

Employability & Worklessness
Employability core 277 -2 275 214 273 -2 -0.73
Bridges into work 2 (grant) 0 0 200 0 0 0.00
Working Skills for Adults 0 0 133 0 0 0.00
Communities for Work P3 0 0 27 0 0 0.00
Communities for Work P1 0 0 52 0 0 0.00

Public Protection
Housing Renovation Grants -71 -71 35 -35 36 -50.70
Housing Services (RSL's Advice & Strategy) 399 399 330 401 2 0.50
Community Safety 116 116 86 115 -1 -0.86
Trading Standards General 247 -36 211 134 204 -7 -3.32
Licensing 25 25 -13 25 0 0.00
Public Health 129 129 94 133 4 3.10
Environmental Protection & Housing 117 117 84 118 1 0.85
Operational - combined Dog Warden and Pest Control 61 61 39 59 -2 -3.28
Animal Impounding 2 2 1 2 0 0.00
Food Safety & Prevention of Infectious Diseases 187 187 138 183 -4 -2.14
Default Works 0 0 2 0 0 0.00
Registrars 74 -3 71 45 69 -2 -2.82
Contribution from Renewal Reserve -125 -125 0 -125 0 0.00
Transport 1,483 -8 1,475 1,433 1,539 64 4.34

3,402 -49 0 3,353 3,620 3,443 90 2.68

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 4

P
age 108



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
Places and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Neighbourhood Services

Bereavement Services -68 -68 -6 -1 67 -98.53
Grounds Maintenance 1,242 15 1,257 1,007 1,257 0 0.00
Street Cleansing 1,093 1,093 830 1,196 103 9.42
Fleet Management 705 705 697 706 1 0.14

Refuse and Waste
Waste Disposal 729 -15 714 681 663 -51 -7.14
Civic Amenities 1,030 1,030 630 1,024 -6 -0.58
Recycling 311 311 247 303 -8 -2.57
Refuse Collection 876 876 481 869 -7 -0.80
Sustainable Waste 341 341 126 364 23 6.74
Pentrebach Depot 0 0 278 0 0 0.00

Highways and Engineering
Highways Administration 477 -49 428 348 429 1 0.23
Highways Operational 828 828 510 853 25 3.02
Street Lighting 218 218 146 223 5 2.29
Bridge Maintenance 105 105 76 105 0 0.00
Land Drainage 42 42 53 31 -11 -26.19
Land Reclamation 21 21 13 21 0 0.00
Traffic Management 36 -5 31 7 31 0 0.00
Engineering 419 -10 409 302 410 1 0.24
Depots 14 49 63 64 73 10 15.87

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 4

P
age 109



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
Places and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Corporate Property
Corporate Property & Estates Division 665 665 551 674 9 1.35
Glynmil Gipsy Site 3 3 -9 3 0 0.00
Land Charges 0 0 16 0 0 0.00
Office Accommodation 823 -2 821 519 721 -100 -12.18

Planning & Countryside
Planning - Development Control 141 141 72 139 -2 -1.42
Planning - Development Plan 441 -9 432 277 425 -7 -1.62
Building Control 54 54 20 52 -2 -3.70

10,546 -26 0 10,520 7,936 10,571 51 0.48

Appendix 4

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 110



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
Places and Transformation Directorate

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Corporate Services
Risk Management 81 81 77 80 -1 -1.23
Partnerships 59 59 44 58 -1 -1.69
Service Support and Development 730 730 620 776 46 6.30
Executive Support 185 185 137 179 -6 -3.24
CCTV 162 162 86 146 -16 -9.88
Peace of Mind 4 4 -12 11 7 175.00
Audit 259 -7 252 182 242 -10 -3.97
Benefits 290 290 410 293 3 1.03
Revenues -5 -5 465 -25 -20 400.00
Parking Services -300 -300 -498 -299 1 -0.33
Civil Parking Enforcement 0 0 45 0 0 0.00
Leisure Trust 2,323 2,323 2,018 2,423 100 4.30
Retained Leisure 81 81 72 79 -2 -2.47
Sports Development 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

3,869 -7 0 3,862 3,646 3,963 101 2.62

Finance
Accountancy 690 690 529 691 1 0.14
Insurance 44 44 32 44 0 0.00
Creditors 146 146 109 145 -1 -0.68
Procurement 292 292 227 281 -11 -3.77

1,172 0 0 1,172 897 1,161 -11 -0.94

Net Expenditure 21,212 -94 0 21,118 17,778 21,345 227 1.07

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 4

P
age 111



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
Corporate Costs 

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Corporate Management - Executive 1,544 1,544 1,161 1,539 -5 -0.32

Corporate Authority
Capital Financing Costs 7,462 7,462 5,597 7,370 -92 -1.23
Levies 2,928 2,928 2,204 2,919 -9 -0.31
Council Tax Benefit Payments 6,025 6,025 5,932 5,972 -53 -0.88
Rent Allowances -6 -6 -286 -6 0 0.00
Contribution to Pensions 339 339 213 324 -15 -4.42
External Audit and Inspection Fees 380 380 174 336 -44 -11.58
Insurances 553 553 465 553 0 0.00
Provision for Bad Debts 20 20 0 20 0 0.00
External Legal Fees 30 30 41 41 11 36.67
Grants to Voluntary Organisations 14 14 6 14 0 0.00
Subscriptions 100 100 95 96 -4 -4.00
Bank Charges 71 71 58 86 15 21.13
Empty Property NDR Relief 30 30 46 46 16 53.33
Translations/Welsh Translations 77 77 34 50 -27 -35.06
Other 0 0 83 150 150 100.00
Welsh Water Long Term Debt Interest -15 -15 0 -15 0 0.00
Payroll Insurance Income -5 -5 0 0 5 -100.00
Car Purchase Loans -1 -1 0 -1 0 0.00
Corporate Property -89 -89 -68 -82 7 -7.87
Holiday pay estimate 8.94% 90 90 0 20 -70 -77.78
Living Wage estimate 150 150 0 0 -150 -100.00
Energy Levy based on Kwh used 50 50 0 0 -50 -100.00
Apprenticeship Levy 263 263 171 256 -7 -2.66
Social Care Provision 0 0 0 325 325 100.00

18,466 0 0 18,466 14,765 18,474 8 0.04

Appendix 5

Year End 
Projection Variance

P
age 112



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017)
Corporate Costs 

Estimate Vacant Post Other Estimate Outturn
Summary 30-Sep-17 Virements Virements 31-Dec-17 Month 9

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Legal 
Legal 260 -24 236 162 236 0 0.00
Information Governance 70 70 42 66 -4 -5.71
Democracy 204 204 157 207 3 1.47
Register of Electors 40 40 37 41 1 2.50
Elections 85 85 59 85 0 0.00
Mayor Expenses 71 71 29 67 -4 -5.63
Members Expenses 791 791 541 738 -53 -6.70
Scrutiny 58 58 43 58 0 0.00

1,579 -24 0 1,555 1,070 1,498 -57 -3.67

Human Resources & Organisational Development
Human Resources 528 528 353 517 -11 -2.08
Payroll 234 -8 226 162 225 -1 -0.44
Trade Unions 26 26 63 12 -14 -53.85

788 -8 0 780 578 754 -26 -3.33

Performance 318 0 0 318 236 318 0 0.00

Net Expenditure 22,695 -32 0 22,663 17,810 22,583 -80 -0.35

Year End 
Projection Variance

Appendix 5

P
age 113



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017) Appendix 6
Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation
£'000 %

1 Day Services Business Case 117 -100.00 Learning Disability Day Opportunities Business case (Gross £117k 
full year) budgeted to be achieved by 1st April 2017.  Business case 
approval delayed.

Decision required to progress business case.

2 Outsourcing (Group Home) Business 
Case

30 -100.00 Group Home Business case (Gross £30k full year) budgeted to be 
achieved by 1st April 2017.  Business case not approved.

Decision required to progress business case.

3 MTCBC Homes for the Elderly 172 10.51 Cover for staff direct replacement costs exceeding available 
budgets, agency cover higher than would be anticipated.  £50k loss 
of income from under occupancy within Homes

Full Review and Enhanced budget scrutiny being 
implemented

4 Supported Placements -116 -4.68 £30k income from a new Social Care Workforce-National Living 
Wage Grant reflected in projections. Along with changes in service 
users assessed needs and transfers out of service area to other 
Social Care provisions

No action required

5 Independent Domiciliary Care 49 2.80 Increasing service demand and changes to employment terms and 
conditions such as the National Living Wage increasing financial 
burden within this service

No action required

6 Independent Residential Establishments 
(IRE's)

-172 -3.76 £81k income from Social Care Workforce-National Living Wage 
Grant and £16k Carers Respite Grant reflected in projections. Along 
with changes in service users assessed needs and transfers out of 
service

No action required

7 LAC Residential Placement Services 377 37.97 Part year affects of 5 new placements along with changes to current 
placements costs.

Growth required within MTFP. Continue to monitor

8 Fostering Services -54 -1.75 As per the Looked After Children (LAC) strategy and the long term 
aim to reduce LAC numbers closer to 130.  LAC number are 
currently at 151, an increase from the start of the year. However, 
costs part year changes to the placements are enabling costs to be 
held to offset pressures within Support Other Than Looked After 
when children transition to Special Guardianship Orders.

Continue to monitor and review impact of LAC strategy 
and monitor possibility of long-term reductions for 
MTFP planning.

9 Child & Family  Team 31 5.07 Agreed Agency Social Worker cover within team to enable 
appropriate case load allocations.

Continue to monitor

10 Support Other Than Looked After Services 67 11.39 Part year affects of changes to current placements costs and 
increasing numbers transferring from Looked After Fostering. 

Continue to monitor and review impact of LAC strategy 
and monitor possibility of long-term cost implications 
for MTFP planning.

Action Taken to address

P
age 114



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017) Appendix 6
Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation
£'000 %

11 Building Maintenance 31 65.96 Failed to meet 2016/17 budget reduction of 20% (£16,000).  £12k 
overspend to remove unsafe portakabin at Pen-Y-Dre High School.

Continue to monitor

12 Enhanced Provision (1-1 LSA's) 173 17.37 Additional Enhanced Provision support has been made by the 
Additional Learning Need (ALN) Clearing Panel as a result of an 
increase in identification of ALN within schools. 
2016/17 budget reduction not achieved.

Continue to undertake termly reviews to ensure 
appropriate level of support is being awarded.

13 Behaviour Support -34 -19.88 Vacant post within the Behaviour Support Team agreed to offset the 
overspend in Enhanced Provision as part of a 2016/17 budget 
reduction.

Continue to monitor

14 Special Tuition 93 67.88 Additional Special Tuition support has been made by the Clearing 
Panel as a result of an increase in identification of needs within 
schools. 

Continue to undertake termly reviews to ensure 
appropriate level of support is being awarded.

15 Special Recoupment -71 -8.71 Delay in placements associated with out of county placements. Continue to monitor, as the demand for places out of 
county is un-controllable

16 School Transport 106 13.91 Additional contracts and demands. Continue to monitor.  Growth requested for MTFP 
going forward.

17 Housing Renovation Grants 36 -50.70 Revision to Disabled Facilities Grant income.  Projected to complete 
less grants than budgeted

Continue to monitor

18 Transport 64 4.34 Rates increase on bus station, plus increased mainstream contract 
costs - new contracts and increased rates.

Continue to monitor

19 Bereavement Services 67 -98.53 Fee income is lower than estimated. For the year to December fee 
income was 15% lower than the same period in 16/17.

Income will be monitored closely to determine whether 
this is an ongoing issue or just a seasonal variation.

20 Street Cleansing 103 9.42 Fly Tipping is projected to overspend by £70k. Two additional agency 
staff are being employed to allow the Authority to meet the 5-day 
clearance target for fly tipping.

The department does now not expect to earn any litter enforcement 
income in the current year. The litter enforcement team is expected 
to cost £35k for 17/18. The business case assumed that the team 
would be self-funding.

The MTFP has been amended to reflect the additional 
agency staff.

Litter enforcement income will be monitored closely. A 
decision needs to be made on whether to continue 
with the trial.

21 Waste Disposal -51 -7.14 The volume of waste disposed of in the first 2 quarters was 6% lower 
than estimated. 

Waste volumes will be monitored closely. The MTFP 
already reflects an assumption that waste volumes will 
decrease gradually over the next few years.

22 Office Accommodation -100 -12.17 Changes to Non domestic rates (NDR) charging scheme have 
resulted in lower NDR liabilities for the Civic Centre and Unit 5.

NDR budget assumptions will be reviewed when 
setting the Medium Term Financial Plan.

23 Leisure Trust 100 4.30 £100k budgeted saving for 17/18 will not be achieved. The Authority is working with Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Trust to improve its financial performance.

Action Taken to address

P
age 115



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (As at 31 December 2017) Appendix 6
Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation
£'000 %

23 Capital Financing Costs -92 -1.23 The Authority has been able to finance its capital programme through 
short term temporary loans at a lower rate than fixing long term loans 
through the Public Works Loans Board. No long term borrowing is 
planned prior to the 31st March 2018.

Continue to monitor.

24 Council Tax Benefit Payments -53 -0.88 A marginal trend reduction in the number of claimants.  Continue to monitor
25 External Audit and Insp.Fees -44 -11.58 Lower than expected fees for Grant audits Continue to monitor.
26 Translations/Welsh Translations -27 -35.06 Welsh language Officer supporting council on translations therefore 

keeping costs down
Continue to monitor.

27 Corporate - Other 150 100.00 Costs associated with Pengarnddu (i.e. security costs, utilities, and 
legal fees).

Continue to monitor.

28 External Legal Fees 11 36.67 Various Legal Advice taken including Ffos y fran Court Action Continue to monitor but is out of our control.
29 Bank Charges 15 21.13 Increase in costs associated with the numerous banking facilities Continue to monitor.
30 Empty Property NDR Relief 16 53.33 Increase in Empty properties Continue to monitor, but is out of our control.
31 Holiday pay estimate 8.94% -70 -77.78 2016/17 outturn demonstrated that budget not fully required and most 

additional costs absorbed within service areas.
Reviewed as part of the MTFP assumptions.

32 Living Wage estimate -150 -100.00 2016/17 outturn demonstrated the effect on contract costs were 
absorbed within service areas as part of budget setting.

Reviewed as part of the MTFP assumptions.

33 Energy Levy based on Kwh used -50 -100.00 Additional costs for current year have been absorbed within service 
areas.

Reviewed as part of the MTFP assumptions.

34 Members Expenses -53 -6.70 Members not appointed to various Committees immediately & 
voluntary reduction factored in.

MTFP has been updated to reflect.

Action Taken to address

P
age 116



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 To 2021/22 – 
Final

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Following Council of 13th December 2017 and 7th February 2018, the budget deficit 
for 2018/19 has reduced from £6.012 million to £395,000, with a cumulative budget 
deficit of £15.176 million projected for the period 2018/19 to 2021/22.

1.2 Prior to addressing the £395,000 remaining budget deficit the Budget Requirement 
for 2018/19 totals £117.530 million.

1.3 Options for closing the budget deficit of £395,000 for 2018/19 include a further 
increase in Council Tax and/or further utilisation of the Budget Reserve.

1.4 The revised budget projections assume a Council Tax increase of 2.9% for the 
period of the Medium Term Financial Plan, as approved for 2017/18.

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The current budget deficit for 2018/19 of £395,000 be noted and addressed.

2.2 The projected cumulative budget deficit for the period 2018/19 to 2021/22 of £15.176 
million be noted.

2.3 Cabinet’s instructions in respect of the proposed Council Tax increase for 2018/19 
be received.

Date Written 29th January 2018 *
Report Author Steve Jones
Service Area Finance
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st February 2018

Page 117

Agenda Item 8



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 A Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is a rolling programme, continually evolving 
as further information and changing circumstances become known.

3.2 Revisions to the MTFP approved by Council on 22nd March 2017 were approved by 
Council on 13th December 2017 and 7th February 2018 as outlined in Table 1.

Table 1 – Projected Budget Deficits 2018/19 to 2021/22
 
Description 2018/19 

£’000
2019/20 

£’000
2020/21 

£’000
2021/22 

£’000

Budget Deficit
Council 22nd March 2017
Implications of Revenue Settlement
Corporate Additional Demands
Corporate Budget Reductions
Budget Reserve Re-profile
Service Budget Reductions
Schools Savings
Indicative Additional Demands

6,012

-3,949
2,842

-2,701
-600
-801
-408

0

12,466

-6,353
3,413

-2,007
200

-1,016
-471

1,000

16,358

-7,996
3,678

-1,387
400

-1,036
-471

2,000

n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

Budget Deficit
Council 7th February 2018

395 7,232 11,546 15,176

3.3 It is evident from Table 1 that the revised budget deficit is £395,000 for 2018/19 and 
a projected cumulative £15.176 million for the 4 year period 2018/19 to 2021/22. 

4.0 BUDGET REQUIREMENT

4.1 The current Budget Requirement for 2018/19 is £117.530 million as indicated in 
Table 2 and results from Cabinet, Council and Joint Scrutiny / Audit Committee 
deliberations throughout the 2017/18 financial year. It should be noted that this 
current Budget Requirement will be revised once the residual budget deficit of 
£395,000 is addressed.

4.2 In addition Table 2 outlines the indicative budget requirements for years 2 to 4 of the 
MTFP with a projected cumulative budget deficit of £15.176 million for the period 
2018/19 to 2021/22.

 

Page 118



Table 2 – Budget Requirement 2018/19 and Indicative Budgets 2019/20 to 2021/22

Description 2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

2021/22
£’000

People and Performance Directorate
Place and Transformation Directorate
Corporate Costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Employee Severance Costs
Corporate Investment Fund
Indicative Additional Demands
Non General Fund Allocations
Collection Fund Surplus
Corporate Vacancy Factor
Contribution from Earmarked Reserves
Capitalisation of Severance Costs
Budget Reserve

77,250
22,183
21,519

266
1,056

0
0

-835
-850
-600
-459
-600

-1,400

78,803
22,690
22,492

268
1,306

200
1,000
-835
-850
-400
-484

0
-400

79,844
23,181
23,046

271
1,306

200
2,000
-835
-850
-400
-192

0
0

81,005
23,756
23,254

274
1,306

200
3,000
-835
-850
-400

0
0
0

Net Expenditure 117,530 123,790 127,571 130,710

Projected Available Finance 117,135 116,558 116,025 115,534

Budget Deficit 395 7,232 11,546 15,176

4.3 The projected available finance indicated in Table 2 is based on a Council Tax 
increase of 2.9% per annum (as approved for 2017/18), a final settlement of -0.36% 
for 2018/19 and an indicative settlement of -1.5% per annum for years 2 to 4 of the 
MTFP.

4.4 The options for closing the revised budget deficit of £395,000 for 2018/19 consist of 
the following:

o Further increase in Council Tax from the budgeted 2.9% – each additional 1% 
increase would result in £260,000 additional funding

o Further utilisation of the Budget Reserve – currently £1.4 million committed for 
2018/19

4.5 The outcome of the budget consultation exercise is disclosed in the “Council 
Priorities and Budget Consultation 2018/19” report to this Cabinet of 21st February 
2018. This consultation includes the community’s response in respect of the 
acceptable level of Council Tax increase for 2018/19. 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The revised MTFP for 2018/19 to 2021/22 currently projects a budget deficit of 
£395,000 for 2018/19 and a cumulative £15.176 million for the period 2018/19 to 
2021/22.

Page 119



6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2017/18 to 2020/21

Provisional Local 
Government Settlement 
2018/19

Revised Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2018/19 
to 2021/22 – Update 
December 2017

National Employers for 
Local Government 
Services Pay Offer

Final Local Government 
Settlement 2018/19

Revised Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2018/19 
to 2021/22 – Update

Revised Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2018/19 
to 2021/22 – Update 
January 2018

Revised Medium Term 
Financial Plan 2018/19 
to 2021/22 – Update 
February 2018

Council 22nd March 
2017

Announced 10th October 
2017

Cabinet and Council 
13th December 2017

Announced 5th 
December 2017 

Announced 20th 
December 2017

Joint Scrutiny / Audit 
Committee 17th January 
2018

Cabinet 24th January 
2018

Cabinet and Council 7th 
February 2018

Council agenda and minutes / 
Finance Department

Finance Department

Cabinet and Council agenda and 
minutes / Finance Department

Finance Department

Finance Department

Agenda and minutes / Finance 
Department

Cabinet agenda and minutes / 
Finance Department

Cabinet and Council agenda and 
minutes / Finance Department

Page 120



ISB Funding Efficiencies 
2018/19 (Exempt 
Report)

Council Priorities and 
Budget Consultation 
2018/19

Medium Term Financial 
Plan / Budget Working 
Papers

Cabinet 7th February 
2018

Cabinet 21st February 
2018

March 2017 to February 
2018

Cabinet agenda and minutes 
(Exempt)

Cabinet agenda

Finance Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Annual Equality Report for 2016-2017

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality Objectives for 2016-2020 were 
approved by Full Council on 23rd March 2016.

1.2 In addition to preparing a Strategic Equality Plan the Equality Act 2010 and Public 
Sector Equality Duty also requires the Council to prepare and publish an annual 
report every year noting progress across all aspects of its equalities work, including 
progress on delivering its Equality Objectives.

1.3 Through the Strategic Equality Plan and it’s Equality Objectives the Annual Equality 
Report for 2016-2017, attached as Appendix 1, is testament to the Council’s 
ongoing drive to progress its equality agenda and deliver our Equalities Vision for 
Merthyr Tydfil, which is “a place where diversity is valued and respected and 
everyone can participate, flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential 
free from discrimination and prejudice.”

1.4 The Council’s Vision and Equality Objectives support the Council’s Well-being 
Objectives and the seven Well-being Goals and link to the five ways of working (the 
Sustainable Development Principle) that are set out in the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

1.5 Based on the progress reported in the Annual Equality Report, outcomes have 
been assessed as Good - many strengths and no important areas requiring 
significant improvement.

Date Written 25th January 2018 **
Report Author Kerry O’Donovan 
Service Area Equalities
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st February 2018

Page 123

Agenda Item 9



2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2016-2017 be approved.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Equality Act 2010

3.1 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) brings together and replaces the previous anti-
discrimination laws with a single Act. It simplifies and strengthens the law, removes 
inconsistencies and makes it easier for people to understand and comply with it. 
The majority of the Act came into force on 1st October 2010.

3.2 The Act includes a new public sector equality duty (the ‘general duty’), replacing the 
separate duties on race, disability and gender equality. This came into force on 5th 
April 2011.

3.3 The new general duty covers the following protected characteristics:

 Age.
 Gender reassignment.
 Sex.
 Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality.
 Disability.
 Pregnancy and maternity.
 Sexual orientation.
 Religion or belief – including lack of belief.

 
3.4 It applies to marriage and civil partnership, but only in respect of the requirement to 

have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination.
 
3.5 The aim of the general duty is to ensure that public authorities and those carrying 

out a public function consider how they can positively contribute to a fairer society 
through advancing equality and good relations in their day-to-day activities. The 
duty ensures that equality considerations are built into the design of policies and 
the delivery of services and that they are kept under review. This will achieve better 
outcomes for all.

3.6 Public bodies are required to have due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct that is prohibited by the Act.

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not.

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not.

Specific duties in Wales

3.7 The broad purpose of the specific duties in Wales is to help listed bodies in their 
performance of the general duty and to aid transparency.

Page 124



3.8 The specific duties in Wales are set out in the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) 
(Wales) Regulations 2011. The specific duties in Wales came into force on 6th April 
2011.

3.9 The specific duties in Wales included a requirement for listed bodies to develop and 
publish a Strategic Equality Plan by 2nd April 2012 that contained Equality 
Objectives.

3.10 The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality Objectives for 2012-2016 were 
approved by Full Council on 29th February 2012.

Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020

3.11 The Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty also requires the Council to 
review its Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives at least every four years.

3.12 To support the review of the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality 
Objectives for 2012-2016 a Task and Finish Group was established.

3.13 The Task and Finish Group consisted of the Council’s Equalities Champion, 
Council Officers and key stakeholders that represent hard to reach groups in the 
community. 

3.14 These key stakeholders were from The Big Lottery – Community Voice MAGNET 
Project (Merthyr Achieving Greater Networking and Engagement Together), which 
provides an opportunity for members of marginalised communities to increase their 
voice in influencing public service providers policy, planning and delivery 
processes. The Merthyr Tydfil Portfolio is made up of the following seven projects, 
each being led by different voluntary organisations:

 
 Visible - Bringing together Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) 

persons to provide support and promote their voice within Merthyr Tydfil.
 Focal Point - Engaging with Migrant Workers, facilitating inclusion and 

cohesion, improving cultural awareness in the wider community.
 Bridges - Building confidence and skills with the Gypsy / Traveller community 

and creating opportunities for effective engagement with local services.
 One Voice - Advocacy and empowerment for Disabled Persons to agree 

collective action and engagement with service providers.
 Perthyn (Belonging) - Intergenerational project between younger and older 

people living in social housing, focusing on past, present and future housing 
policies. Delivered in Caedraw, Gurnos and Trelewis.

 POSSIB - Bilingual arts project to engage working aged men, parents and 
children in the areas of health, well-being, employment and education. 
Delivered in Northern Communities First Cluster.

 Up and Coming - Youth media project where young reporters convey positive 
messages about young people and Merthyr Tydfil and communicate with 
service providers and decision makers.

3.15 Engagement with these key stakeholders provided a co-productive approach to the 
review of the Strategic Equality Plan and added real value and challenge. 

Page 125



3.16 Feedback from the MAGNET Project Leads was very positive in that they felt they 
had been involved in helping to inform and shape the revised Strategic Equality 
Plan.

3.17 As part of the review of the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan it was identified that 
an Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil was essential in order to set out the Council’s 
Ambition to eliminate discrimination / harassment, advance equality and foster 
good relations. The following Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil has been 
developed:

 A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can participate, 
flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from discrimination 
and prejudice.

3.18 This Vision is supported by the following four Equality Objectives (listed in the table 
below) that are set out in the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020. The 
Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020 was approved by Full Council on 23rd March 
2016.

Themes Equality Objectives

Community 
Engagement

Equality Objective 1 
Put citizens’ voices at the heart of local decision making so that 
their contribution is understood, recognised and used to help 
the Council understand and respond to the needs of its 
communities.

Equality 
Awareness 

Raising

Equality Objective 2
To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning 
opportunities so that staff at all levels, Councillors and partners 
recognise and incorporate Equalities as part of their role.

Understanding
our Staff and 
Communities

Equality Objective 3
Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, monitor 
and publish equalities data on our employees and customers, 
which will help the Council to ensure that it provides fair and 
accessible services.

Gender/Equal 
Pay

Equality Objective 4
Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council.

Annual Reporting

3.19 The Council is also required to prepare and publish an annual report every year 
noting progress across all aspects of its equalities work, including progress on 
delivering its Equality Objectives.

4.0 ANNUAL EQUALITY REPORT FOR 2016-2017

4.1 The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2016-2017 is attached as Appendix 1. 
Some of the key points to note include the following:

Page 126



Equalities Champion and Armed Forces Champion

 In order to emphasise the importance of Equalities and the Armed Forces 
Community Covenant across the Council, Councillor Chris Davies is the 
Council’s Equalities Champion and Councillor Andrew Barry is the Armed 
Forces Champion.

Assessment of Impact

 Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) documentation continues to be a mandatory 
accompaniment to reports on the Change Management Programme, and for 
Cabinet and Council. This demonstrates how Councillors, Report Authors and 
Project Managers consider equality as part of their decision making.

MAGNET Project

 The Council has worked in partnership with the MAGNET Project since its 
launch in 2013. The projects that make up MAGNET have worked with over 
3,000 residents in Merthyr Tydfil, enabling them to access public services, 
receive tailored support and help to overcome problems they have encountered 
in their lives and in their communities. 

The MAGNET projects have also helped individuals and groups to have their 
voices heard, helping services to be more responsive to meet need, and raising 
awareness of the importance of equality in our communities.

The Council has benefited significantly from working in partnership with 
MAGNET, an example of which includes the seven projects being a key partner 
in developing the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020.

The Council have continued to engage and work with the MAGNET Project. 
Examples of some other successes of working in partnership with MAGNET 
have been:

o The Mayor and our local Member of Parliament raising the Rainbow flag 
outside the Civic Centre over the past three years during Lesbian, Gay, 
Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) History month as part of the Council’s 
commitment to supporting and engaging with the LGBT community within 
Merthyr Tydfil.

o Ensuring disabled people were able to influence the final design of the 
access to the railway station in Merthyr Tydfil and the introduction of blue 
walking lanes as part of the Castle Car Park improvements, making 
navigation easier for all people not just those who are disabled.

o Regular meetings are held with the One Voice Project Officer to discuss 
progress on the disability project and any other related matters/issues.

It’s also important to highlight the ongoing hard work and commitment of the 
Global Village Committee and Trustees in co-ordinating the ongoing success of 
the Global Village Festival in Merthyr Tydfil. The Festival gives professional and 
community members the chance to perform and allows organisations that 
promote equality and diversity issues, a platform to reach out to people. It 

Page 127



celebrates diversity but also recognises similarities and offers the chance to 
widen cultural horizons in a fun and creative way.

insport Silver

 In February 2017, the Council presented their insport Silver submission to the 
insport Development Panel. The Chief Executive, Disability Sports Development 
Officer and Corporate Risk and Equalities Manager delivered the presentation 
and the panel unanimously agreed on awarding insport Silver, making the 
Council one of just five Councils in Wales to be at silver level.  

The feedback from the insport Development Panel was very positive, extracts of 
which are set out below:

“The authenticity, leadership and commitment of the Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council Chief Executive Officer, and the Equality Lead, throughout the 
process, and at panel, was seen by the panel as a one of the significant 
catalysts for success so far. The development of further champions and 
advocates for inclusion across the Education, Health and Social Services 
sectors at equivalent senior leadership level, will be essential for the later stages 
of insport, and panel were assured that the commitment to ensuring this level of 
buy in was already recognised, as well as being instigated. The enthusiasm and 
engagement of staff from Merthyr Tydfil CBC with the development and testing 
of other elements of the insport project, is also appreciated and recognised as 
reflective of the broader commitment to inclusion and diversity.”

“This was an exceptional insport Development Silver standard presentation, 
there was a richness provided to the content and context of what you do, and 
how you do it locally within all the case studies; and the passion, commitment 
and transparent approach to inclusion was showcased consistently in all 
elements of the presentation team’s delivery. Merthyr Tydfil CBC illustrated a 
mature and clear understanding of where they were with inclusion, and what 
broadly the intended outcomes to the changes in working practices were for the 
areas of delivery. Engagement and consultation with stakeholders has been 
wide-ranging and creative, and had sought to involve organisations and 
individuals who may not have been involved previously or traditionally. The 
result of this has been to enable greater self-awareness, refine provision, and 
empower other partners to deliver consistently within the same messaging.”

The following were identified as key areas of best practice:

o Recognition of the journey of ongoing improvement and learning.
o A commitment to sustainability through partnerships and collaboration.
o Implementation of internal scrutiny committees.

The achievement of insport Silver was celebrated at the launch of Merthyr Tydfil 
High Street becoming ‘Autism Friendly’ on 15th September 2017.

Equality Training

 Equality training has been provided to the Council’s Senior Leadership Team 
and Councillors by the MAGNET Project.

Page 128



The equality training focused on providing Councillors and Officers with an 
insight, knowledge and understanding about the different communities in 
Merthyr Tydfil.

This was delivered in a creative and imaginative way but more importantly gave 
an insight to both Councillors and Officers that they wouldn’t otherwise have 
had and gave specific examples of people’s experiences of services.

 The following Equality Training have been provided through sport based 
courses:

o 15 staff from 11 schools attending Active Kids for All (Disability Inclusion 
Training).

o 20 students from Merthyr College attending Active Kids for All (Disability 
Inclusion Training).

o 18 participants from a wide range of partners attended Disability Inclusion 
Training.

o 7 Council staff, Visible Project Officer from MAGNET and 2 Officers from the 
Urdd attending LGBT Sport Cymru Awareness Training.

 749 staff to date have attended the Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent 
(WRAP training). Prevent is part of the Government’s counter-terrorism 
strategy; it's designed to tackle the problem of terrorism at its roots, preventing 
people from supporting terrorism or becoming involved in terrorism themselves.

An additional 60 staff have also been given access to an on-line training course 
(approved by the Home Office). These are childminders and staff in the Leisure 
Trust. It’s closely aligned to the WRAP training, and is more appropriate than 
trying to arrange classroom sessions for them.

 The Council has launched an eLearning facility for all staff and Councillors 
which will enable the Council to record and report the training that is provided 
through this learning portal. The first module that have been completed is for 
Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence.

Equality Fact Sheets

 Working with the Cwm Taf Regional Community Cohesion Co-ordinator and in 
consultation with the MAGNET Project an Equality Learning Resource is being 
developed for staff and Councillors through the development of fact sheets for 
each of the nine protected characteristics.

The expected benefits of the fact sheets are as follows:

o Improving our knowledge of national and local equality issues by 
protected characteristic.

o Improving our understanding of our customers.
o The Council promotes equalities in the workplace.
o It will act as a knowledge resource for staff when completing the 

Council’s new Integrated Impact Assessment.

Page 129



To date three fact sheets have been developed for Disability, Sexual 
Orientation and Race. These have been made available on the Council’s 
Intranet.

Equality Monitoring

Staff:

 The Council have reviewed its Equalities Monitoring Form to ensure that it 
captures the necessary Equality data on its employees by taking into account 
the Public Sector Equality Duty reporting and relevant information requirements.

The Equalities Monitoring Form that captures the equalities data has been 
developed as a section in HR21 (HR21 is the Council’s Employee and Manager 
Self Service System).

This was issued to all staff in September 2016. The staff that do not have 
access to a computer have been provided with hard copies of the Form from 
their managers to complete.

The Council has received a 90% return rate of equalities information from staff. 

This compares to 18% previously across both Council and School staff.

Community:

 Working with the Council’s Senior Leadership Team an exercise has been 
undertaken to review what equality data service areas were capturing on 
service users, what they were using the data for and how they were reporting on 
it.

The results of this exercise demonstrated that service areas were capturing 
different levels of equality data and using it in different ways.

Working with colleagues from Community Well-being an Equalities Monitoring 
Form was developed in consultation with Disability Sport and Community 
Cohesion.

The form has been piloted by service areas within the Community Well-being 
Service over a three month period with a controlled sample of service users.

The findings from the pilot have been analysed and discussed with colleagues 
from Community Well-being in order to determine the effectiveness of the form. 

The next step now is to prepare a report for Corporate Management Team 
setting out the findings and recommendations following the pilot.

Disability Confident Scheme

 In August 2016 the Council transferred over from the Positive about Disability 
‘Two Ticks’ Scheme to the new Disability Confident Scheme following the 
changeover introduced by the Department for Work and Pensions.

Page 130



The award certifies that the Council is a Disability Confident Committed 
Employer which demonstrates the Council’s commitment to recruiting, retaining 
and developing disabled staff.

Pride Cymru

 The Council was proud to be part of Pride Cymru in August 2016 with other 
public sector organisations from across South Wales to engage with the LGBT 
community. The aim was to engage with the LGBT community to find out what 
issues are important to them, and as a result, improve the experiences of local 
LGBT people across South Wales when accessing public services.

To celebrate this event the Rainbow flag was raised outside the Civic Centre 
on the same day as Pride Cymru.

Holocaust Memorial Day and other Developments by Merthyr Tydfil Public 
Library

 Merthyr Tydfil Public Library was successful in securing funding from the 
Holocaust Memorial Day Trust to create a garden in the area behind the Library. 
The Library was the only place in Wales to secure the funding to create a piece of 
artwork, which would represent the theme of “How Life Can Go On.” The Library 
chose to make mosaics of the four seasons and were helped by various 
community groups to achieve this.

 On 27th January 2017, Merthyr Tydfil Public Library Service, in partnership with St 
David’s Church held the annual Holocaust Memorial Day Service with upwards of 
200 attendees and representation from many groups active in Merthyr Tydfil, 
including the Scouts, Air Cadets, Royal British Legion and many others.  After the 
service, the congregation walked to the newly created Holocaust Garden of 
Remembrance situated behind the Library, which was officially opened by 
Professor Sir Mansel Aylward.

In the run up to Holocaust Memorial Day, the Library was fortunate to have a 
survivor to come and speak about their experiences. Her name was Joanna Millan 
who was born Bela Rosenthal; she survived being sent to Terizin camp, after both 
her parents died. In 1945, she was sent to England. She tells the difficult story of 
her life with both passion and sadness. The event was attended by 60 people, who 
were very moved by her testimony.

Also in the run up to Holocaust Memorial, the Library Service visited a number of 
schools to promote the Holocaust Memorial Day message, which was “How Can 
Life Go On.”

4.2 Based on the comments above and the progress reported in the Annual Equality 
Report for 2016-2017, outcomes have been assessed as Good - many strengths and 
no important areas requiring significant improvement.

Page 131



5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 There are no specific financial implications identified in this report. Any financial 
implications arising from the report will be reported to Cabinet/Council as 
appropriate, including potential options for funding.

6.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is required. The form can be 
accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact Assessment’ 
link.

6.2 The progress reported in the Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2016-2017 
positively impacts on all of the protected characteristics and is a testament to the 
Council’s ongoing drive to progress its equality agenda and deliver our Equalities 
Vision for Merthyr Tydfil, which is “a place where diversity is valued and respected 
and everyone can participate, flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their 
potential free from discrimination and prejudice.”

6.3 No negative impacts have been identified.

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE,
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS CHANGE & 

CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 132



APPENDIX 1

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY 
BOROUGH COUNCIL 
ANNUAL EQUALITY 
REPORT FOR 2016-2017

Prepared by:
Mark Thomas
Kerry O’Donovan
Suzanne Davies

 

 

Page 133



SECTION 1

FOREWORD

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is pleased to introduce the first Annual Report for 
its Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020. This Strategic Equality Plan was prepared in line 
with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 
2011 and was approved by Full Council on 23rd March 2016.

Through the Strategic Equality Plan this Annual Equality Report for 2016-2017 is 
testament to the Council’s ongoing drive to progress its equality agenda and deliver our 
Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil, which is:

 A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can 
participate, flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from 
discrimination and prejudice.

The Council is working towards delivering this Vision through our role as a community 
leader, service provider, commissioner, employer and working in partnership to reduce 
inequalities and to improve the well-being of the County Borough.

I commend this Annual Report to you and look forward to sharing the progress that we 
make towards achieving fairness in equality in the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil.     
                                      

Councillor Chris Davies 
Equalities Champion for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Page 134



SECTION 2

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Equality Act 2010

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) brings together and replaces the previous anti-
discrimination laws with a single Act. It simplifies and strengthens the law, removes 
inconsistencies and makes it easier for people to understand and comply with it. The 
majority of the Act came into force on 1st October 2010.

The Act includes a new public sector equality duty (the ‘general duty’), replacing the 
separate duties on race, disability and gender equality. This came into force on 5th April 
2011.

The new general duty covers the following protected characteristics:

 Age.
 Gender reassignment.
 Sex.
 Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality.
 Disability.
 Pregnancy and maternity.
 Sexual orientation.
 Religion or belief – including lack of belief.

It applies to marriage and civil partnership, but only in respect of the requirement to have 
due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination.
 
What is the general duty?

The aim of the general duty is to ensure that public authorities and those carrying out a 
public function consider how they can positively contribute to a fairer society through 
advancing equality and good relations in their day-to-day activities. The duty ensures that 
equality considerations are built into the design of policies and the delivery of services and 
that they are kept under review. This will achieve better outcomes for all.

Public bodies are required to have due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
that is prohibited by the Act.

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not.

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not.

 
Specific duties in Wales

The broad purpose of the specific duties in Wales is to help listed bodies in their 
performance of the general duty and to aid transparency.

Page 135



What are the specific duties?

The specific duties in Wales are set out in the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) 
Regulations 2011. The specific duties in Wales came into force on 6th April 2011.

The specific duties in Wales cover:

 Objectives.
 Strategic Equality Plans.
 Engagement.
 Assessing impact.
 Equality information.
 Employment information.
 Pay differences.
 Staff training.
 Procurement.
 Annual reporting.
 Publishing.
 Welsh Ministers’ reporting.
 Review.
 Accessibility.

Strategic Equality Plan

The specific duties in Wales included a requirement for listed bodies to develop and 
publish a Strategic Equality Plan by 2nd April 2012 that contained Equality Objectives.

The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality Objectives for 2012-2016 were 
approved by Full Council on 29th February 2012.

The Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty also requires the Council to review 
its Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives at least every four years.

To support the review of the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality Objectives for 
2012-2016 a Task and Finish Group was established.

The Task and Finish Group consisted of the Council’s Equalities Champion, Council 
Officers and key stakeholders that represent hard to reach groups in the community. 

These key stakeholders were from The Big Lottery – Community Voice MAGNET Project 
(Merthyr Achieving Greater Networking and Engagement Together), which provides an 
opportunity for members of marginalised communities to increase their voice in influencing 
public service providers policy, planning and delivery processes. The Merthyr Tydfil 
Portfolio is made up of the following seven projects, each being led by different voluntary 
organisations:
 

 Visible - Bringing together Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) 
persons to provide support and promote their voice within Merthyr Tydfil.

 Focal Point - Engaging with Migrant Workers, facilitating inclusion and 
cohesion, improving cultural awareness in the wider community.

 Bridges - Building confidence and skills with the Gypsy / Traveller community 
and creating opportunities for effective engagement with local services.

Page 136



 One Voice - Advocacy and empowerment for Disabled Persons to agree 
collective action and engagement with service providers.

 Perthyn (Belonging) - Intergenerational project between younger and older 
people living in social housing, focusing on past, present and future housing 
policies. Delivered in Caedraw, Gurnos and Trelewis.

 POSSIB - Bilingual arts project to engage working aged men, parents and 
children in the areas of health, well-being, employment and education. 
Delivered in Northern Communities First Cluster.

 Up and Coming - Youth media project where young reporters convey positive 
messages about young people and Merthyr Tydfil and communicate with 
service providers and decision makers.

Engagement with these key stakeholders provided a co-productive approach to the review 
of the Strategic Equality Plan and added real value and challenge. 

Feedback from the MAGNET Project Leads was very positive in that they felt they had 
been involved in helping to inform and shape the revised Strategic Equality Plan.

As part of the review of the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan it was identified that an 
Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil was essential in order to set out the Council’s Ambition 
to eliminate discrimination / harassment, advance equality and foster good relations. The 
following Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil has been developed:

 A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can 
participate, flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from 
discrimination and prejudice.

This Vision is supported by the following four Equality Objectives (listed in the table below) 
that are set out in the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020. The Strategic 
Equality Plan for 2016-2020 was approved by Full Council on 23rd March 2016.

Themes Equality Objectives

Community 
Engagement

Equality Objective 1 
Put citizens’ voices at the heart of local decision making so that 
their contribution is understood, recognised and used to help the 
Council understand and respond to the needs of its 
communities.

Equality 
Awareness 

Raising

Equality Objective 2
To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning 
opportunities so that staff at all levels, Councillors and partners 
recognise and incorporate Equalities as part of their role.

Understanding
our Staff and 
Communities

Equality Objective 3
Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, monitor 
and publish equalities data on our employees and customers, 
which will help the Council to ensure that it provides fair and 
accessible services.

Gender/Equal 
Pay

Equality Objective 4
Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council.

Page 137



These Equality Objectives were written in partnership with Council Officers and partners, 
and will be delivered through an Action Plan that is set out in the Strategic Equality Plan 
for 2016-2020. Progress against delivering the Action Plan for 2016-17 is attached as 
Appendix A.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

The Council’s Vision and Equality Objectives for 2016-2020 support the Council’s Well-
being Objectives and the seven Well-being Goals (shown in the diagram below) and link 
to the five ways of working (the Sustainable Development Principle) that are set out in the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

The table in Appendix D demonstrates how the Council’s Equality Objectives for 2016-
2020 link to the following:

 The seven Well-being Goals and the five ways of working that are set out in the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

 Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.

Page 138



SECTION 4

RELEVANT INFORMATION

The following relevant information was used to inform the review of the Strategic Equality 
Plan for 2012-2016 and to produce the Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020:

 The Council’s Annual Equality Monitoring Reports.
 Welsh Local Government Association Equality Improvement Peer Review that was 

carried out at the Council in June 2013 and a Peer Review follow up that was 
undertaken by Internal Audit in December 2014.

 Engagement with the Strategic Equality Plan Task and Finish Group.
 Equality Objectives from other Welsh Councils and public sector organisations.
 Guidance for the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
 Reports and data from the MAGNET Portfolio (Merthyr Achieving Greater 

Networking and Engagement Together).
 Hate Crime and Domestic Abuse Data.
 Community Cohesion National Delivery Plan.
 Is Wales Fairer? Report; Emerging Challenges.
 Disability Wales, Accessible Rail Services Policy, 2010.
 Office for National Statistics, Population Estimates by Local Authority and Age, 

2015.
 Marriage and Civil Partnership Statistics, 2011 Census.
 Office for National Statistics, Conception Statistics, 2013.
 Office for National Statistics, Population Estimates by Local Authority and Ethnicity, 

2011.
 Religion and Belief Statistics, 2011 Census.
 Integrated Household Survey, Welsh Government, Sexual Identity by Area and 

Identity Status, 2013.
 Office for National Statistics, Population Estimates by Local Authority and Gender, 

2014.

Page 139



SECTION 5

PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT - SUMMARY OF PROGRESS AGAINST 
DELIVERING THE COUNCIL’S EQUALITY OBJECTIVES

Progress against delivering the Council’s Equality Objectives for 2016-17 can be seen in 
Appendix A of this Annual Report. Progress on other Equality Developments can be seen 
in Appendix B.

For information, however, some examples of the progress that is set out in Appendix A 
and B is shown below: 

Equalities Champion and Armed Forces Champion

 In order to emphasise the importance of Equalities and the Armed Forces 
Community Covenant across the Council, Councillor Chris Davies is the Council’s 
Equalities Champion and Councillor Andrew Barry is the Armed Forces Champion.

MAGNET Project

 The Council has worked in partnership with the MAGNET Project (Merthyr 
Achieving Greater Networking and Engagement Together) since its launch in 2013. 
The projects that make up MAGNET have worked with over 3,000 residents in 
Merthyr Tydfil, enabling them to access public services, receive tailored support 
and help to overcome problems they have encountered in their lives and in their 
communities. 

The MAGNET projects have also helped individuals and groups to have their 
voices heard, helping services to be more responsive to meet need, and raising 
awareness of the importance of equality in our communities.

The Council has benefited significantly from working in partnership with MAGNET, 
an example of which includes the seven projects being a key partner in developing 
the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020.

The Council have continued to engage and work with the MAGNET Project. 
Examples of some other successes of working in partnership with MAGNET have 
been:

o The Mayor and our local Member of Parliament raising the Rainbow flag outside 
the Civic Centre over the past three years during Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and 
Transgender (LGBT) History month as part of the Council’s commitment to 
supporting and engaging with the LGBT community within Merthyr Tydfil.

o Ensuring disabled people were able to influence the final design of the access 
to the railway station in Merthyr Tydfil and the introduction of blue walking lanes 
as part of the Castle Car Park improvements, making navigation easier for all 
people not just those who are disabled.

o Regular meetings are held with the One Voice Project Officer to discuss 
progress on the disability project and any other related matters/issues.

It’s also important to highlight the ongoing hard work and commitment of the Global 
Village Committee and Trustees in co-ordinating the ongoing success of the Global 

Page 140



Village Festival in Merthyr Tydfil. The Festival gives professional and community 
members the chance to perform and allows organisations that promote equality and 
diversity issues, a platform to reach out to people. It celebrates diversity but also 
recognises similarities and offers the chance to widen cultural horizons in a fun and 
creative way.

insport Silver

 In February 2017, the Council presented their insport Silver submission to the 
insport Development Panel. The Chief Executive, Disability Sports Development 
Officer and Corporate Risk and Equalities Manager delivered the presentation and 
the panel unanimously agreed on awarding insport Silver, making the Council one 
of just five Councils in Wales to be at silver level.  

The feedback from the insport Development Panel was very positive, extracts of 
which are set out below:

“The authenticity, leadership and commitment of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council Chief Executive Officer, and the Equality Lead, throughout the process, 
and at panel, was seen by the panel as a one of the significant catalysts for 
success so far. The development of further champions and advocates for inclusion 
across the Education, Health and Social Services sectors at equivalent senior 
leadership level, will be essential for the later stages of insport, and panel were 
assured that the commitment to ensuring this level of buy in was already 
recognised, as well as being instigated. The enthusiasm and engagement of staff 
from Merthyr Tydfil CBC with the development and testing of other elements of the 
insport project, is also appreciated and recognised as reflective of the broader 
commitment to inclusion and diversity.”

“This was an exceptional insport Development Silver standard presentation, there 
was a richness provided to the content and context of what you do, and how you do 
it locally within all the case studies; and the passion, commitment and transparent 
approach to inclusion was showcased consistently in all elements of the 
presentation team’s delivery. Merthyr Tydfil CBC illustrated a mature and clear 
understanding of where they were with inclusion, and what broadly the intended 
outcomes to the changes in working practices were for the areas of delivery. 
Engagement and consultation with stakeholders has been wide-ranging and 
creative, and had sought to involve organisations and individuals who may not have 
been involved previously or traditionally. The result of this has been to enable 
greater self-awareness, refine provision, and empower other partners to deliver 
consistently within the same messaging.”

The following were identified as key areas of best practice:

o Recognition of the journey of ongoing improvement and learning.
o A commitment to sustainability through partnerships and collaboration.
o Implementation of internal scrutiny committees.

The achievement of insport Silver was celebrated at the launch of Merthyr Tydfil 
High Street becoming ‘Autism Friendly’ on 15th September 2017.

Page 141



Equality Training

 Equality training has been provided to the Council’s Senior Leadership Team and 
Councillors by the MAGNET Project.

The equality training focused on providing Councillors and Officers with an insight, 
knowledge and understanding about the different communities in Merthyr Tydfil.

This was delivered in a creative and imaginative way but more importantly gave an 
insight to both Councillors and Officers that they wouldn’t otherwise have had and 
gave specific examples of people’s experiences of services.

 The following Equality Training have been provided through sport based courses:

o 15 staff from 11 schools attending Active Kids for All (Disability Inclusion 
Training).

o 20 students from Merthyr College attending Active Kids for All (Disability 
Inclusion Training).

o 18 participants from a wide range of partners attended Disability Inclusion 
Training.

o 7 Council staff, Visible Project Officer from MAGNET and 2 Officers from the 
Urdd attending LGBT Sport Cymru Awareness Training.

 749 staff to date have attended the Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent 
(WRAP training). Prevent is part of the Government’s counter-terrorism strategy; 
it's designed to tackle the problem of terrorism at its roots, preventing people from 
supporting terrorism or becoming involved in terrorism themselves.

An additional 60 staff have also been given access to an on-line training course 
(approved by the Home Office). These are childminders and staff in the Leisure 
Trust. It’s closely aligned to the WRAP training, and is more appropriate than trying 
to arrange classroom sessions for them.

 The Council has launched an eLearning facility for all staff and Councillors which 
will enable the Council to record and report the training that is provided through this 
learning portal. The first module that have been completed is for Violence Against 
Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence.

Equality Fact Sheets

 Working with the Cwm Taf Regional Community Cohesion Co-ordinator and in 
consultation with the Community Voice MAGNET Project an Equality Learning 
Resource is being developed for staff and Councillors through the development of 
fact sheets for each of the nine protected characteristics.

The expected benefits of the fact sheets are as follows:

o Improving our knowledge of national and local equality issues by protected 
characteristic.

o Improving our understanding of our customers.
o The Council promotes equalities in the workplace.

Page 142



o It will act as a knowledge resource for staff when completing the Council’s 
new Integrated Impact Assessment.

To date three fact sheets have been developed for Disability, Sexual Orientation and 
Race. These have been made available on the Council’s Intranet.

Equality Monitoring

Staff:

 The Council have reviewed its Equalities Monitoring Form to ensure that it captures 
the necessary Equality data on its employees by taking into account the Public 
Sector Equality Duty reporting and relevant information requirements.

The Equalities Monitoring Form that captures the equalities data has been 
developed as a section in HR21 (HR21 is the Council’s Employee and Manager 
Self Service System).

This was issued to all staff in September 2016. The staff that do not have access to 
a computer have been provided with hard copies of the Form from their managers 
to complete.

The Council has received a 90% return rate of equalities information from staff. 

This compares to 18% previously across both Council and School staff.

Community:

 Working with the Council’s Senior Leadership Team an exercise has been 
undertaken to review what equality data service areas were capturing on service 
users, what they were using the data for and how they were reporting on it.

The results of this exercise demonstrated that service areas were capturing 
different levels of equality data and using it in different ways.

Working with colleagues from Community Well-being an Equalities Monitoring Form 
was developed in consultation with Disability Sport and Community Cohesion.

The form has been piloted by service areas within the Community Well-being 
Service over a three month period with a controlled sample of service users.

The findings from the pilot have been analysed and discussed with colleagues from 
Community Well-being in order to determine the effectiveness of the form. 

The next step is to now prepare a report for Corporate Management Team setting 
out the findings and recommendations from the pilot.

Disability Confident Scheme

 In August 2016 the Council transferred over from the Positive about Disability ‘Two 
Ticks’ Scheme to the new Disability Confident Scheme following the changeover 
introduced by the Department for Work and Pensions.

Page 143



The award certifies that the Council is a Disability Confident Committed Employer 
which demonstrates the Council’s commitment to recruiting, retaining and 
developing disabled staff.

Pride Cymru

 The Council was proud to be part of Pride Cymru in August 2016 with other public 
sector organisations from across South Wales to engage with the LGBT 
community. The aim was to engage with the LGBT community to find out what 
issues are important to them, and as a result, improve the experiences of local 
LGBT people across South Wales when accessing public services.

To celebrate this event the Rainbow flag was raised outside the Civic Centre on 
the same day as Pride Cymru.

Merthyr Tydfil Public Library

 Merthyr Tydfil Public Library was successful in securing funding from the Holocaust 
Memorial Day Trust to create a garden in the area behind the Library. The Library was 
the only place in Wales to secure the funding to create a piece of artwork, which 
would represent the theme of “How Life Can Go On.” The Library chose to make 
mosaics of the four seasons and were helped by various community groups to 
achieve this.

 On 27th January 2017, Merthyr Tydfil Public Library Service, in partnership with St 
David’s Church held the annual Holocaust Memorial Day Service with upwards of 200 
attendees and representation from many groups active in Merthyr Tydfil, including the 
Scouts, Air Cadets, Royal British Legion and many others.  After the service, the 
congregation walked to the newly created Holocaust Garden of Remembrance 
situated behind the Library, which was officially opened by Professor Sir Mansel 
Aylward.

In the run up to Holocaust Memorial Day, the Library was fortunate to have a survivor 
to come and speak about their experiences. Her name was Joanna Millan who was 
born Bela Rosenthal; she survived being sent to Terizin camp, after both her parents 
died. In 1945, she was sent to England. She tells the difficult story of her life with both 
passion and sadness. The event was attended by 60 people, who were very moved 
by her testimony.

Also in the run up to Holocaust Memorial Day, the Library Service visited a number of 
schools to promote the Holocaust Memorial Day message, which was “How Can Life 
Go On.”

Based on the comments above and the progress reported in Appendix A and B, outcomes 
have been assessed as Good - many strengths and no important areas requiring significant 
improvement.

Page 144



SECTION 6

ASSESSMENT OF IMPACT

The Process

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) documentation continues to be a mandatory 
accompaniment to reports on the Change Management Programme, and for Cabinet and 
Council. This demonstrates how Councillors, Report Authors and Project Managers 
consider equality as part of their decision making.

A large part of embedding equality into service delivery is through the Council’s EqIA 
Process. This process is structured to identify any potential inequality and aims to ensure 
that individuals and teams think carefully about the likely impact of policies, procedures, 
strategies, functions and services, to identify any unmet needs, and to provide a basis for 
action to improve services where appropriate.

If a full EqIA has been completed report authors are also expected to capture the following 
information in the body of the Cabinet/Council report: 

 The positive impacts.
 The negative impacts.
 Current proposals to address the issues.

No Cabinet or Council Report is allowed to be submitted without being accompanied by a 
completed EqIA form. 

The EqIA form and guidance were reviewed in partnership with Rhondda Cynon Taf 
County Borough Council and was rolled out for implementation in April 2015. The form is 
easier to complete, more focussed and supported by easy to follow step by step guidance.

EqIA forms and guidance are available on the Council’s Intranet for staff use.

Monitoring

The EqIA requires report authors to:

 Document the date of the next review of the EqIA; and
 If a review is not required an explanation why.

The Corporate Risk & Equalities Manager attends the Change Management Steering 
Group to enable issues relating to Equalities, Risk and Welsh language to be identified 
and addressed. These are also standing agenda items.

Publishing Results

All EqIA forms are published on the Council’s website along with the Cabinet and Council 
Reports. 

Page 145



SECTION 7

EMPLOYEE AWARENESS

Information on the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty is available on the 
Council’s Intranet and Internet.

The Council has identified the following Equality Objective as part its Strategic Equality 
Plan for 2016-2020, which will support the Council in continuing to raise awareness about 
Equalities:

 To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning opportunities so that staff 
at all levels, Councillors and partners recognise and incorporate Equalities as part 
of their role.

Progress on this Equality Objective can be found in Appendix A.

Training and Continued Professional Development

Training and Continued Professional Development is a key element of the Council’s 
Performance Management Framework for Performance Appraisals and One to Ones. This 
enables employee training needs for Equalities to be identified and addressed.

Page 146



SECTION 8

WORKFORCE DATA

The Council has identified the following Equality Objective as part its Strategic Equality 
Plan for 2016-2020, which will support the Council in continuing to improve its 
understanding and evidenced based profile of its employees:

 Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, monitor and publish 
equalities data on our employees and customers, which will help the Council to 
ensure that it provides fair and accessible services.

Progress on this Equality Objective can be found in Appendix A.

Workforce data for the Council as at 31st March 2017 is attached as Appendix B.

Page 147



SECTION 9

PROCUREMENT

The Council considers it essential that all organisations wishing to provide goods or 
services on its behalf are able to demonstrate that all reasonable and practicable steps 
are taken to allow equal access and equal treatment in employment, service delivery and 
training for all. 

The Council uses the Welsh Government’s standard pre-qualification process called the 
Supplier Qualification Information Database (SQuID) but has added its own specific 
equalities related questions to it. The Council’s standard Invitation to Tender (ITT) 
template includes a specific equalities statement with the inclusion of contract clauses 
relating to the Equality Act 2010 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011. 
Equalities and Welsh Language related clauses to its standard terms and conditions for 
contracts are added when required. 

The Council underpins the principles of the Welsh Procurement Policy Statement 2015 
(WPPS) and its ten main themes through a fit for purpose procurement strategy that 
provides strategic direction and coordination to comply with corporate priorities and the 
WPPS. The WPPS includes themes such as Economic, Social and Environmental 
Impacts, Community Benefits and open, accessible competition.

The Equalities and Welsh Language elements of the Procurement Process in relation to 
Tendering and Request for Quote Documentation have been reviewed in line with Equality 
Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 and the Welsh Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011.

These documents support the Council in ensuring that all third party suppliers 
demonstrate compliance with these requirements, where relevant to the nature and type 
of goods and services being provided on its behalf.

Page 148



SECTION 10

ARMED FORCES COMMUNITY COVENANT

The Council signed the Armed Forces Community Covenant in May 2013. The Council’s 
pledge to the Armed Forces Community Covenant recognises the dual respect between 
the Council, its partner agencies, its communities and our Armed Forces personnel 
(serving and retired) and their families. Councillor Andrew Barry was appointed as Armed 
Forces Champion in 2017.

The Council supports an Armed Forces Support Group, which is run by local members of 
the Royal British Legion (Dowlais and Town Branches). Membership also includes ex 
naval officers and Welsh Guards. 

A regional board has been set up between Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, which is the Cwm Taf Community 
Covenant Panel (referred to as the CCP). The Panel meets on a quarterly basis, and the 
main purpose is to discuss and assess any Covenant funding applications that are 
received.

Membership of the CCP comprises of:

 Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Councils (Armed Forces 
Champions, lead officers and other representatives).

 Cwm Taf University Health Board.
 Royal British Legion.
 SSAFA.
 South Wales Police.
 Housing Associations.
 160 Infantry Brigade & HQ Wales (Engagement).
 Interlink and Voluntary Action Merthyr Tydfil.
 Department for Work and Pensions (Job Centre Plus).
 Navy, Army and RAF Family Federations.
 3 Royal Welsh.
 Alabare Homes for Veterans.
 Further Education and Higher Education Providers.
 Probation Service.
 Business – member of the Regional Employer Engagement Group (REEG).

A Guide to Services for Armed Forces Personnel and their families booklet has been 
published and distributed widely across the County Borough. The booklet includes 
contacts for Health, Housing, Leisure, Education, etc.  

Free swimming for Armed Forces and veterans is the latest initiative to be launched by the 
Welsh Government as part of its Package of Support for the Armed Forces Community. 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Centre and Aberfan Community Centre now offer free swimming 
during public swim times for armed service personnel and veterans, residing in Wales.

Page 149



SECTION 11

WELSH LANGUAGE

The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 has replaced the Welsh Language Act 1993 
and places an obligation on public sector bodies to comply with Welsh Language 
Standards. Essentially, the Measure has the same requirement as the Welsh Language 
Act: to treat the Welsh and English languages on the basis of equality in the 
provision of services to the public in Wales.

Welsh Language is a key element of the Council’s Equality agenda. The Council promote 
and facilitate the use of the Welsh language by observing the following Guiding Principles:

 Individuals have the right to deal with us in Welsh.
 Welsh must be positioned to be read first (to the left or above the English).
 Respecting staff language rights.
 The quality of service and a positive attitude are important.
 We must offer Welsh language services to give language choice.

Welsh Language Vision for Merthyr Tydfil

These Guiding Principles will support the Council in delivering the following Welsh 
language Vision for Merthyr Tydfil:

“A place which promotes the use of the Welsh language and treats the Welsh and 
English languages on the basis of equality.

This will be achieved by enabling and encouraging:

 The broad provision of Welsh language education throughout the County Borough.
 The opportunities for people to use Welsh at work, at home and at play.
 The perception of languages as life skills, which enriches the lives of those who use 

them.
 People throughout the County Borough to feel pride in their language, and 

confidence to use it.

These are deliberately stretching ideals – they will not be achieved overnight, but over 
the long term; it is our vision to encourage a cultural change in the way that the two 
languages of Wales are perceived in this County Borough. We want to make a 
difference.”

The Council will observe these Guiding Principles and work towards achieving this Vision 
through our role as a community leader, service provider, commissioner and employer 
working in partnership through and with our stakeholders in the County Borough.

Page 150



SECTION 12

CONTACT INFORMATION

How to contact us

If you would like a copy of this Annual Report in any other format or translated into another 
language, please contact:

Mr Kerry O’Donovan
Corporate Risk & Equalities Manager
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Civic Centre
Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil
CF47 8AN
Tel: (01685) 725298
E-Mail: equalities@merthyr.gov.uk
Council’s website: www.merthyr.gov.uk

Page 151

mailto:equalities@merthyr.gov.uk
http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


APPENDIX A
PROGRESS AGAINST DELIVERING 

EQUALITY OBJECTIVES FOR 2016-2020

UPDATE FOR 2016-2017

Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil

“A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can 
participate, flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from 
discrimination and prejudice.”

The Council will work towards achieving this Vision through our role as a community 
leader, service provider, commissioner and employer, and we will work in partnership to 
reduce inequalities and to improve the well-being of the County Borough.

This Vision will be delivered through the following Equality Objectives for 2016-2020:

Themes Equality Objectives

Community 
Engagement

Equality Objective 1 
Put citizens’ voices at the heart of local decision making so that 
their contribution is understood, recognised and used to help the 
Council understand and respond to the needs of its 
communities.

Equality 
Awareness 

Raising

Equality Objective 2
To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning 
opportunities so that staff at all levels, Councillors and partners 
recognise and incorporate Equalities as part of their role.

Understanding
our Staff and 
Communities

Equality Objective 3
Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, monitor 
and publish equalities data on our employees and customers, 
which will help the Council to ensure that it provides fair and 
accessible services.

Gender/Equal 
Pay

Equality Objective 4
Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council.

Page 152



EQUALITY OBJECTIVE 1

THEME: COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Measures:

1. Residents think the Local Authority provides high quality services (Source: National Survey for Wales):
 
Response 2012/13

(Sample size: 
14,400)

2013/14
(Sample size: 

14,600)

2014/15
(Sample size: 

14,100)

2015/16 2016/17
(Sample size: 

10,300)
Agree 46% 53% 43% 38%
Neither Agree nor Disagree 23% 18% 20% 28%
Disagree 30% 29% 37%

There was no 
National Survey 

for Wales in 2015-
16

34%

2. Residents think the Local Authority is good at letting people know how it is performing (Source: National Survey for Wales):

Response 2012/13
(Sample size: 

14,300) 

2013/14
(Sample size: 

14,400)

2014/15
(Sample size: 

13,800)

2015/16 2016/17
(Sample size: 

9,950)
Agree 37% 36% 37% 34%
Neither Agree nor Disagree 21% 16% 15% 21%
Disagree 42% 48% 48%

There was no 
National Survey 

for Wales in 2015-
16

45%

3. Residents think they can influence decisions affecting the local area (Source: National Survey for Wales):

Response 2012/13
(Sample size: 

14,400)

2013/14
(Sample size: 

14,500)

2014/15
(Sample size: 

13,900)

2015/16 2016/17
(Sample size: 

10,050)
Agree 23% 25% 19% 23%
Neither Agree nor Disagree 24% 19% 21% 23%
Disagree 53% 57% 60%

There was no 
National Survey 

for Wales in 2015-
16

54%

P
age 153



Actions Progress
Action 1:
Deliver the Council’s Communication and Consultation Strategy.

A Communication and Consultation Strategy has been 
developed as a Quality Improvement Theme. A Reputation 
Management Action Plan has also been developed. The Strategy 
is currently being reviewed to incorporate changes to the 
Council’s Vision. 

The Communication and Consultation Strategy will deliver the 
following:

1. Provide clear leadership, having clarity about what the 
Council stands for and making sure it is understood by the 
whole organisation.

2. Continue to promote the Council’s brand which provides a 
clear sense of purpose and embodies the values.

3. Build upon our drive to communicate and engage 
strategically so we have the right skills to improve the 
reputation.

Action 2:
Support the delivery of the Cwm Taf Public Engagement 
Strategy.

The Cwm Taf Strategic Partnership Board (SPB), with the Third 
Sector, has been tasked with developing a more innovative, 
proactive approach, to involving and listening to individuals, 
service users and communities. This piece of work needs to be 
fully collaborative and not driven by single agency mechanisms 
and is therefore, being carried out through the Cwm Taf Public 
Engagement Group.

An engagement and consultation plan was in place during the 
development of the Cwm Taf Well-being Plan which will be 
published in May 2018. 

A draft Cwm Taf Public Services Board Engagement and 
Consultation Strategy has been developed but needs to be 
refocused along with the work of the Cwm Taf Public 
Engagement Group (PEG) and the Public Engagement Network 
(PEN) to support the delivery of the Cwm Taf Well-being Plan. 

In meeting the sustainable development principle (5 ways of 

P
age 154



Actions Progress
working), the PSB will continue to involve communities in 
informing, shaping and implementing plans through an on-going 
conversation. The PSB will involve people with lived experiences 
to inform its delivery plans moving forward.

Action 3: 
Work in partnership with the following MAGNET portfolio of 
projects to provide an opportunity for members of marginalised 
communities to increase their voice in influencing Council policy, 
planning and delivery processes:

1. Visible - Bringing together Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and 
Transgender (LGBT) persons to provide support and 
promote their voice within Merthyr Tydfil.

2. Focal Point - Engaging with Migrant Workers, 
facilitating inclusion and cohesion, improving cultural 
awareness in the wider community.

3. Bridges - Building confidence and skills with the 
Gypsy / Traveller community and creating 
opportunities for effective engagement with local 
services.

4. One Voice - Advocacy and empowerment for Disabled 
Persons to agree collective action and engagement 
with service providers.

5. Perthyn (Belonging) - Intergenerational project 
between younger and older people living in social 
housing, focusing on past, present and future housing 
policies. Delivered in Caedraw, Gurnos and Trelewis.

6. POSSIB - Bilingual arts project to engage working 
aged men, parents and children in the areas of health, 
well-being, employment and education. Delivered in 
Northern Communities First Cluster.

7. Up and Coming - Youth media project where young 
reporters convey positive messages about young 
people and Merthyr Tydfil and communicate with 
service providers and decision makers.

The Council has worked in partnership with MAGNET since its 
launch in 2013. The projects that make up MAGNET have 
worked with over 3,000 residents in Merthyr Tydfil, enabling them 
to access public services, receive tailored support and help to 
overcome problems they have encountered in their lives and in 
their communities. 

The MAGNET projects have also helped individuals and groups 
to have their voices heard, helping services to be more 
responsive to meet need, and raising awareness of the 
importance of equality in our communities.

The Council has benefited significantly from working in 
partnership with MAGNET, an example of which includes the 
seven projects being a key partner in developing the Council’s 
Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020.

The Council continue to engage and work with the MAGNET 
Project. An example of this is where Equality training has been 
provided to the Council’s Senior Leadership Team and 
Councillors by the MAGNET Project. Further information on this 
training can be found below under the Equality Objective for 
Equality Awareness Raising.

Examples of some other successes of working in partnership 
with MAGNET have been:

 The Mayor and our local Member of Parliament raising the 
Rainbow flag outside the Civic Centre over the past three 
years during Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender 
(LGBT) History month as part of the Council’s commitment 
to supporting and engaging with the LGBT community 

P
age 155



Actions Progress
within Merthyr Tydfil.

 Ensuring disabled people were able to influence the final 
design of the access to the railway station in Merthyr Tydfil 
and the introduction of blue walking lanes as part of the 
Castle Car Park improvements, making navigation easier 
for all people not just those who are disabled.

 Regular meetings are held with the One Voice Project 
Officer to discuss progress on the disability project and 
any other related matters/issues.

It’s also important to highlight the ongoing hard work and 
commitment of the Global Village Committee and Trustees in co-
ordinating the ongoing success of the Global Village Festival in 
Merthyr Tydfil. The Festival gives professional and community 
members the chance to perform and allows organisations that 
promote equality and diversity issues, a platform to reach out to 
people. It celebrates diversity but also recognises similarities and 
offers the chance to widen cultural horizons in a fun and creative 
way.

The Council continues to work with MAGNET in a number of 
different ways, for example on developing fact sheets on each of 
the Protected Characteristics. Further information on fact sheets 
can be found below under the Equality Objective for Equality 
Awareness Raising.

Action 4:
Work towards the achievement of Disability Sport Wales insport 
Gold Standard.

insport Ribbon and Bronze

insport Ribbon and Bronze levels were achieved in 2014, with 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council being one of the first two 
Councils to achieve the Bronze level in Wales. 

insport Silver

In February 2017, the Council presented their insport Silver 
submission to the insport Development Panel. The Chief 
Executive, Disability Sport Development Officer and Corporate 

P
age 156



Actions Progress
Risk and Equalities Manager delivered the presentation and the 
panel unanimously agreed on awarding insport Silver, making 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council one of just five Councils 
in Wales to be at silver level.  

The feedback from the insport Development Panel was very 
positive, a summary of which is set out below:

 The panel and Disability Sport Wales would like to 
congratulate and thank Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council, and the presenting team, on a sound and robust 
approach to the insport Development Silver standard.

 Utilising the passion and commitment of the insport 
strategic leads, and linking this with an ongoing and 
constant monitoring and review process, there is now the 
clear beginnings of an integrated approach to inclusion 
throughout the Local Authority.

 The authenticity, leadership and commitment of the 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Chief Executive 
Officer, and the Equality Lead, throughout the process, 
and at panel, was seen by the panel as a one of the 
significant catalysts for success so far. The development 
of further champions and advocates for inclusion across 
the Education, Health and Social Services sectors at 
equivalent senior leadership level, will be essential for the 
later stages of insport, and panel were assured that the 
commitment to ensuring this level of buy in was already 
recognised, as well as being instigated. The enthusiasm 
and engagement of staff from Merthyr Tydfil CBC with the 
development and testing of other elements of the insport 
project, is also appreciated and recognised as reflective of 
the broader commitment to inclusion and diversity.

 The insport Development Panel were delighted to hear 

P
age 157



Actions Progress
that Merthyr County Borough Council are adopting a 
philosophy where inclusion is being shaped by the very 
people who will be influenced and affected by 
programmes and delivery. This approach will need to 
remain at the heart of all thinking moving forward, with 
clarity of the needs of all population segments being an 
essential starting point for the insport Development Gold 
standard.

 Overall the presentation was an outstanding and honest 
reflection of both the strategic direction being adopted, 
and the practical interpretation of this approach. The 
information provided to the insport Development Case 
Officer via the portal, alongside the enthusiastic and clear 
presentation, left the panel in no doubt that Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council should be awarded with the 
insport Development Silver standard.

 This was an exceptional insport Development Silver 
standard presentation, there was a richness provided to 
the content and context of what you do, and how you do it 
locally within all the case studies; and the passion, 
commitment and transparent approach to inclusion was 
showcased consistently in all elements of the presentation 
team’s delivery. Merthyr Tydfil CBC illustrated a mature 
and clear understanding of where they were with 
inclusion, and what broadly the intended outcomes to the 
changes in working practices were for the areas of 
delivery. Engagement and consultation with stakeholders 
has been wide-ranging and creative, and had sought to 
involve organisations and individuals who may not have 
been involved previously or traditionally.  The result of this 
has been to enable greater self-awareness, refine 
provision, and empower other partners to deliver 
consistently within the same messaging.

P
age 158



Actions Progress
 Congratulations, and thanks on behalf of the panel for an 

inspiring, interesting and thorough overview of provision, 
thinking, strategy and practice.

The following were identified as key areas of best practice:

 Recognition of the journey of ongoing improvement 
and learning.

 A commitment to sustainability through partnerships 
and collaboration.

 Implementation of internal scrutiny committees.

The achievement of insport Silver was celebrated at the launch 
of Merthyr Tydfil High Street becoming ‘Autism Friendly’ on 15th 
September 2017.

insport Gold

The Council’s Corporate Leadership Team has received a 
presentation on the Council’s approach to insport Gold. The 
Corporate Leadership Team fully endorse the Council’s 
approach to insport Gold and are committed to supporting the 
development of insport evidence with 2020 as a planned 
submission date.

It is now the intention to attend the insport panel in February 
2018 to outline plans for the Council’s insport Gold and for the 
Disability Sport Wales panel to sign off on the approach.

Action 5: 
Review Community First activities and establish and implement a 
new Community Involvement Plan.

The Council was charged with identifying and agreeing the 
legacy arrangements of Communities First, following the 
announcement of the phasing out of the programme. This 
included deciding on programmes of delivery to be retained or 
new programmes of delivery to be supported in line with the 
needs of the community and the Well-being Assessment.
 
An extensive consultation both with partners and the community 

P
age 159



Actions Progress
was undertaken to identify the legacy arrangements.
The following priorities for strategic support for the community 
and for front line service delivery were identified:

 Investment in Community Zone co-ordination to pilot this 
approach in the Gurnos area.

 Commission existing play and youth provision in the 
Gurnos, Dowlais and Gellideg. 

 Commission the continuation of the Domestic Violence 
awareness raising programme in schools across the 
County Borough.

 Investment in the early language development approach 
integrating the south cluster priority into an already 
established model.P

age 160



EQUALITY OBJECTIVE 2

THEME: EQUALITY AWARENESS RAISING

Measures 2016/17
1. The number of staff, Councillors and partner organisations 

who have received training in Equalities (Source: Council 
data).

Equality Training through MAGNET Project (3 sessions):
 14 Councillors
 32 staff (Senior Leadership Team)

Equality Training through Sport based courses:
 15 staff from 11 schools attending Active Kids for All 

(Disability Inclusion Training).
 20 students from Merthyr College attending Active Kids for 

All (Disability Inclusion Training).
 18 participants from a wide range of partners attended 

Disability Inclusion Training.
 7 Council staff, Visible Lead from MAGNET and 2 Officers 

from the Urdd attending LGBT Sport Cymru Awareness 
Training.

Prevent Training:
 749 staff to date have attended Prevent training.
 An additional 60 staff have also been given access to an 

on-line training course.

Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
Course:

 Staff and Councillors have completed a Violence Against 
Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence course.

2. Number of different training opportunities provided (Source: 
Council data). .

Based on Measure No.1 above 10 different training opportunities 
have been provided.

3. Number of disciplinaries, whistleblowing and grievances 
related to equality issues (Source: Council data).

1 Grievance for Racial Abuse/Sexual Harassment.

P
age 161



Actions Progress
Action 1:
Rollout Equalities E-Learning Module for staff and Councillors.

The Equalities E-Learning Module was reviewed before being 
rolled out and it was deemed that the content would not meet the 
training needs for staff and Councillors in terms of Equality 
awareness raising.

To address this training gap, working with the Cwm Taf Regional 
Community Cohesion Co-ordinator and in consultation with the 
Community Voice MAGNET Project an Equality Learning 
Resource is being developed for staff and Councillors through 
the development of fact sheets for each of the nine protected 
characteristics.

Further information on the fact sheets can be found under Action 
4 below.

Action 2:
Work in partnership with the MAGNET portfolio to deliver a 
training programme for staff and Councillors based on the 
following projects:

 Focal Point – Newly arrived citizens.
 Visible – Lesbian, Gay, Bi-sexual, Transgender. 
 One Voice – Disabled persons.
 Bridges – Gypsy / Travellers.

Equality training has been provided to the Council’s Senior 
Leadership Team and Councillors by the MAGNET Project.

The equality training focused on providing Councillors and 
Officers with an insight, knowledge and understanding about the 
different communities in Merthyr Tydfil. 

This was delivered in a creative and imaginative way but more 
importantly gave an insight to both Councillors and Officers that 
they wouldn’t otherwise have had and gave specific examples of 
people’s experiences of services.

Action 3:
Work with Active Merthyr and its partners locally and nationally to 
establish opportunities for disability awareness training for staff, 
Councillors and partner organisations.

The following Equality Training have been provided through sport 
based courses:

 15 staff from 11 schools attending Active Kids for All 
(Disability Inclusion Training).

 20 students from Merthyr College attending Active Kids for 
All (Disability Inclusion Training).

 18 participants from a wide range of partners attended 
Disability Inclusion Training.

 7 Council staff, Visible Lead from MAGNET and 2 Officers 
from the Urdd attending LGBT Sport Cymru Awareness 

P
age 162



Actions Progress
Training.

Action 4:
Develop Equalities training pages on the Council’s Intranet to act 
as a learning and knowledge resource.

A training page has been set up on the Council’s Intranet to act 
as a learning and knowledge resource for staff and Councillors.
 
Working with the Cwm Taf Regional Community Cohesion Co-
ordinator and in consultation with the Community Voice 
MAGNET Project, fact sheets for each of the nine protected 
characteristics are being developed.

The expected benefits of the fact sheets are as follows:

 Improving our knowledge of national and local equality 
issues by protected characteristic.

 Improving our understanding of our customers.
 The Council promotes equalities in the workplace.
 It will act as a knowledge resource for staff when 

completing the Council’s new Integrated Impact 
Assessment.

To date three fact sheets have been developed for Disability, 
Sexual Orientation and Race. These have been made available 
on the Council’s Equalities training page.

Action 5:
Work with the Regional Community Cohesion Coordinator to 
deliver a range of Equality training.

749 staff to date have attended the Workshop to Raise 
Awareness of Prevent (WRAP training). Prevent is part of the 
Government’s counter-terrorism strategy; it's designed to tackle 
the problem of terrorism at its roots, preventing people from 
supporting terrorism or becoming involved in terrorism 
themselves.

An additional 60 staff have also been given access to an on-line 
training course (approved by the Home Office). These are 
childminders and staff in the Leisure Trust. It’s closely aligned to 
the WRAP training, and is more appropriate than trying to 
arrange classroom sessions for them.

A poster has also been designed and printed, which provides 

P
age 163



Actions Progress
further information and what to do if people have any concerns. 
The poster is displayed in all Council buildings and have also 
been supplied to the Leisure Trust to display on their premises.

Action 6:
To assess and define any cultural barriers that may be 
preventing staff from feeling ‘safe’ to disclose equalities data, we 
will undertake policy training on Dignity and Respect at Work, 
Code of Conduct of Employees, Values and Behaviours 
expected by all.

The Council has a number of HR Policies in place, including the 
following:

 Staff Handbook.
 Dignity and Respect at Work.
 Code of Conduct.
 Disciplinary.
 Grievance.
 Whistleblowing.
 Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 

Violence.
 Workforce Equality Policy.

These Policies are regularly reviewed in line with best practice 
and legislation. The HR team are currently considering a suite of 
‘statutory / mandatory training’ for all of its managers. These 
policies are designed in consultation with staff and their trade 
union representatives.  

The HR Operational team adopt a coaching and mentoring style 
of delivery in supporting managers to understand their 
responsibilities. In addition, the HR department are currently 
working on producing a training plan on these policies to support 
current and future people managers. These will be offered as 
‘bolt on’ modules to the existing Managers Academy programme.

Action 7:
Create an Action Plan to address any cultural barriers.

The Action plan will include a blended style of learning and 
development training activity including coaching, mentoring, and 
online – e-learning.

Action 8:
Work in partnership with other organisations to offer staff, 
Councillors and partner organisations a range of Equality training 
opportunities.

As can be seen from the above actions the Council has worked 
with a number of partners to offer Equality training opportunities, 
for example: 

 MAGNET Portfolio of Projects.

P
age 164



Actions Progress
 Disability Sport Wales.
 Active Merthyr.
 Cwm Taf Regional Community Cohesion Co-ordinator.
 Prevent Project. 

P
age 165



EQUALITY OBJECTIVE 3

THEME: UNDERSTANDING OUR STAFF AND COMMUNITIES

Measures 2016/17
1. The Council receives registration as a “Two Ticks” Equal 

Opportunity Employer (Source: Department for Work and 
Pensions).

In August 2016 the Council transferred over from the Positive 
about Disability ‘Two Ticks’ Scheme to the new Disability 
Confident Scheme following the changeover introduced by the 
Department for Work and Pensions.

The award certifies that the Council is a Disability Confident 
Committed Employer, which demonstrates the Council’s 
commitment to recruiting, retaining and developing disabled staff.

2. An increase in the number of employees disclosing personal 
data to allow the Council to be sensitive to and meet their 
needs (Source: Council data).

The Council has received a 90% return rate of equalities 
information from staff.

This compares to 18% previously across both Council and 
School staff.

Actions Progress
Action 1
Identify data requirements for Equalities Monitoring Form by 
identifying what information is needed (taking into account Public 
Sector Equality Duty reporting and relevant information 
requirements).
Action 2
Develop electronic monitoring and recording system to capture 
all data requirements for Equalities Monitoring Form using HR21.
Action 3
Develop paper copy of Equalities Monitoring Form.
Action 4
Communicate message to all staff (who have access to a 
computer) to complete the Equalities Monitoring Form.
Action 5
Include an Equalities Monitoring Form in all recruitment 
paperwork.

The Council have reviewed its Equalities Monitoring Form to 
ensure that it captures the necessary Equality data on its 
employees by taking into account the Public Sector Equality Duty 
reporting and relevant information requirements.

The Equalities Monitoring Form that captures the equalities data 
has been developed as a section in HR21 (HR21 is the Council’s 
Employee and Manager Self Service System). 

This was issued to all staff in September 2016. The staff that do 
not have access to a computer have been provided with hard 
copies of the Form from their managers to complete.

P
age 166



Action 6
Distribute paper copy of Equalities Monitoring Form in a staged 
approach to staff that do not have access to a computer.
Action 7
Monitor and report on the number of staff who have completed 
the Equalities Monitoring Form through HR21.

Action 8
Record completed Paper Equalities Monitoring Form in HR21.
Action 9
Monitor and report on the number of staff who have completed 
the paper copy of the Equalities Monitoring Form.
Action 10
Remind staff of the importance to ensure that their equality 
employment information is continually reviewed and up to date.
Action 11
Report annually on equality employee data.
Action 12
Identify data requirements and develop a process to capture and 
report equalities data from customers.
Action 13
Develop and distribute an Equalities Monitoring Form to service 
areas to enable them to capture equalities data from customers.
Action 14
Remind services of the importance of recording customer 
equality data.
Action 15
Report annually on customer equality data.
Action 16
Where they are not already in place encourage service areas to 
develop feedback forms in relation to the services they provide, 
to establish levels of satisfaction and identify any barriers which 
might exist which prevent people from accessing these services. 
This will include ensuring that all feedback forms ask the 
equalities monitoring questions.

In relation to capturing equality data on our service users the 
need was identified to develop an Equalities Monitoring Form.

To support this an exercise was undertaken, working with the 
Council’s Senior Leadership Team, to review what equality data 
service areas were capturing on service users, what they were 
using the data for and how they were reporting on it.

The results of this exercise demonstrated that service areas were 
capturing different levels of equality data and using it in different 
ways.

After discussing the results of the exercise with Chief Offices and 
Heads of Service, the Head of Community Well-being kindly 
offered to work with the Corporate Risk and Equalities Manager 
on developing an Equalities Monitoring Form and piloting it within 
his service areas.

A draft form was prepared informed by the enrolment / 
registration forms used by services in Community Well-being.

P
age 167



The draft form was then shared with colleagues from Community 
Wellbeing, Disability Sport and Community Cohesion for their 
comment and feedback, following which the form was further 
developed.

The form was piloted by services areas within the Community 
Well-being Service over a three month period with a controlled 
sample of service users. 

The findings from the pilot have been analysed and discussed 
with colleagues from Community Well-being in order to 
determine the effectiveness of the form.

The next step now is to prepare a report for Corporate 
Management Team setting out the findings and 
recommendations following the pilot.

P
age 168



EQUALITY OBJECTIVE 4

THEME: GENDER/EQUAL PAY

Measures 2016/17
1. Understanding any gender pay gap the Council may have 

(Source: Council data).
Please see comments below for Action 1.

Actions Progress
Action 1
Undertake an Equality Impact Assessment to have a baseline 
understanding of any equal pay issues in the Council.

The Council undertakes regular gender pay gap reporting. All 
jobs are evaluated using the Greater London Provincial Council 
scheme of Job Evaluation (with the exception of Heads of 
Service who are processed via the HAY Scheme). No personal 
information regarding the post holder is taken into account at this 
stage. As a result, the grading system is free of any unconscious 
bias. The grades and additional payment mechanisms in 
operation at the Council are provided on a gender neutral basis.  
Therefore, there are no obvious discrepancies between gender 
during the reporting.

In England, public, private and voluntary sector organisations 
with 250 or more employees will have to report on their gender 
pay gaps using prescribed criteria as below. Whilst this 
regulation does not currently apply to Councils in Wales, a recent 
meeting of HR Directors across Welsh Local Councils felt that 
providing the information was transparent, open, and fair before 
there is any formal obligation on Councils to provide it.

The pay gap is small between Male and Female in terms of both 
the Mean and Median hourly rates. By calculating the information 
this way, we can compare ourselves instantaneously to other 

Mean 
Hourly Rate

Median 
Hourly Rate

Male £14.47 £12.18
Female £13.70 £11.74
Pay Gap £0.77 £0.44

P
age 169



Actions Progress
Councils in both in Wales and England.

Action 2
Publish Annual Pay Policy Statement.

The Council’s Pay Policy Statement for 2016/17 was approved 
by Full Council on 23rd March 2016.

Action 3
Where necessary make changes to policies and practices that 
are found to be a contributory factor to any identified inequality in 
pay.

There is no inequality in pay. All jobs are scored fairly and 
consistently in accordance with the Greater London Provincial 
Council scheme. Our policies and procedures are continually 
monitored and reviewed to ensure that there are no hidden or 
perceived barriers. Historically, the Council together with Trade 
Unions undertook a lot of work with the implementation of single 
status and the new pay spine.

Indeed, the Council has worked hard to go over and above its 
minimum statutory obligations. An example of this is the National 
Minimum and Living Wage. The Council not only opted to 
introduce the latter, but also it was one of only a few Councils in 
Wales to sign up to the Foundation Living Wage, and deleted 
many Spinal Column Points at the bottom end of the scale 
accordingly. This investment means that the impact of the recent 
employers offer to trade union (2.0% per year over two years, 
and an additional percentage for staff at the bottom of the scale 
(referred to as bottom loading, to bring them up to the equivalent 
of the  foundation living wage) is avoided.

P
age 170



APPENDIX B
OTHER EQUALITY DEVELOPMENTS

Holocaust Memorial Day and other Developments by Merthyr Tydfil Public Library

 Merthyr Tydfil Public Library was successful in securing funding from the Holocaust Memorial 
Day Trust to create a garden in the area behind the Library. The Library was the only place in 
Wales to secure the funding to create a piece of artwork, which would represent the theme of 
“How Life Can Go On.” The Library chose to make mosaics of the four seasons and were 
helped by various community groups to achieve this.

 On 27th January 2017, Merthyr Tydfil Public Library Service, in partnership with St David’s 
Church held the annual Holocaust Memorial Day Service with upwards of 200 attendees and 
representation from many groups active in Merthyr Tydfil, including the Scouts, Air Cadets, 
Royal British Legion and many others.  After the service, the congregation walked to the newly 
created Holocaust Garden of Remembrance situated behind the Central Library, which was 
officially opened by Professor Sir Mansel Aylward.

In the run up to Holocaust Memorial Day, the Library was fortunate to have a survivor to come 
and speak about their experiences. Her name was Joanna Millan who was born Bela 
Rosenthal; she survived being sent to Terizin camp, after both her parents died. In 1945, she 
was sent to England. She tells the difficult story of her life with both passion and sadness. The 
event was attended by 60 people, who were very moved by her testimony.

Also in the run up to Holocaust Memorial Day, the Library Service visited a number of schools 
to promote the Holocaust Memorial Day message, which was “How Can life Go On.”

 Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries was in receipt of a “Big Lottery” grant to further develop its 
“Sheds for All" programme. The Library developed this concept on research from Australia that 
had shown the negative impact of loneliness and isolation has on a person’s health and well-
being.

The aim of the “Sheds for All“ programme is about people having fun, sharing skills and 
knowledge with like-minded people and gaining a renewed sense of purpose and belonging to 
reduce isolation and loneliness. 

The Library has set up two curling groups consisting of people: 

o Who are socially isolated. 
o From the GP referral scheme.

The Library also has a group of volunteers who are helping to further develop the Holocaust 
Memorial Garden.

Hate Crime

 We have engaged regionally with partners on Hate Crime in order to increase awareness 
and understanding. This included a Cwm Taf Hate Crime Awareness Event held during 
Hate Crime Awareness Week to highlight the ongoing work being conducted in the Cwm 
Taf area to raise awareness and support victims of hate crime.

In addition, the Council and its schools supported Show Racism the Red Card’s “Wear 
Red Day” on Friday 21st October 2016.

Page 171



Strategic Equality Plans for Schools

 Schools are also required to develop and publish Equality Objectives and a Strategic 
Equality Plan. The purpose of these is to enable the delivery of measurable equality 
outcomes which improve the lives of individuals and communities. 

A Strategic Equality Plan template and guidance have been developed for schools and is 
aligned to the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020 and its Equalities Vision for 
Merthyr Tydfil, which is:

A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can participate, 
flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from 
discrimination and prejudice.

Pride Cymru 2016

 The Council was proud to be part of Pride Cymru in August 2016 with other public sector 
organisations from across South Wales to engage with the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and 
Transgender (LGBT) community. The aim was to engage with the LGBT community to find 
out what issues are important to them, and as a result, improve the experiences of local 
LGBT people across South Wales when accessing public services.

To celebrate this event the Rainbow flag was raised outside the Civic Centre on the same 
day as Pride Cymru.

LGBT Club Night

 Facilitated by the Visible Project that forms part of MAGNET, Merthyr Tydfil’s first LGBT Club 
Night was held in February 2017 at the Scala Hall.

E-learning Platform - Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Course

 The Council has launched an eLearning facility for all staff and Councillors which will enable 
the Council to record and report the training that is provided through this learning portal. The 
first module that have been completed is for Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence.

Equality Network

 The Council is part of an Equality Network of Councils in South Wales. The Network meets 
regularly and shares equality best practice and information. The Council hosted the meeting in 
January 2017, which was very well attended by a number of Councils. 

Equality and Human Rights Commission Exchange Network

 The Equality and Human Rights Commission hold regular Exchange Network Conferences 
across Wales. Their Exchange Network Conference in March 2017 was held at the Orbit 
Business Centre in Merthyr Tydfil.

Page 172



APPENDIX C
WORKFORCE DATA - EMPLOYED STAFF AT THE COUNCIL 31ST MARCH 2017 (BY DIRECTORATE)

Number of Staff

 Directorate Permanent Fixed Term Full Time Part Time Total
Chief Executive 43 1 34 10 44
Place and Transformation 443 16 368 91 459
People and Performance 1476 338 696 1118 1814
Total 1962 355 1098 1219 2317

Age
 

 Directorate 16-34 35-54 55-64 65+ Total
Chief Executive 9 26 9 0 44
Place and Transformation 100 282 73 4 459
People and Performance 548 963 277 26 1814
Total 657 1271 359 30 2317

Disability

Directorate Deaf / Hard of Hearing Mental Health 
Difficulties

Mobility Impairment Learning Impairment

Chief Executive 0 1 0 0
Place and Transformation 6 2 1 1
People and Performance 7 3 6 2
Total 13 6 7 3

P
age 173



Disability continued

Directorate Long-Standing 
Illness

Visual 
Impairment

Other Prefer not to 
Answer / Not 

Known

Total

Chief Executive 1 0 0 42 44
Place and Transformation 11 2 2 434 459
People and Performance 38 2 9 1747 1814
Total 50 4 11 2223 2317

Gender

Directorate Male Female Total
Chief Executive 14 30 44
Place and Transformation 266 193 459
People and Performance 302 1512 1814
Total 582 1735 2317

Sexual Orientation

Directorate Gay woman / Lesbian Gay Man Bisexual Heterosexual / 
Straight

Chief Executive 0 0 0 41
Place and Transformation 1 0 0 372
People and Performance 9 7 2 1009
Total 10 7 2 1422

P
age 174



Sexual Orientation continued

Directorate Other Prefer not to 
Answer/Not Known

Total

Chief Executive 0 3 44
Place and Transformation 0 86 459
People and Performance 5 782 1814
Total 5 871 2317

Religion

Directorate Christianity No religion Buddhism Judaism
Chief Executive 23 14 0 0
Place and Transformation 153 148 0 0
People and Performance 545 568 1 1
Total 721 730 1 1

Religion continued

Directorate Islamic Other Prefer not to 
Answer/Not Known

Total

Chief Executive 0 2 5 44
Place and Transformation 0 11 147 459
People and Performance 3 82 614 1814
Total 3 95 766 2317

Ethnicity

 Directorate White British White Other Asian Black Caribbean
Chief Executive 42 0 0 0
Place and Transformation 365 8 2 1
People and Performance 1371 16 9 1
Total 1778 24 11 2

P
age 175



Ethnicity continued
 

 Directorate Black African Mixed Race Prefer not to 
Answer/Not Known

Total

Chief Executive 0 0 2 44
Place and Transformation 0 0 83 459
People and Performance 1 3 413 1814
Total 1 3 498 2317

First Language

 Directorate English Welsh Maltese Polish
Chief Executive 37 0 0 0
Place and Transformation 317 7 1 1
People and Performance 981 18 0 6
Total 1335 25 1 7

First Language continued

 Directorate German Portuguese Chinese Filipino
Chief Executive 0 0 0 0
Place and Transformation 1 1 0 0
People and Performance 1 0 0 1
Total 2 1 0 1

First Language continued

 Directorate Thai Prefer not to Answer / 
Not Known

Total

Chief Executive 0 7 44
Place and Transformation 0 131 459
People and Performance 1 806 1814
Total 1 944 2317

P
age 176



All staff
Male FemalePeople Profile - Salary

Full Time Part Time Full Time Part Time
£0-£4,999 0 25 0 191
£5,000-£9,999 0 15 0 209
£10,000-£14,999 0 57 0 303
£15,000-£19,999 41 24 26 279
£20,000-£24,999 194 5 152 59
£25,000-£29,999 32 4 79 24
£30,000-£39,999 122 3 294 18
£40,000-£49,999 48 2 54 1
£50,000-£59,999 7 0 13 0
£60,000-£69,999 13 0 11 0
£70,000+ 7 0 5 0
Calculated: Total number of salaries 464 135 634 1,084

Job Applications

In terms of the number of staff who applied for a job internally at the Council, we received 396 internal applications of which 93 were Male and 
303 were Female.

In terms of external applicants the Council received 1,331 external applications.

The Workforce Data is continued over the page.

P
age 177



Number of employees 
involved in grievance 

procedures 
Equality Categories

as the 
complainant

a person 
against 
whom a 

complaint 
was made

Number of 
employees 
subject to 

disciplinary 
procedures

Number of 
employees 
who have 

left the 
Council

Number of 
staff taking 
maternity 

leave

Age 2 1 24 238 56
16-34 0 0 6 71 41
35-54 1 1 13 81 15
55-64 1 0 5 68 0
65+ 0 0 0 18 0
Prefer not to answer / 
Not Known 0 0 0 0 0
Sex 2 1 24 238 56
Male 2 1 13 69 0
Female 0 0 11 169 56
Prefer not to answer / 
Not Known 0 0 0 0 0
Disability 2 1 24 238 56
Disabled 0 0 0 10 1
Not Disabled 2 1 24 146 46
Prefer not to answer / 
Not Known 0 0 0 82 9
Sexual Orientation 2 1 24 238 56
Heterosexual 2 1 15 147 47
Lesbian/Gay 0 0 0 1 0
Bi-Sexual 0 0 0 2 0
Other 0 0 0 0 9
Prefer not to answer / 
Not Known 0 0 9 88 0

P
age 178



Number of employees 
involved in grievance 

procedures Number of 
employees 
subject to 

disciplinary 
procedures

Number of 
employees 
who have 

left the 
Council

Number of 
staff taking 
maternity 

leave

Equality Categories
as the 

complainant

a person 
against 
whom a 

complaint 
was made

Ethnic Group 2 1 24 238 56
English/Welsh 2 1 24 142 46
White other 0 0 0 4 0
Asian 0 0 0 2 0
Prefer not to answer / 
Not Known 0 0 0 90 10

Religion or Belief 2 1 24 238 56
No religion 0 0 9 52 16
Christian (all denominations) 0 0 5 57 21
Islamic 0 0 0 1 0
Buddhism 0 0 0 0 1
Other 0 0 0 14 0
Prefer not to answer /
Not Known

2 1 10 114 18

P
age 179



APPENDIX D

LINK BETWEEN THE COUNCIL’S STRATEGIC EQUALITY OBJECTIVES FOR 2016-2020 AND THE WELL-BEING OF FUTURE 
GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015 AND THE SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELL-BEING (WALES) ACT 2014

Theme Equality Objectives Link to seven 
Wellbeing Goals

Link to Sustainable 
Development 

Principles

Link to Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014

Community 
Engagement

Equality Objective 1 
Put citizens’ voices at the heart 
of local decision making so 
that their contribution is 
understood, recognised and 
used to help the Council 
understand and respond to the 
needs of its communities.

 A Heathier Wales.
 A more equal Wales.
 A Wales of cohesive 

communities.
 A Wales of vibrant 

culture and thriving 
Welsh language.

 Long term.
 Prevention.
 Collaboration.
 Involvement.
 Integration.

 Physical and mental health 
and emotional well-being.

 Protection from abuse and 
neglect.

 Education, training and 
recreation.

 Domestic, family and 
personal relationships.

 Contribution made to 
society.

 Securing rights and 
entitlements.

 In relation to children; 
physical, intellectual, 
emotional, social and 
behavioural development 
and welfare. 

 In relation to adults; 
control over day to day life 
and participation in work.

Equality Awareness 
Raising

Equality Objective 2
To support and facilitate 
Equalities training and learning 
opportunities so that staff at all 
levels, Councillors and 
partners recognise and 
incorporate Equalities as part 
of their role.

 A more equal Wales.
 A Wales of cohesive 

communities.

 Long term.
 Prevention.
 Collaboration.
 Involvement.
 Integration.

 Education, training and 
recreation.

 Contribution made to 
society. 

 Securing rights and 
entitlements.

 In relation to adults; 
control over day to day life 
and participation in work. 

P
age 180



Theme Equality Objectives Link to seven 
Wellbeing Goals

Link to Sustainable 
Development 

Principles

Link to Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014

Understanding
our Staff and 
Communities

Equality Objective 3
Develop robust monitoring 
systems to collect, collate, 
monitor and publish equalities 
data on our employees and 
customers, which will help the 
Council to ensure that it 
provides fair and accessible 
services.

 A Heathier Wales.
 A more equal Wales.
 A Wales of cohesive 

communities.

 Long term.
 Prevention.
 Collaboration.
 Involvement.

 Physical and mental health 
and emotional well-being.

 Protection from abuse and 
neglect.

 Education, training and 
recreation.

 Domestic, family and 
personal relationships.

 Contribution made to 
society. 

 Securing rights and 
entitlements.

 In relation to children; 
physical, intellectual, 
emotional, social and 
behavioural development 
and welfare. 

 In relation to adults; 
control over day to day life 
and participation in work. 

Gender/Equal Pay Equality Objective 4
Ensure equity of pay across 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council.

 A prosperous Wales.
 A more equal Wales.

 Long term.
 Prevention.

 Contribution made to 
society.

 Securing rights and 
entitlements.

 In relation to adults; 
control over day to day life 
and participation in work. 

P
age 181



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Special Guardianship Orders 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report provides information about developments and improvement in the 
support that we offer to special guardians and the proposed consultation with special 
guardians in relation to that support. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The contents of the report be noted and the proposed consultation that will inform 
our final draft Policy be supported.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 A Special Guardianship Order (SGO) is a court order appointing a person or persons 
to be a child’s special guardian.  These orders were introduced in Wales in 
December 2005, as a new permanence option for children who could not live with 
their parents.  A SGO grants the special guardian a high degree of parental 
responsibility for virtually all decisions affecting the child, and limits the rights of birth 
parents to intervene or challenge the order without leave of the court.  It provides a 
legal status that offers greater security than long term fostering, but without the 
absolute legal break with the child’s birth family that is associated with adoption.  
Children subject to SGOs are not looked after by their local authority (ie. they are not 
‘looked after children’) although the local authority often provides means tested 
financial or other support.  For some children, a special guardianship arrangement 
enables them to leave local authority care, while for others a special guardianship 
arrangement is an alternative to care.   

Date Written 19th December 2017*
Report Author Sarah Skuse
Service Area Children’s Services
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st February 2018

Page 183

Agenda Item 10



3.2 The number of children subject to SGOs has grown nationally year on year and is 
unlikely to peak in numbers until after 2023, as often very young children are made 
subject to an SGO that will remain in existence until they are 18 years of age. 

3.3 The Social Services and Well-being Act (Wales) 2014 placed additional duties and 
responsibilities upon local authorities to provide support to children subject to a SGO 
and their carers.  Welsh Government also completed a review of SGOs during 2016-
17 and has subsequently published draft guidance with amended Regulations which 
is expected in July 2018. 

3.4 The new regulations have added to the list of matters which must be considered and 
included in the local authority’s report to the court about the special guardianship 
arrangements.  In cases where the child was looked after immediately before a SGO 
was made, the local authority which looked after the child will now remain 
responsible for meeting any special guardianship support needs for a period of three 
years.  The code of practice also places a new requirement upon local authorities to 
make special guardians, prospective special guardians, children subject to special 
guardianship arrangements and children of special guardians aware of the 
entitlement to request an assessment of their needs.  

3.5 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council currently have 108 children who are subject 
to a SGO receiving financial support, it is likely that this figure under represents the 
number of children subject to a SGO as some carers have never or are no longer 
receiving financial support.  We are mindful that some of these young people have 
similar needs to those who are looked after and early help and support should be 
made available as part of our offer of support to special guardians in order to prevent 
avoidable escalation of need and risk.

4.0 CURRENT POSITION 

4.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council has a process for financial assessment of 
prospective special guardians and for reviewing special guardianship payments 
annually and upon the making of a SGO.  These assessments follow a process akin 
to those in other areas and are means tested as is required in line with legislation.  
Further work is required to ensure that the base line for assessing payments is 
commensurate with the level prescribed by Welsh Government as the cost of 
bringing up a child, local authorities tend to use the Welsh Government Minimum 
allowances (standard fostering rate) as this starting figure. 

Welsh Government minimum allowance rates for 2017/18 are 0-4yrs £170pw; 5-
15yrs £155pw and 16+yrs £194pw.

4.2 Work is underway to develop and update Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s 
policy for special guardianship arrangements assessment and support which will 
assist professionals and families to understand their needs, rights and entitlements.  
This document will clearly set out the financial support available to special guardians 
and the children they care for under these arrangements.  It will also identify the type 
of support available to assist carers and the child with issues such as: 

Page 184



 Support needs arising from their role in caring for a child who may have 
additional needs;

 Emotional support to the child who is likely to have experienced grief, loss, 
trauma and/or abuse prior to becoming cared for by the special guardian;

 Assistance with contact arrangements; and
 Training needs.

4.3 The code of practice requires children to have access to consultation with an 
appropriate person, if required this can be met via the current Advocacy 
arrangements with our advocacy provider National Youth Advocacy Service (NYAS).

5.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

5.1 Further work is required to develop communication between the local authority, 
special guardians and the child.  The code of practice requires that there is a point of 
contact within the Local Authority who will make contact with special guardians at 
least annually and can signpost for information and advice and who can 
assess/review support needs.  Development is also required to meet the requirement 
to provide regular updates to special guardians by way of social media and 
newsletters. 

5.2 We will develop improved arrangements for financial payments to special guardians, 
in particular the review of those arrangements to coincide with annual changes to 
benefits and to ensure that there have been no changes in the circumstances of the 
carer and/or the child or with the arrangement. 

6.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

6.1 Assess the budget requirements for meeting our statutory duties to Special 
Guardians. 

6.2 Identify which post(s) will be responsible for delivering the assessment and support 
to special guardians and children or whether this is best met through one dedicated 
post holder. 

6.3 Establish a robust review of payments to special guardians annually within the local 
authority policy. 

6.4 Consult with special guardians by survey and workshops to understand more about 
their experience and the type of information, advice and support that would meet 
their needs.

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 On the current SGO population the potential full year impact will be in the region of 
£146k.  This demand has been considered whilst undertaking the recent Social 
Services budget review and factored into the future demands requirements.  The 
impact can be managed within the wider Children Looked After and SGO budgets.

Page 185



8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER SOCIAL SERVICES

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR                

SOCIAL SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

The Special 
Guardianship (Wales) 
Regulations 2005 

April 2006 Unit 5 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 186



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Cwm Taf Regional Plan 2018-23

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To update Cabinet on the development of the Cwm Taf Regional Plan 2018-23 in 
response to the Population Assessment produced in 2017 and to present the plan for 
Cabinet consideration and endorsement.

1.2 The 'Area’ Plan is a statutory requirement under Part 9 of the Social Services and 
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014.

1.3 Each of the partner organisations in Cwm Taf provides a wide range of activities and 
services across the region that respond to vulnerable children, young people, adults 
and families.  Each partner is committed to promoting high quality, responsive 
services to the public but recognise that they also have to work together if services 
are to be transformed to meet the challenges faced.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The development of the Cwm Taf Regional Plan 2018-23 (Appendix 1) and the 
outcome of the consultation with the community panels in December 2017 (Appendix 
2) be noted. 

2.2 The Cwm Taf Regional Plan 2018-23 be endorsed.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (“the Act”) came into effect on 
6th April 2016. 

Date Written 31st January 2018*
Report Author Nicola Davies/Lisa Curtis Jones
Service Area Social Services
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st February 2018

Page 187

Agenda Item 11



3.2 The Act requires that Local Authorities and their Local Health Board establish a 
Regional Partnership Board to manage and develop services to secure strategic 
planning and partnership working between Local Authorities and Local Health 
Boards and to ensure effective services, care and support are in place to best meet 
the needs of their population.

3.3 The Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board (''the Board'') is 
established; currently Chaired by Councillor Geraint Hopkins, RCT Cabinet Member 
for Adult and Children's Community Services.

3.4 The focus has been on the preparatory work to establish the strategic frameworks to 
guide service development over the next 5-10 years and the completion of the 
Population Assessment in 2017 was a significant milestone for the Board in that 
regard.

3.5 In response to the Population Assessment, a Joint Area Plan must be produced by 
1st April 2018 by the two Local Authorities and the University Health Board under the 
direction of the Board. 

3.6 Welsh Government has issued statutory guidance on the development of the plan 
that states that joint area plans must include:

 the actions partners will take in relation to the priority areas of integration for 
regional partnership boards;

 the instances and details of pooled funds to be established in response to the 
population assessment;

 how services will be procured or arranged to be delivered, including by alternative 
delivery models;

 details of the preventative services that will be provided or arranged;
 actions being taken in relation to the provision of information, advice and 

assistance services; and
 actions required to deliver services through the medium of Welsh.

4.0 CWM TAF DRAFT REGIONAL PLAN (AREA PLAN IN TERMS OF 
THE SSWB ACT)

4.1 The Population Assessment was required to include specific Core themes dealing 
with:

 children and young people;
 older people;
 health/physical disabilities;
 learning disability/autism;
 mental health;
 sensory impairment;
 carers who need support; and
 violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

4.2 The Area Plan must focus on how partners will deliver integrated services in relation 
to these Core themes but must prioritise the integration of services for: 

Page 188



 Older people with complex needs and long term conditions, including dementia; 
 People with learning disabilities; 
 Carers, including young carers; 
 Integrated Family Support Services: and 
 Children with complex needs due to disability or illness.

4.3 It is recognised that there will also be common issues and cross cutting themes, not 
least because, as we found in our population assessment, people can have multiple 
needs and do not always see themselves as “belonging” to one particular client 
group. 

4.4 While it is recognised that there may be individual local/geographical solutions to 
address some priorities, we have to describe what we want to achieve as a region. 

 
4.5 In developing the draft Cwm Taf Regional Plan, good progress has already been 

made in relation to a number of Core themes with the development of Statements of 
Intent or new Strategies. These have taken on board the findings of the Population 
assessment and are integral components of the Regional Plan. 

4.6 For other themes, there is more to do and/or a need to work with other strategic 
partnerships in Cwm Taf who will take a lead in planning and delivering the actions 
required eg. the Mental Health Partnership and the Community Safety Partnership or 
to develop an agreed joint approach and actions eg. for physical disability and 
sensory impairment.    

 
4.7 The Transformation Leadership Group (TLG) considered the draft plan at its meeting 

in November and endorsed its use as the basis for engagement during December 
with a range of stakeholders - engagement activity is discussed in section 6 below. 
The Partnership Board also considered the draft Plan at its meeting in January 2018 
but this was before the outcome of engagement could be taken into account. 

4.8 The intention is that there will be a longer detailed/technical version of the Regional 
Plan but that there will also be a series of infographics/plan on a page summaries for 
the key client groups. These will then become our public facing summary document 
for wider use and distribution. 

5.0 APPROVAL PROCESS

5.1 The first Area Plan must be published by 1st April 2018. The SSWB Partnership 
Board is the body responsible for directing the creation and implementation of the 
Plan. There is no requirement for the Area Plan to be taken through Local Authority 
Councils or Boards of the UHB. 

5.2 The usual practice in Cwm Taf has been for the Partnership Board to endorse 
reports such as the Statements of Intent before then recommending them for further 
endorsement by both Cabinets and the UHB.  The timeline of scheduled meetings 
made this difficult as the SSWB Partnership Board meeting on January 11th was too 
soon to allow for feedback from engagement but the following meeting in March will 
be too late.  

Page 189



5.3 The following process was therefore agreed by TLG and the Board:  

RCT CBC - Cabinet 15th February 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC - Cabinet 21st February 
UHB Executive Board - 21st February 
UHB Board Development session - 28th February 

Endorsement by SSWB Partnership Board, taking account of any comments from 
LA/UHB meetings - 1ST March. 

 
Translation and publication by 1st April.

6.0 CONSULTATION

6.1 The statutory guidance requires that we must ensure reasonable steps are taken 
and a procedure established to engage with people who have care and support 
needs, including children, parents and carers. However it also states that 
engagement with citizens when preparing the Area Plan does not need to be as far 
reaching as the extensive citizen engagement carried out when undertaking the 
Population Assessment. There is therefore no requirement for formal consultation. 

6.2 TLG agreed that the approach to engagement on the Regional Plan should focus on: 

 Using Engagement and consultation from developing the Strategic Statements 
and regional pieces of work already underway.

 Revisiting relevant recent or planned engagement and consultation undertaken 
regionally or by partners.

 Linking into consultation on the Cwm Taf Draft Well-being Plan.
 Engaging a one-off Community Panel to focus on the key messages and 

priorities. 
 Linking into our existing stakeholder groups eg. Cwm Taf Social Value Network; 

Cwm Taf Community Health Council; Third Sector Health; and Social Care 
Forum.

6.3 In November 2017, TLG approved a draft version of the Regional Plan to be used as 
the basis for engagement.  We held 3 facilitated community panels in December 
2017 in Abercynon, Pontypridd and Merthyr Tydfil to test the priorities and actions 
identified in the plan and to enable people to have their say.  These focussed 
sessions were made up of individuals who have experience of using health and 
social care services, or who are carers of people who use health and social care 
services.  Those who attended were encouraged to share their own experiences and 
explore good practice though positive experiences, or use negative experiences to 
frame improvement opportunities. 

6.4 At each event a presentation which gave an overview of the plan was provided, 
together with opportunities for questions.  This was followed by facilitated 
discussions which focussed on six key areas which reflected the overarching themes 
of the 2017 Population Assessment:

 Getting information, advice and assistance;
 Stopping problems before they start;

Page 190



 Stopping problems before they get worse;
 Connecting you to your community;
 Seamless services; and
 Making it personal and working together with you.

6.5 The information gathered at each of the events provided a rich source of information 
to inform the development of the Regional Plan.  It was felt that the priorities and 
issues identified were broadly the right ones.  Running through all three events was 
the importance of communication, the need for good quality information and the 
value of community assets.  The willingness to engage, encourage others to engage 
and stay involved came though from all the attendees. 

6.6 The Report of the Community Panels has informed the development of the Regional 
Plan.  The detailed ideas and examples expressed will be fed into the specific pieces 
of work and the next steps we take to develop and deliver on the Actions in the Plan. 

6.7 The report has also been shared with those responsible for developing and 
delivering the Cwm Taf Well-being Plan as there are many common areas of 
interest, particularly around the use of existing assets and working with communities. 

6.8 We have taken account of the statutory consultation undertaken during October to 
December 2017 for the Cwm Taf Draft Well-being Plan.  This did include a number 
of responses raising specific issues around health and social care provision, 
including primary care and mental health services as well as identifying the need for 
improvements to transport, the environment and housing.  Whilst some of these 
areas are not the responsibility of the SSWB Partnership Board, they can impact on 
people’s well-being and need for care and support and we will work with the Cwm 
Taf Public Services Board on joint actions where appropriate. 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 There are no direct financial implications aligned to this report for the Council, 
however, the implementation of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 
requires a stronger emphasis on community and universal prevention services and 
the draft Regional Plan supports the on-going shift of resources away from traditional 
long term services and towards services that promote wellbeing and independence.

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1 A comprehensive Equality Impact Assessment is required.  It builds on the EQIAs 
already undertaken during the development of the Joint Commissioning Statement 
for Older People’s Services 2015-25; the Joint Statement of Strategic Intent for 
Children, Young People, and Adults with Learning Disabilities (that includes autism 
and complex needs) and their families; the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy; all previously 
endorsed by Cabinet.

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR                

SOCIAL SERVICES

Page 191



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 192



Page | 1

DRAFT 

CWM TAF REGIONAL PLAN 
2018-23

Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing 
Partnership Board

                                                

P
age 193



Page | 2

CONTENTS Page 

Foreword from the Chair of the Cwm Taf Social Services and Well-being Partnership Board      4

Overview of Plan                        6

1.  Background and context         

1.1 Purpose of the Regional Plan                        7
1.2 Cwm Taf Population Assessment       8
1.3 Contributing to Local Well-being      12
1.4 Development of the Regional Plan      16
1.5 How will we know we are making a difference?               18

2. Regional Priorities
2.1. Integrated Services                         19      
2.2. Cross cutting priorities                        20

Core theme chapters

3. Children and Young people 27
4. Learning disabilities and autism 37
5. Older People 49
6. Carers          57

P
age 194



Page | 3

7. Physical disability and sensory impairment 66 
8. Mental health                     70   
9. Violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence  75

Appendices

1. SSWB  National Outcomes Framework for people who need care and support                          79

2. Summary overview of Regional Priorities                      81

P
age 195



Page | 4

Foreword from the Chair of the Cwm Taf Social Services and Well-being Partnership 
Board

As the Chair of the Cwm Taf SSWB Partnership Board, I am pleased to introduce the Region’s first Area Plan 
which has been produced in response to the Population Assessment we produced last year. 

This plan, which we will call the Cwm Taf Regional Plan, is the focus for our work in partnership across Merthyr 
Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf to deliver better services for our citizens who need care and support. Each of the 
partner organisations in Cwm Taf provides a wide range of services that respond to the needs of vulnerable 
children, young people, adults and families. We are all committed to providing high quality, responsive and 
sustainable services but we recognise that to transform our services to meet the challenges we face, we must 
do things differently but also do different things. This means working more effectively across public services, 
the Third sector, the independent sector and with our service users, carers and communities. This Plan sets out 
our ambition in prioritising prevention, early intervention and delivering integrated services closer to home.

The Regional Plan does not replicate the plans of individual organisations like the Health Board or Local 
Authority but identifies those actions we will need to do together across the Cwm Taf Region to succeed in 
meeting the requirements of the SSWB Act as well as the outcomes our service users and carers want to 
achieve. Where appropriate, the Plan will therefore signpost to other relevant groups that have responsibility to 
lead and deliver change which will support the work of the SSWB Partnership. 

P
age 196



Page | 5

This Regional Plan is an important step forward in setting out our common agenda over the coming 5 years. 
We will need to review the Actions in the Plan annually to see if we are making progress, and making it quickly 
enough. It will also need to be flexible enough to take account of any further changes we need to make, for 
example in response to the Parliamentary Review of Health and Social Care, published in January 2018, or the 
outcome of Welsh Government consultation on proposals to align the Bridgend Local Authority catchment 
population with that of Cwm Taf. 

The SSWB Act is about changing the focus of care and support services, putting people at the heart of the new 
system and what we do. By involving people and communities in their own care and support services, public 
services can make sure that the right services are provided at the right time in the right place. Together with 
greater integration between health and social care, we will be able to help people stay well for longer and fulfil 
our commitment to deliver more care at home and in the community. This will mean that services are more 
likely to empower the people using them to achieve the outcomes and results they want.

I look forward to working with you in making this Plan a reality.

 

Cllr Geraint Hopkins 

Chair Cwm Taf SSWB Partnership Board 

P
age 197



Page | 6

P
age 198



Page | 7

1. Background and context 

1.1 Purpose of the Regional Plan 

The purpose of this Regional Plan is to set out how the Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board 
will respond to the findings of the Cwm Taf Population Assessment published in April 2017. (The Social Services 
and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 requires us to develop an Area Plan - in Cwm Taf we are calling this our Regional 
Plan).

In order to provide a better future for the people of Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT) and Merthyr Tydfil, public services 
must understand the population that live in the area now and the population likely to live here in the future. This 
involves an understanding of the wider context of people's lives, what is important to communities, the things 
impacting on their wellbeing and their individual need for care and support. 

The completion of the Population Assessment in 2017 has been a significant milestone for the Cwm Taf SSWB 
Partnership Board. The Population Assessment included a range of both quantative and qualitative data which has 
helped us to understand better what matters to our residents and communities. We believe that the Assessment 
provides us with a stronger platform from which we can develop and deliver our future plans together, including 
the commissioning of innovative solutions and new models of service delivery, in line with the requirements of the 
SSWB Act. 

This Regional Plan is our response to what the Cwm Taf Population Assessment told us.  It is a five year plan, 
prepared in line with statutory guidance issued by Welsh Government. However, the priorities and actions 
identified will be monitored quarterly and reviewed annually to ensure their delivery is having the outcomes and 
impact needed. They will be updated and amended as appropriate to reflect any changes needed to ensure that 
we are empowering and enabling people in Cwm Taf who need care and support to live the best lives they can and 
achieve the outcomes that matter to them.

P
age 199



Page | 8

1.2 Cwm Taf Population Assessment

What is it?

The SSWB Act introduced a new duty on Local Authorities and Health Boards to undertake and publish an 
assessment of the care and support needs of people in the area, including carers who need support. 

You can find the Cwm Taf Population Assessment here.

The SSWB Act required us to look at the care and support needs of the following groups of people in particular:

Carers;

Children and young people;

People with learning disabilities;

People with mental health problems/illness;

Older people;

People with physical disabilities;

People with sensory impairments and;

Violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

We produced a briefing document for each of these groups (core themes) and also an overarching report. 

P
age 200

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment


Page | 9

Popul
ation
Need

s 
Asse
ssme

ntBriefing documents for 
core themes  

Technical library with more detail and 
information

                                    

How did we produce the Assessment?

Understanding the care and support needs of people is not just about statistics; it includes the views and 
experiences of those working in the public, independent and voluntary sectors and, more importantly, service 
users and carers themselves. 

Our engagement activity was called “Understanding our Communities”. We encouraged as many people and 
groups as possible to have their say, undertaking a wide range of engagement activities including focus groups, 
public meetings, stakeholder workshops and online questionnaires. 

We focussed wherever possible on an asset based approach, building on the strengths of individuals and 
communities, finding out what works well and what was important to people who have care and support needs. 
We also discussed how better to prevent problems or provide support at an earlier stage before problems get 
worse or reach a crisis point.  

P
age 201



Page | 10

What did it tell us?

The key findings for each core theme are summarised in each section of the Regional Plan below. The Assessment 
gave us an opportunity to find out about and reflect on the current position, identify gaps and in particular what 
matters to our service users and our residents. This information has shaped how we intend to make changes and 
improvements through the actions in this Plan.

However, the Assessment does not tell us everything we need to know and our understanding of the care and 
support needs in Cwm Taf will need to be kept under review and updated regularly. For some service areas, such 
as those for people with physical disabilities and sensory impairments, the Assessment was a very important 
starting point as it has shown us that further work needs to be done locally to understand more fully the issues 
faced by different people in Cwm Taf using those services and how services need to be delivered differently. These 
gaps in our knowledge will be reflected in the specific core theme chapters later in this Plan.

In addition to the findings for each core theme, there were also many cross cutting and common issues, not least 
because people “belong” to more than one client group (or theme as identified by the Act) and have a range of 
needs. These “overarching themes” are the things which are common to more than one category and will have an 
impact on how public services and our partners should meet the care and support needs of people in Cwm Taf in 
the future. People reminded us to look at the whole person and not just one particular problem they might be 
facing.

In developing this Regional Plan, we have tried to take account of these overlaps, for example, our plans for older 
people and plans for mental health services have been developed together to support people with dementia 
effectively; in relation to children’s needs, issues relating to mental health, domestic violence and substance 
misuse are also relevant; carers can also fit into each of the other core theme groups; the involvement of housing 
and education alongside health and social care services has also been considered.

P
age 202



Page | 11

The findings for each core theme are summarised in the relevant sections of this Plan, together with the actions 
being planned in response and which organisations or strategic Partnerships are taking the lead responsibility. The 
overarching themes from our Population assessment are listed below and the issues raised are addressed in the 
section on our Regional priorities (section 2) and core theme sections as appropriate.

  The OVERARCHING THEMES highlighted in the Cwm Taf Assessment:

 Using our data more effectively

We need to share and make use of data between partners more effectively so that service users and carers do 
not have to keep “telling their story” to different staff and providers, feeling that their care is not coordinated 
and organisations are working in silos. We need to be able to measure success more meaningfully, capturing 
data, including service user views and experiences, that can tell us what impact services have had and the 
outcomes for individuals. 

 Information: finding out more about support and services 

Knowing where to go to easily find information, advice and assistance is still a challenge for many service users 
and carers. Staff also are often unaware of the broad range of support available to help people, particularly 
through local voluntary and community groups. We need to find better ways of collecting, sharing, using and 
updating information about local services and how to access them. 

 Connections 

Our Assessment highlighted the value of connections in a number of ways, not just the practical challenges of 
transport connections in our valley communities. We need to develop ways of bringing people together to 
create strong, thriving and active communities that can support each other, foster a sense of belonging and 
inclusion.

P
age 203



Page | 12

 Working together 

To meet the care and support needs of our residents and also ensure we make the best use of our resources, 
there is more work to do to improve collaboration between partners and deliver more integrated services. In 
particular we also need to understand and embrace an approach known as co-production.

 Stopping problems before they start or get worse

There must be more focus on preventative services that empower and support people to manage their own 
health and well-being. When extra help is needed, we need early intervention and an approach that supports 
independence rather than waiting until there is a crisis which often then requires more specialist intensive 
services. 

 Making it personal: being listened to and understood 

The people who informed our population assessment emphasised that everyone who has care and support 
needs must be treated as an individual, with their own issues, challenges and ways of dealing with them. They 
asked us to “see the person, not the problem” and ensure their voice and wishes are listened to and they are 
actively involved in developing solutions to meet their needs. 

1.3. Contributing to local Well-being 

This Regional Plan is a response to the needs of people for care and support. However in addition to this Regional 
Plan, the Cwm Taf Public Services Board have been developing the local Well-being Plan in response to the Well-
being of Future Generations Act which requires public bodies to address seven national well-being goals and act in 
five ways that will ensure sustainable development.  These are shown in the diagrams below. 

P
age 204



Page | 13

P
age 205



Page | 14

The Cwm Taf Well-being Plan 2018-23 can be found here (to be published April 2018 -add link) It has three well-
being objectives 

 To promote safe, confident, strong and thriving communities, improving the wll-being of residents and 
visitors and building on our community assets; 

 To help people live long and healthy lives and overcome any challenges and;
 To grow a strong local economy with sustainable transport that attracts people to live, work and play in Cwm 

Taf. 

P
age 206



Page | 15

The Well-being Plan is based on a model of well-being which is illustrated below: 

Assets:
Physical
Mental
Emotional 
Social

Challenges:
Physical
Mental
Emotional 
Social

Source:  adapted from Dodge R, et al (2012) The challenge of defining wellbeing, International 
Journal of Wellbeing, 2 (3) 22-235

Well-being is about people having the ‘assets’ they need to meet the ‘challenges’ they face in their everyday lives. 
These assets can include skills, family support, education and good health. Challenges could be poor health, 
bullying, neglect or violence at home. When people have more challenges than assets their well-being dips. 
Similarly if someone has many assets but few challenges, they may not feel fulfilled and that can also tip the see-
saw. Differences in opportunity, experience and health can have a poor effect on wellbeing and then also on needs 
for care and support.

P
age 207



Page | 16

Given the cross cutting nature of issues that impact on well-being, many of the findings of the Well-being 
Assessment are also relevant to people who have care and support needs.  We have therefore highlighted these in 
the relevant core theme sections of the Regional Plan. There are parts of both Plans that affect the well-being of 
people who also have care and support needs so it is important that the two Plans complement each other. We 
have therefore identified actions which are being taken jointly with the Cwm Taf Public Services Board.  

1.4. Development of the Regional Plan

The Cwm Taf Regional Plan has been developed by a partnership steering group reporting to the region’s 
Transformation Leadership Group and the SSWB Partnership Board.  Membership of the steering group includes 
representation from RCT and Merthyr Tydfil Local Authorities, Cwm Taf UHB and the Third Sector. 

(You can find out more information about the members of the Partnership Board, their role and the work they 
have been leading in their Annual Report for 2016/17 which you can find here 
http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/GetInvolved/Campaigns/SocialServicesandWellbeingAct/RelatedDocuments/CwmTaf
SocialServicesandWellbeingPartnershipBoardAnnualReport20162017.pdf

The Population Assessment for the Regional Plan was undertaken jointly with the Well-being Assessment required 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2016. More information about this is included in section 
1.3. Members of the Steering group have been involved with the development of the Cwm Taf Public Services 
Board draft Well-being Plan to ensure both plans complement each other and we work together to implement joint 
priorities. These common actions are highlighted in the relevant sections of the Regional Plan. 

Following the considerable engagement on the Population and Well-being Assessments, there has subsequently 
been further involvement of a range of stakeholders in the ongoing work to develop components of both Plans. In 
relation to the Regional Plan, much of this was targeted, for example to engage on plans for children and young 
people and also proposals for people with learning disability. These activities are outlined in the relevant sections 
of the Regional Plan. 

P
age 208

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/GetInvolved/Campaigns/SocialServicesandWellbeingAct/RelatedDocuments/CwmTafSocialServicesandWellbeingPartnershipBoardAnnualReport20162017.pdf
http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/GetInvolved/Campaigns/SocialServicesandWellbeingAct/RelatedDocuments/CwmTafSocialServicesandWellbeingPartnershipBoardAnnualReport20162017.pdf


Page | 17

We also held 3 Community Panels in Abercynon, Porth and Merthyr Tydfil in December 2017 to seek views on the 
draft Regional Plan. Facilitated discussions focussed on six key themes which had been identified in the Population 
Assessment and which the Regional Plan seeks to address: 

 Getting information, advice and assistance 
 Stopping problems before they start
 Stopping problems before they get worse
 Connecting you to your community
 Seamless services 
 Making it personal and working together with you 

Members of the Community Panels had an opportunity to respond to the Regional Plan which included 

 Identifying positive opportunities for co-production and building on community assets.
 Identifying good practice in relation to the provision of information advice and assistance that supports 

resilience and well-being.
 Exploring what outcomes people would expect from efficient and reliable community services.
 How they want to be kept informed on progress and the changes to the area plan.

The feedback from each event has provided a rich source of information that has informed the development of the 
Regional Plan. It was felt that the priorities and issues identified were broadly the right ones. Running through all 
three events was the importance of communication, the need for good quality information and the value of 
community assets. The willingness to engage, encourage others to engage and stay involved came though from all 
the attendees. 

The Report of the Community Panels can be found here (link to be added) and the detailed ideas and examples 
expressed will also be fed into specific pieces of work and the next steps we take to deliver on the Actions in the 
Plan. This report has been shared with those responsible for developing and delivering the Cwm Taf Well-being 

P
age 209



Page | 18

Plan as there are many common areas of interest, particularly around the use of existing assets, working more 
effectively together with communities to build resilience and tackling loneliness and isolation.

In addition to the various engagement activities relating specifically to the Regional Plan, we have also taken 
account of the statutory consultation undertaken during October to December 2017 for the Cwm Taf Well-being 
Plan. This did include a number of responses raising specific issues around health and social care provision, 
including primary care and mental health services as well as identifying the need for improvements to transport, 
the environment and housing. Whilst some of these areas are not the responsibility of the SSWB Partnership 
Board, they can impact on people’s well-being and need for care and support, and we will work with the Cwm Taf 
Public Services Board on joint actions where appropriate. 

Similarly, in terms of maximising the contribution and impact other plans can have in delivering our SSWB 
priorities, we will be working together with Primary care services as they implement  local Cluster plans which 
include initiatives to encourage coproduction and behavioural change and increase access to locally based services 
closer to home.   

1.5. How will we know we have made a difference?

Progress against delivery of the Regional Plan will be included in the Cwm Taf SSWB Partnership Board’s Annual 
Report which will be published annually to coincide with reporting requirements to Welsh Government. 

Implementation of the Plan will be overseen by the Region’s Joint Commissioning Group reporting to the 
Transformation Leadership Group and the Partnership Board. 

In reporting progress and monitoring the impact of our actions, we will take account of the National Outcomes 
Framework for people who need care and support and carers who need support - see Appendix 1.  As part of our 
progress reporting, we will map the relevant national outcome indicators from the Framework to the Actions in 
each section of the Regional Plan and supplement these with local performance measures as appropriate. 

P
age 210



Page | 19

Where actions are being led and delivered through other strategic partnerships, these will follow the appropriate 
governance requirements, for example, reporting to the Cwm Taf Public Services Board. There will also be links as 
needed to individual partner organisation’s planning and accountability mechanisms, for example through the 
UHB’s Integrated Medium Term Plan and Local Authority Corporate/Improvement Plans.

2. REGIONAL PRIORITIES 

2.1. Integrated services

A number of regional priorities relate to the statutory requirement in Part 9 of the SSWB Act which states that the 
Partnership Board must prioritise the integration of services in relation to 

 Older people with complex needs and long term conditions, including dementia;
 People with learning disabilities; 
 Carers including young carers;
 Integrated Family Support Services and; 
 Children with complex needs due to disability and illness. 

Information about our integrated approach to these areas and the associated actions can be found in the relevant 
core theme section. The Statements of Intent and Strategies developed by the Cwm Taf Region (summarised in 
the sections below) are all based on the premise of delivering integrated services to people of all ages, recognising 
the contribution from a range of partners, not just health and social services. We want to build on our existing 
partnerships but also create new ones. Our approach to integration also means that for those people needing care 
and support, they must be able to say:

“My care is planned by me with people working together to understand me, my family and carer(s), giving me 
control and bringing together services to achieve the outcomes important to me.” 

P
age 211



Page | 20

This statement comes from the Welsh Government Framework for Delivering Integrated Health and Care for Older 
people but it is valid for service users and carers of all ages. We want to use coproductive approaches to listening 
to, working with and acting on what matters to our citizens and communities, responding to their aspirations and 
concerns.

All of the Statements of Intent describe service models which offer a continuum from prevention and universal 
services through early intervention for those with emerging difficulties to specialist support. Each Statement of 
Intent illustrates their model differently but the approach is the same. 

While it is recognised that there may be local/geographical solutions to address some priorities, the Plan describes 
what we want to achieve as a region. It is not about duplicating information about core business for each partner 
as this will be addressed in individual organisation plans.

Appendix 2 is a summary overview of all the Regional priorities which has been collated from sections 2- 9 below. 

 2.2. Cross cutting priorities 

The Partnership Board has identified that there are a number of priority areas for regional action that are cross 
cutting and which will impact on more than one core theme. These also assist in addressing the overarching 
findings from our Population Assessment.

The tables below summarise our plans for integrated working in relation to these cross cutting priorities. 

CC1 Implementation of Welsh Community Care Information System across the region 
How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
WCCIS Regional Partnership Group - Led by the Regional 
officer appointed will work to an agreed WCCIS 
implementation plan   

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, 

TLG will oversee the delivery of the 
WCCIS Implementation Plan 
reporting to the Partnership board on 
a biannual basis or by exception 

P
age 212



Page | 21

Key Regional Actions across Cwm Taf Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
 Determine and agree the joint implementation road map to 

include the regional vision and identified benefits
 Implement the governance structure for the Implementation of 

the project
 Set out and agree a joint communication and engagement plan to 

support the implementation roadmap 
 Appoint lead officer to lead implementation plan
 Deliver Year 1 Implementation plan  
 Review and agree detailed medium term Implementation plans 

for delivery in year 2 and beyond 

 March 
2018

 April 2018 

 May 2018
 April 2018
2018/19
2018/19 

 ICF allocation 
to fund lead 
officer role

 Core budgets 
to fund WCCIS 
system teams 
in each 
organisation

√ √ √

CC2 Development and embedding of co production as our way of working, adopting an asset based approach 
working with people and communities  
How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
Cwm Taf Wellbeing Plan  - the development of 
community zones is a joint priority for the PSB and the 
Partnership Board in Cwm Taf 

Cwm Taf Social Value Forum’s annual delivery plan will 
help support the cultural changes required to overcome 
existing barriers in order to embed coproduction across 
the partnership.

Commissioning Plans will take a coproductive approach to 
working with citizens, communities and the third sector

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, Police, South 
Wales Fire and Rescue 
Service, Natural Resources 
Wales, Probation services, 
Police and Crime 
Commissioner. 

The Cwm Taf Strategic Partnership 
Board  will oversee the progress of 
the Community Zones and report to 
the PSB and  Partnership Board on a 
biannual basis or by exception 

The TLG will oversee the delivery of 
the Social Value Forum work plan 
reporting to the Partnership board on 
a biannual basis or by exception 

P
age 213



Page | 22

Key Regional Actions across Cwm Taf Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
 Development of Community Zones as an area or place based 

approach, focussing support to improve outcomes for residents 
with the greatest challenges, including Adverse Childhood 
Experiences

 Deliver the Community Zone approach in Gurnos and Upper 
Rhondda Fach 

 Roll out learning from these communities in areas of greatest 
need 

 Cwm Taf Social Value Forum to develop the road map to support 
the cultural changes required to overcome existing barriers in 
embedding coproduction across the partnership (e.g. 
Commissioning process, training etc.) through an annual delivery 
plan.

 Development of an engagement strategy to facilitate 
communication between citizens, communities and the third 
sector and the Partnership Board.

 Implementation of the agreed delivery plan and engagement 
strategy.

 Evaluation of performance against the year 1 agreed delivery 
plan and engagement strategy to inform year 2 plans and beyond 

 

Ongoing (led 
by PSB)

Year 1-2 

Years 2-5 

Ongoing

May 2018 

Year 1

April  2019

Core budgets
Communities 
1st , Flying 
Start and 
Family First 
Grant 

√ √ √

P
age 214



Page | 23

CC3 Development of  Cwm Taf Regional Commissioning arrangements 
How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
The Regional 'Area' plan RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 

CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector

The TLG will oversee the operational 
delivery plans for the commissioning 
resource reporting to the Partnership 
board on a bi-monthly basis 

Key Regional Actions across Cwm Taf Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
 Agree the structure, role and responsibility of the regional team 

and the hosting arrangements 
 Recruit, Appoint and induct the staff to the team 
 Implement the year 1 work programme for the team
 Review regional arrangements in light of the proposed Health 

board and Regional boundary changes 
 Implement revised regional team following Health board and 

Regional boundary changes

April 2018

June 2018
2018/19
September 
2018
TBD 
(following 
consultation)

 Core budgets 
(eg Delivering 
Transformation 
Grant)

√ √ √

CC4 Development of Independent Professional Advocacy for those who need it ( based on requirements of  Part 
10 of SSWB Act)
How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
Regional Commissioning arrangements will support a 
regional action plan to develop a consistent approach to 
advocacy across the region 

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector 

The TLG will oversee the 
development of advocacy in the 
region reporting to the Partnership 
board on a bi-annual basis 

P
age 215



Page | 24

Key Regional Actions across Cwm Taf Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
 Complete the individual advocacy action plans for adult services 

developed following the self assessment in June 2017
 Review progress of each individual organisation regarding 

advocacy action plans for adult services and consider a Regional 
approach to the planning and commissioning of advocacy led and 
overseen by the regional commissioning team  

 Continue to implement and monitor the National Advocacy 
arrangements for children and young people 

April 2018

June 2018

On-going 

 Core budgets
√ √ √

CC5 Ensure consistent, timely and easy access to information, advice and assistance that supports resilience and 
wellbeing 
How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
Cwm Taf Wellbeing Plan  - the development of 
community zones is a joint priority for the PSB and the 
Partnership Board in Cwm Taf  -  see action CC2

Cwm Taf Social Value Forum’s annual delivery plan will 
embed coproduction and its engagement strategy will 
facilitate communication between citizens, communities 
and the third sector and the Partnership Board.

Delivery of this function will primarily be through the 
implementation of specific statements of intent which 

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector 

The Cwm Taf Strategic Partnership 
Board  will oversee the progress of 
the Community Zones and report to 
the PSB and  Partnership Board on a 
biannual basis or by exception 

The TLG will oversee the 
development of IAA in the region 
reporting to the Partnership Board 
regarding the Dewis directory on a 
bi-annual basis 

P
age 216



Page | 25

have provision of IAA at their heart. However the regional 
development of Dewis will be through the Regional Dewis 
Steering Group

Key Regional Actions across Cwm Taf Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
 Community Zones  - see CC2 above 
 Work with our communities to provide consistent messages, links 

and signposting to community, public sector and business 
support within and close to communities

 Cwm Taf Social Value forum to develop the engagement strategy 
to govern the communication arrangements between community 
groups and the Partnership board

 Cwm Taf Regional team to co-ordinate the IAA developments 
across all the Statement of Intent work plans

 Review the content and functionality of the Dewis Directory
 Develop and implement a marketing strategy for the Dewis 

directory to promote its use for the public and expand 
functionality to include a wider group of services (i.e. FIS and 
111 service)

 Evaluate implementation and impact of IAA services 
 Support the development of local Health Parks and Cluster Hubs 

as part of the implementation plan for integrated health and care 
centres 

 Support opportunities to implement social prescribing and 
wellbeing initiatives to influence cultural and behavioural change, 
supporting people to access community activities and services 
which can help address people’s needs in non clinical, holistic 

In PSB ‘s 
Well-being 
Plan 

May 2018

Ongoing

June 2018

June 2018

2019/20
2018/19

Ongoing

 
Core budgets

Primary Care 
fund/WG 
Pipeline 
investment 

Primary care 
Cluster plans 

√ √ √

P
age 217



Page | 26

ways eg Arts based therapies in sessions; Make Every Contact 
Count training; Men and Women Sheds development; Cluster 
Wellbeing Coordinators and Support officers in GP practices

 Ensure the work of the Partnership Board meets the 
requirements of the Welsh Language Act (e.g. communications, 
engagement and publications etc.)

Ongoing  

CC6 Secure a sustainable and good quality workforce across Health and social Care 
How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Partnership  
- Workforce development plan 

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector 

The SCWDP will oversee the 
development of a workforce strategy 
in the region update  the Partnership 
Board on a bi-annual basis 

Key Regional Actions across Cwm Taf Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
 Implementation of the whole sector Recruitment and Retention 

action plan 
 Implementation Plan to prepare social care sector for the RISCA 

(Regulation and Inspection Act)
 Implementation of the Social Care Wales Care at Home Strategy 
 Implementation of the Cwm Taf Social Care workforce training 

plan

April 2018/ 
2019 

Facilitation 
Grant
SCWDP Grant
Core funds

√ √ √

P
age 218



Page | 27

3. CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

3.1. What did the Population Assessment tell us? 

 In 2015, there were 89,772 children and young people aged 0-24 living in Cwm Taf which represents 30% of 
the total population. The 0-24 age population group has been declining in Cwm Taf since 2011. 

 42% of children are living in poverty in Cwm Taf. Merthyr Tydfil had the second highest level of child poverty 
in Wales at 26.3%. The equivalent figure in RCT was 24.7%; 

 There are high levels of children living in low income households and lone parent households;
 2,625 children in need (including Disability) live in Cwm Taf and make  up 13.5% of all  children in need in 

Wales; 
 2,615 children and young people are reported to have experienced mental ill-health in Cwm Taf and make 

up 13.5 % of all cases in Wales;
 765 children and young people are Looked After in Cwm Taf, which is 13.5 % of all CYP looked after in 

Wales. 555 children and young people are on the Child Protection Register in Cwm Taf, and make up 18.5% 
of all such children in Wales. Children known to social services have a much lower wellbeing score than 
children from the general population; 

 1 in 5 children in Wales report low life satisfaction. From our engagement with young people in Cwm Taf, we 
found many had a negative view of their community and environment and; 

 3,263 self-reported young carers aged under 25 yrs in Cwm Taf, an increase of 16% since 2001.

P
age 219



Page | 28

 From our engagement with young people, we learnt they value the people they can trust and want to be 
listened to, with more control and influence over their lives. 

From looking at the data and from the engagement with children and young people, the population assessment 
drew out the following headline messages:

 Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) have a tremendous impact on health and wellbeing later in life. 
Children who experience stressful and poor quality childhoods are more likely to experience poor mental 
health and develop long term health conditions as they move into adulthood.

 Timely access to the right mental health care is crucial if we are to support better mental health among 
children and young people and reduce pressure on high level need services such as CAMHS.

 Levels of subjective wellbeing are found to predict future health, mortality, productivity and income.  

 We need to get better at involving children and young people, seeking their views and actively listening to 
what they say.

P
age 220



Page | 29

3.2. Our integrated approach to meeting the care and support needs of children and young people

Meeting the needs of children and young people will be a priority for the Region. Working with a wide range of 
partners and through engagement and consultation with children and young people, we have developed a draft 
Regional Strategy for Supporting Children, Young People and Families.  Link to be added 

Some of the relevant findings for children and young people from the Cwm Taf Well-being Assessment 
included: 

 Taking part in things seems to be good for everyone’s well-being; 

 Gaining new skills and qualifications to tackle the challenges we face; 

 Children are spending less time outdoors but access to safe, natural play space outdoors has been shown to 
improve children’s physical and emotional well-being; 

 A good start in life is fundamental to the well-being of future generations – children’s chances in life are 
strongly influenced by their experience during their early years, particularly the impact of Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACES) which may involve physical, emotional or sexual abuse or living in a family where there 
is parental separation, substance misuse, domestic violence or mental illness and; 

 28% of children in Cwm Taf are overweight or obese by the time they start school - this leads to problems 
later in life, both physical and mental. 

P
age 221



Page | 30

The strategy sets out how partners will work together to ensure high quality, accessible and integrated services 
that will help children, young people, families and communities quickly and effectively. It includes a shared vision, 
principles and objectives that will direct the work of all partners over the period 2017-2022.

The draft Regional Strategy will be subject to further consultation with stakeholders and finalised in early 2018. 

Our draft shared vision is that: 

The shared principles that we will promote are to:

 Work better in partnership with local children, young people, families and communities to help them achieve 
their personal well-being outcomes and build resilience; 

 Work positively with children, young people and families taking a strengths-based, co-production approach; 

 Take a place based approach to working collaboratively in and with communities to develop the best possible 
environment for them to thrive and; 

 Focus our intensive support on those children and young people who need help to deal with significant 
adverse experiences.

Children, young people and families in Cwm Taf live safe, healthy and fulfilled lives and that they are 
able to achieve their full potential by building resilient communities.

P
age 222



Page | 31

There are three central themes to the Cwm Taf Shared Vision. 

This approach is shown in the diagram below:

Pathway to improving outcomes

3.3. What does good look like for children and young people

We will use these outcomes to tell us if we have been successful: 

P
age 223



Page | 32

 Children, young people and families in Cwm Taf live safe, healthy and fulfilled lives and achieve their full 
potential;

 Families and communities are more resilient and independent; 
 Our focus on communities gives children, young people and families the best possible environment to thrive 

and;
 The balance of resource shifts from safeguarding, substitute and complex care to early and targeted help.

3.4. What does good look like for children who are looked after

We will use these outcomes to tell us if we have been successful

 More children and young people are supported to live with their families safely; 
 More parents and carers are supported to help their children live with their families safely;
 The wellbeing and opportunities of children and young people who become looked after are improved and;
 People who need our support experience a seamless service that will help them achieve the things that 

matter to their wellbeing

3.5 Key actions 

The draft Regional Strategy includes shared objectives, a number of which are reflected in the tables below 
together with examples of actions we will take to meet them. During year 1 of the Regional Plan, 2018/19, these 
will be revised if needed, together with the identification of further Actions as appropriate, following approval of 
the Regional Strategy for Children, Young People and Families. Implementation will proceed with increased 
momentum and pace following the establishment of the Regional Commissioning Team from April 2018. 

P
age 224



Page | 33

CYP1: We will have the right universal services at the right time to promote wellbeing achievement and 
independence

How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
Cwm Taf Wellbeing Plan  - the development of 
community zones is a joint priority for the PSB and the 
Partnership Board in Cwm Taf 

The Cwm Taf CYP steering group will manage the 
implementation of the Regional strategy for supporting 
children, young people and families

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector 

The Cwm Taf Strategic Partnership 
Board  will oversee the progress of 
the Community Zones and report to 
the PSB and  Partnership Board on a 
biannual basis or by exception 

The TLG will oversee the 
development of  the Regional 
strategy for supporting children, 
young people and families in the 
region reporting to the Partnership 
Board regarding the on a bi-monthly 
basis 

Key Regional Actions Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
 Work to achieve an integrated place-based approach to building 

resilient communities that prevents and mitigates the effects of 
adverse childhood experiences (ACESs) starting with the community 
zone pilots for Gurnos and Ferndale. See CC2 

 Invest in and collaborate with our local communities to support 
children, young people and families’ learning, resilience, and 
wellbeing  - for example by providing good quality (co-produced) 
and widely accessible  information available to the public 

2018-19

2018/2020

Core budgets
Grant 
allocations 
Community 
assets
Volunteers
Third sector 
support

√ √ √

P
age 225



Page | 34

Community 
groups
Primary care 
cluster monies 

CYP2: We will focus on early help for those with emerging difficulties

How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
The Cwm Taf CYP steering group will manage the 
implementation of the Regional strategy for supporting 
children, young people and families

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector 

The TLG will oversee the 
development of  the Regional 
strategy for supporting children, 
young people and families in the 
region reporting to the Partnership 
Board regarding the on a bi-monthly 
basis 

Key Regional Actions across Cwm Taf Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
 Co-produce shared plans for the development and organisation of 

early help interventions in localities, underpinned by information 
sharing, joint-working arrangements and the active involvement of 
children, young people and families in their co-production

2018/20
Core budgets
Community 
assets
Volunteers
Third sector 
support
Community 
groups
Primary care 
cluster monies 

√ √ √

P
age 226



Page | 35

CYP3 We will target intensive support for those who are really struggling

How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
The Cwm Taf CYP steering group will manage the 
implementation of the Regional strategy for supporting 
children, young people and families

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector 

The TLG will oversee the 
development of  the Regional 
strategy for supporting children, 
young people and families in the 
region reporting to the Partnership 
Board regarding the on a bi-monthly 
basis 

The Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board will 
advise on the development of any 
proposed joint safeguarding 
arrangements 

Key Regional Actions across Cwm Taf Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
 Enhance partner’s joint arrangements for safeguarding, risk 

assessment and information sharing, ensuring that they are 
successful in protecting children, young people and vulnerable adults 
in communities.  

 Provide a full range of integrated services for children, young people 
and families’ with complex needs to provide care and support at the 
right time and place.

 Continue to implement the agreed 2016 statement of intent for 
children and young people who are looked after (LINK)

 Implement a shared framework for the assessment, eligibility and 

2018/2020

2016/2020

 
√ √ √

P
age 227



Page | 36

support for children, young people and families, to ensure we are 
collaborating effectively across professions and agencies. 

 Extend the IFST pooled budget already in place to support delivery 
of a continuum of family support services across Cwm Taf and 
increase our overall proportional spend in this area.

2018/19

2018/19

P
age 228



Page | 37

4. LEARNING DISABILITY INCLUDING AUTISM  

4.1. What did the population assessment tell us?

 There are about 5,500 people in Cwm Taf who have a learning disability and about 2,500 of these are 
children and young people; 

 About 740 children and young people in Cwm Taf have an Autistic Spectrum Disorder and some of them will 
also have a learning disability;

 There is forecast to be only a small increase in the number of children aged 0-17 with a learning disability by 
2025. However there is expected to be a rise in the number of people aged 55-64 and 75 and over with a 
moderate or severe learning disability. Although small in number, these individuals are more likely to need 
some degree of support; 

 Whilst only a small number of people with learning disabilities currently use specialist services (such as those 
provided by the Disabled Children’s teams in RCT or Merthyr Tydfil, or the secondary care services for adults 
in Cwm Taf provided by Abertawe Bro Morgannwg Health Board) those that do appear to have more 
complicated needs, for example more challenging behavioural difficulties.;

 More people with learning disabilities and their families want to live in the same way as everyone else and 
have the opportunity and support to live independently. Not enough people access education and 
employment services; 

 People with learning disability are at increased risk of experiencing physical and mental health problems. 
However they can often find it difficult to access universal and community services in the same way as 
everyone else or to access services in times of urgency and; 

 Services need to be more flexible and work more collaboratively to see the person, not the problem.

P
age 229



Page | 38

  

Some of the relevant findings for people with learning disability from the Cwm Taf Well-being Assessment 
included: 

 People need to feel part of their community and many want to offer their time, skills and connections; 

 Gaining new skills and qualifications to tackle the challenges we face and; 

 Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy are improving in Cwm Taf. However, outcomes for our 
population are determined by the inequalities that persist. 

From looking at the data and from our engagement with people with learning disability and/or autism and their 
families, the Population assessment drew out the following headline messages: 

 People with a learning disability want to be as independent as possible;
 People with a learning disability value family and friends; 
 People with a learning disability want to be part of their community;
 People with a learning disability want purposeful activities, to learn new skills and where possible have a job 

and;
 People with a learning disability want services that they find easy to use and understand.

P
age 230



Page | 39

4.2. Our integrated approach to meeting the care and support needs of people with a learning 
disability and/or autism 

Partners in Cwm Taf have worked together to develop a Joint Statement of Strategic Intent for Children, Young 
People, and Adults with Learning Disabilities (that includes autism and complex needs) and their families which 
describes a shared commitment to deliver a new model of integrated modernised learning disability services. Link 

Our shared Vision is:     

People with a learning disability will be able to access modern services that promote their 
independence, reduce reliance on long term services and emphasize choice and control.  

Children, young people and adults with a learning disability (including those people with autism and 
complex needs) will be able to access efficient and effective services that enable person centred 
outcomes and minimize escalation of need and risk through the promotion of early intervention, 
prevention, greater independence and access to opportunities.

Our Strategy for learning disability services is focused on the following key messages:

 Maximizing the use of universal services;
 Increased early intervention, prevention, information, advice and assistance;
 Building community support and developing people’s independence;
 Sustaining people in their own homes;
 Enabling people to live full lives and achieve their potential;
 Keeping people safe and;
 Making the best use of our resources

Our model is illustrated below: 

P
age 231



Page | 40

Universal Services   
The vast majority of people with learning disabilities do not require social care and live in the community with 
limited support.  People with learning disabilities are at higher risk of many physical and mental health conditions, 
have fewer opportunities to work and often experience social deprivation.  Supporting people with learning 
disabilities to lead healthy, meaningful lives and preventing the need for more intensive service provision requires 
universal services (e.g. leisure services, GPs, colleges, etc) to be accessible.  Making services accessible means 
that ‘reasonable adjustments’ need to be made to the service such as longer consultation slots, easy read 
information leaflets, desensitisation work/visits.

Universal Plus

Information, advice, assistance and advocacy

P
age 232



Page | 41

On average people with learning disabilities have poorer health and die younger than other people.  People with 
learning disabilities should be able to access primary, community and secondary healthcare services in the same 
way as the general population.  There is a need for support for people with learning disabilities across the life 
course to understand and express their needs in relation to their health and wellbeing, and to access health-based 
information together with support and opportunities to lead healthy lifestyles.

Early Intervention 

Identifying need at its earliest point and providing the appropriate information, advice, assistance and, where 
required, intervention, can delay or prevent escalating need that can often be emotionally, socially and 
economically costly.  Being responsive to low level needs must be a consistent and collaborative approach across 
partners.  

Intensive intervention

One important requirement of services is that they are able to retrieve crises, to manage them while they occur 
and to steadily bring the situation back to one in which problems can be tackled over the longer term.  This 
requires specialist support provided by a range of services, across children’s services, Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services (CAMHS), and specialist community learning disability teams.  Support should be built around the 
needs of the individual through a ‘Collaborative Care’ model.  Individuals should expect continuity of care and 
support through close collaboration between services/agencies.  

Specialist Intervention

P
age 233



Page | 42

Everyone with eligible care and support needs should have a single person centred care and support plan, 
incorporating a range of other plans where appropriate, which they have been involved in developing and of which 
they have a copy.  Plans should focus on what is important to the individual.  For children and young people up to 
the age of 25 with an additional learning need, this should take the form of a single plan which incorporates the 
requirements under the Additional Learning Need Bill and the care and support plan required under the SSWB Act.  

Through increased use of direct payments, people should have access to activities and services within the 
community; they should have opportunities to learn new skills, have new experiences, gain independence and 
employment and be supported to develop and maintain relationships.  People should be able to access a range of 
services that meet their cultural and/or spiritual needs.

4.3. What does good look like for people with a learning disability and/or autism 

We will use these outcomes to tell us if we have been successful:

Somewhere to live, something to do, someone to love
(home, occupation, relationships)

People with a Learning disability and their families can:

 Access modern services that promote a sense of belonging to and inclusion in their local community;
 Access services that maximise independence, reduce dependency and emphasize choice and control; 
 Access efficient and effective services that enable citizen centred wellbeing outcomes; 
 Access efficient and effective services that minimize escalation of need and risk; and 
 Use services that enable greater privacy and personalised care that meets their individual needs and 

lifestyles.
4.4 Key actions 

P
age 234



Page | 43

We will implement the Cwm Taf Statement of Strategic Intent for Children, Young People and Adults with learning 
Disabilities, including autism and complex needs, and their families. Implementation will proceed with increased 
momentum and pace following the establishment of the Regional Commissioning Team from April 2018.   Key 
actions include:

LDA 1 We will ensure that people with a learning disability and their families are able to access modern services 
that promote a sense of belonging to and inclusion in their local community.

How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
The Learning Disability Steering group will manage the 
implementation of this Statement of Strategic Intent 

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, RSLs

The Learning Disability Steering 
group reports to the TLG who will 
oversee the implementation of this 
Statement of Strategic Intent 
reporting to the Partnership Board 
regarding its progress on a bi-
monthly basis 

Key Regional Actions (across Cwm Taf ) Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
We will continue to implement effective communication and 
engagement plans to ensure people with learning disabilities, their 
carers and families are at the heart of our policy, commissioning and 
service improvement plans 

Through engagement with service users, carers and families we will 
support or commission a wide range of daytime opportunities for 
people with a learning disability in our communities to mitigate against 
loneliness and isolation (to include opportunities within the community 
zones and hubs)

On-going

2018-2020

Core budgets 

Core budgets 

√ √ √

P
age 235



Page | 44

LDA 2:  We will ensure that services maximise independence, reduce dependency and emphasize choice and 
control.
How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
The Learning Disability Steering group will manage the 
implementation of this Statement of Strategic Intent 

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, RSLs

The Learning Disability Steering 
group reports to the TLG who will 
oversee the implementation of this 
Statement of Strategic Intent 
reporting to the Partnership Board 
regarding its progress on a bi-
monthly basis 

Key Regional Actions Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
We will work together with Education and the Further Education 
Institutes to enhance the  opportunity for people with a learning 
disability to access a range of further education provision

2018/20 Core budgets

P
age 236



Page | 45

LDA 3 We will ensure that children, young people and adults with a learning disability will be able to access 
efficient and effective services that enable citizen centred wellbeing outcomes

How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
The Learning Disability Steering group will manage the 
implementation of this Statement of Strategic Intent 

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, RSLs

The Learning Disability Steering 
group reports to the TLG who will 
oversee the implementation of this 
Statement of Strategic Intent 
reporting to the Partnership Board 
regarding its progress on a bi-
monthly basis 

Key Regional Actions Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
The LD Steering group will co-produce and implement alongside people 
who have a learning disability, their carers and families a strategy to 
promote a positive image of people with a learning disability within the 
communities of Cwm Taf  

2018/20 Core budget

P
age 237



Page | 46

LD4 we will ensure that  children, young people and adults with a learning disability will be able to access 
efficient and effective services that minimize escalation of need and risk 

How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
The Learning Disability Steering group will manage the 
implementation of this Statement of Strategic Intent 

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, RSLs

The Learning Disability Steering 
group reports to the TLG who will 
oversee the implementation of this 
Statement of Strategic Intent 
reporting to the Partnership Board 
regarding its progress on a bi-
monthly basis 

Key Regional Actions Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
We will work with our partners in housing to ensure the availability of 
suitable housing and support in the home for people with a learning 
disability their carers and their families living in Cwm Taf 

2018/21 Core budgets
RSL's

P
age 238



Page | 47

LD5 we will ensure that  people with a learning disability and their families can use services that enable greater 
privacy and personalised care that meets their individual needs and lifestyles 

How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
The Learning Disability Steering group will manage the 
implementation of this Statement of Strategic Intent 

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, RSLs

The Learning Disability Steering 
group reports to the TLG who will 
oversee the implementation of this 
Statement of Strategic Intent 
reporting to the Partnership Board 
regarding its progress on a bi-
monthly basis 

Key Regional Actions Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
We will work together to ensure that people with the most complex 
needs are supported to live in accommodation with care that meets 
their needs effectively and is of good quality 

On-going ICF LD Pooled 
fund 

P
age 239



Page | 48

LD6 Implementation of a new Integrated Autism Service which is lifelong; flexible and responsive to need; 
overcomes barriers between health and social care; includes education and employment services; easily 
accessible; a source of expertise for wider services 

How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
The Integrated Autism Steering group will manage the 
implementation of this Operational service. The steering 
group will ensure that this new innovative service is truly 
integrated across children’s and adults services 
developing strong links and pathways across all key 
stakeholders and services including children, young 
people, adult individuals and their families and carers.

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, RSLs

The Integrated Autism Steering 
group reports to the TLG who will 
oversee the implementation of this 
joint service reporting to the 
Partnership Board regarding its 
progress on a quarterly basis 

Key Regional Actions Timescales
/
Milestones 

Resources  IAA Prevent

ative

Altern

ative 

model

s
 
The Cwm Taf Integrated Autism Service will become fully operational 
during February.

The IAS Steering Group will hold engagement sessions with local 
parents support Groups in February and March.

The IAS will be officially launched in February / March

Promote awareness of and embed new service.

February 
2018 

February 
2018

Feb / March 
2018

2018/19

 ICF 
 Core 

budgets 
√ √

5. OLDER PEOPLE

P
age 240



Page | 49

5.1. What did the population assessment tell us? 

 In 2013 there were over 53,000 people aged over 65 and over 23,000 over 75; 
 By 2030 the number of people over the 65 years is expected to increase by 30.4% and people over 80 years 

by 71.3%;
 44.5% of people aged over 75 in Cwm Taf live alone – older people can spend between 70-90% of their time 

in their home;
 The number of informal carers over the age of 65 in Cwm Taf grew by more than 30% between 2001 and 

2011, more rapidly than the general carer population;
 30% of Carers in Cwm Taf provide substantial levels of care with 32% providing over 50 hours of care per 

week and;
 The number of people over 65 living with dementia is expected to increase from 3.463 to 5,325 (a 53.7% 

increase) and for those over 75 from 2,903 to 4,676 (a 61% increase).

From looking at the data and from the engagement with older people, the Population assessment drew out the 
following headline messages: 

 Older people need and value supportive communities and family networks. 
 Older people value their independence and want to live in their own home. They also expect health and social 

care to work together to coordinate their care. 
 Older people want to be treated with dignity and respect and value continuity of care from health and social 

care services. 

P
age 241



Page | 50

5.2. Our integrated approach to meeting the care and support needs of older people

Meeting the needs of an increasingly ageing population will be a priority for the Region. Working with a wide range 
of partners and through engagement and consultation with older people, we have developed a Joint 
Commissioning Statement for Older People’s Services 2015-2025 (link) 

We have adopted a common vision for integrated health and social care services for older people in Cwm Taf: 

'Supporting people to live independent, healthy and fulfilled lives'

 By providing health and social care services that are:

• Integrated, joined up and seamless.
• Focused on prevention, self-management and reablement.

Some of the relevant findings for older people from the Cwm Taf Well-being Assessment included: 

 People need to feel part of their community and many want to offer their time, skills and connections; 

 Taking part in things seems to be good for everyone’s well-being – being active, involved and enjoying 
healthy lives helps us live longer and reduces loneliness and isolation;

 Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy are improving in Cwm Taf. However, outcomes for our 
population are determined by the inequalities that persist and; 

 The quality of the home and environment has a substantial impact on well-being - more communities need 
to be age friendly. 

P
age 242



Page | 51

• Responsive and locally delivered in the right place, at the right time and by the right person.
• Safe, sustainable and cost effective.

We will achieve this by building an integrated, co-ordinated approach to health and social care services (where 
they overlap) comprising 3 inter-related levels:

Universal services 
promote wellbeing 
and independence 
in the community

Identification of those 
with emerging 

difficulties

Early intervention 
and rehabilitation 
for those we can 

help bestIntensive work 
in partnership to 

build on 
strengths and 

address 
problems

People build up 
resilience and 

need less support

Resources drawn 
out of specialist 
and substitute 
care and into 

universal services 
and early 

intervention

Community, Universal & Prevention Services

Early Intervention & Reablement

Specialist & 
Substitute 
ServicesP

age 243



Page | 52

Community, Universal and Prevention Services.
We see a key role for all partners in nurturing supportive communities and family networks. The availability of 
easily accessible universal services together with general and targeted health and wellbeing initiatives is the 
foundation of our service model.

Early Intervention and Reablement Services.
For those who have needs which cannot be met purely by community, universal and preventative support, we will 
offer time-limited and goal orientated services to help them address their difficulties, by supporting them to 
recover and regain their independence, preventing the need for specialist or substitute care. We will ensure a 
“whole system” approach where older people and their support networks will experience a single integrated care 
pathway.

Specialist and Substitute Services.
Specialist or Substitute services would only be provided when it has been determined that someone is not able to 
regain their independence and their needs can only be met through interventions by public sector services. The 
provision of services at this level would be in response to a holistic assessment that takes into account people's 
needs and wishes. They will be centred on promoting choice and control, and will work with people to improve 
their quality of life in ways that work for them. We will ensure that people have access to good quality information 
and advice to help them make informed choices.

5.3 What does good look like for older people in Cwm Taf

We will use these outcomes to tell us if we have been successful:

 Older people live longer, healthier and happier lives;
 Older people live life to the full and are enabled to maintain their independence for as long as possible;

P
age 244



Page | 53

 Older people who become ill, frail or vulnerable receive the care and support they need at the right time in 
the right place;

 All individuals and communities recognise the need to take more responsibility for their own health and 
wellbeing and are supported to do this;

 That people are treated with dignity and respect and treat others the same; 
 That people are heard and listened to and;
 That people know and understand what care, support and opportunities are available and use these to help 

them achieve their well-being.

5.4 Key actions.

We will implement our Cwm Taf Joint Commissioning Statement. Implementation will proceed with increased 
momentum and pace following the establishment of the Regional Commissioning Team from April 2018.   Specific 
actions include: 

OP1. We will nurture supportive communities and family networks through making easily accessible universal 
services, general and targeted health and wellbeing initiatives available 
How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
An Older peoples commissioning group will manage 
the implementation of the Joint Commissioning 
Statement for older people's services and the Cwm 
Taf Ageing Well plan 

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, RSLs

The TLG will oversee the 
implementation of the Cwm Taf Joint 
Commissioning Statement for older 
people's services and the Cwm Taf 
Ageing Well Plan reporting to the 
Partnership Board regarding the on a 
bi-monthly basis 

P
age 245



Page | 54

Key Regional Actions Timescal
es
Milestone
s

Resources  IAA Preventati
ve

Alternat
ive 

models

 Community Zones  - see action CC2 
 Continue to commission a  Community Coordination service  

across the region to support citizens make connections to 
activity and support in their communities

 Roll out of Falls Awareness Programme in sheltered housing 
schemes and communities 

 Support the development of Dementia Friendly Communities
 Develop and implement a whole system/pathway approach to 

commissioning preventative services for older people

2018/19

2018/19

2018/19

 ICF 
Core budgets
Community 
assets
Volunteers
Third sector 
support
Community 
groups
Primary care 
cluster monies
 

√ √ √

OP2. We will offer integrated, time limited and goal orientated services to help people whose needs cannot be 
met purely by community and preventative support 
How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
An Older peoples commissioning group will manage 
the implementation of the Joint Commissioning 
Statement for older people's services

The Stay Well @Home  operational board will manage 
the implementation of the SW@H service 

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, Independent Sector 

The TLG will oversee the 
implementation of the Cwm Taf 
Joint Commissioning Statement for 
older people's services reporting to 
the Board on a bi-monthly basis 

P
age 246



Page | 55

Key Regional Actions By 
When?

Resources  IAA Preventati
ve

Alternat
ive 

models
 Provide reablement and intermediate care services to support 

people maximise their independence in the community and to 
support safe and timely hospital discharge  

 Implement the SW@H service across the Cwm Taf Region 
 Consider the outcome of the independent Evaluation of the SW@H 

service and implement any agreed recommendations that result 
from that evaluation

 Develop proposals for Stay Well @Home 2

Ongoing

Ongoing

2018/19

2018/19

Core funds 
ICF √ √ √

OP3. We will ensure people have access to holistic assessment that takes into account people’s needs and 
wishes, promoting choice and control to improve quality of life 
How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
An older peoples commissioning group will manage 
the implementation of the Joint Commissioning 
Statement for older people's services 

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, Independent Sector 

The TLG will oversee the 
implementation of the Cwm Taf 
Joint Commissioning Statement for 
older people's services reporting to 
the Partnership Board regarding the 
on a bi-monthly basis 

Key Regional Actions By 
When?

Resources  IAA Preventati
ve

Alternat
ive 

models
 Work together to ensure the effective co-ordination of safe hospital 

discharge is maintained (e.g the hospital discharge co-ordinators and 
additional social work capacity at the community hospital sites) Ongoing

Core funds
ICF √ √ √

P
age 247



Page | 56

 Based on the successful implementation of the SW@H service, 
explore the potential benefits of further integration of community 
based Health and Social Care services and if appropriate develop a 
business case for change

 Pilot the multi agency, multi disciplinary  Virtual Ward model initiated 
in a Cynon GP Practice to support patients with frailty and complex 
health and social care needs

 Implement the Cwm Taf End of Life Care Delivery Plan 

Ongoing

Ongoing 

2018/19

Primary care 
cluster funds

OP4. We will ensure that older people whose needs require a specialist or substitute service are able to 
access those services  at the right time in the right place and that they offer an improved quality of life
How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
An older peoples commissioning group will manage 
the implementation of the Joint Commissioning 
Statement for older people's services 

The Operational Board will manage the Pooled fund 
arrangements for Care homes and the implementation 
of the Market Position Statement 

The Valley Life project steering group will manage the 
project plan for this development for people living 
with dementia across the region

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, Independent Sector 

The TLG will oversee the 
implementation of the Cwm Taf 
Joint Commissioning Statement for 
older people's services reporting to 
the Partnership Board regarding the 
on a bi-monthly basis 

Key Regional Actions By 
When?

Resources  IAA Preventati
ve

Alternat
ive 

models
 Implement the Care home Pooled Fund as set out in the Legal 

Agreement 
May 
2018

Core funds 
Pooled fund √ √ √

P
age 248



Page | 57

 Implement the agreed requirements of the market position 
statement for the care home sector  

 Support the application of the revised regional Care home contract 
and service specification 

 Implement the Dementia Strategy and Valley LIFE project to 
improve services in the community for people living with dementia

 Support the nursing care home capacity across the region through 
the delivery of a care home support team

2018/21

2018/20

2018/20

ongoing

ICF

6. CARERS

6.1 What did the population assessment tell us? 

 Nearly 13% of the population in Cwm Taf (29,640 people in RCT and 7,427 in Merthyr Tydfil) reported in the 
2011 census that they were providing care to a family member, friend or neighbour which is higher than the 
all Wales figure; 

 The majority of carers in Cwm Taf are over 50, with the largest group being aged 50-64 years;
 The number of carers over the age of 65 is increasing more rapidly than the general carer population. With 

an ageing population, this is likely to increase further over the coming year;
 There were 3263 young and young adult carers under the age of 25, an increase of 19% since 2001;
 32% of carers in Cwm Taf provide over 50 hours of care per week; 
 35% of carers in Cwm Taf in the 2011 census rated their health as fair, bad or very bad; 
 Support groups for both younger and older carers are highly valued; 
 Carers want access to respite and short breaks to recharge batteries and young carers want more free time 

to spend with friends and socialise and;
 Awareness raising is needed to increase knowledge and understanding of the caring role, both in society and 

with professionals.

P
age 249



Page | 58

From looking at the data and from the engagement with carers of all ages, the population assessment drew out 
the following headline messages:

 Higher levels of poor physical and mental health, chronic conditions, disabilities and the ageing population 
impact on the need for informal care and numbers of carers. 

 Carers need to be recognised and valued for their caring role. They want to be listened to and have more 
control but one size does not fit all. 

 Carers must be able to find the information and support they need easily and quickly to help them sustain 
their caring role.

 Carers want to participate in and stay connected to a life alongside caring.

 Carers and service providers must work together with more effective communication and coordination 
between services, seeing the person and not the problem.

Some of the relevant findings for carers of all ages from the Cwm Taf Well-being Assessment included: 

 People need to feel part of their community and many want to offer their time, skills and connections.
 Taking part in things seems to be good for everyone’s well-being. 
 Gaining new skills and qualifications to tackle the challenges we face. 
 Preventing ill health across the population improves well being and reduces inequality. 
 A good start in life is fundamental to the well-being of future generations.

P
age 250



Page | 59

6.2. Our integrated approach to meeting the care and support needs of carers

As part of the Regional Work programme of the Cwm Taf Social Services and Well-being Partnership Board, a new 
Cwm Taf Carers Strategy was developed in 2016 to replace the separate plans of partner organisations. Having 
reviewed our current services, building on the progress made implementing the Carers Measure from 2012-2015 
and taking into account the requirements of the SSWB Act as well as the views expressed during engagement and 
consultation with Carers and staff, the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 2016-19 has the following 5 Aims. 
 
• Aim 1: Identifying Carers of all ages and recognising their contributions 

If we are to meet their needs, we first have to identify carers of all ages, raising awareness amongst the public 
and with our staff about who carers are and what they do. Carers of all ages need us to understand and value 
their caring role, recognising that they are key partners in the care they provide, involving them in decisions that 
affect them and the person they care for.

• Aim 2: Providing up to date, relevant and timely information, advice & assistance to Carers of all ages 

It was clear from our engagement that getting the right information and advice at the right time can make a huge 
difference whether it is when people are first faced with a caring situation, or if their caring situation changes over 
time. Whatever the information needed, for example about managing money or allowances available, advice about 

P
age 251



Page | 60

the impact of caring on health and well-being, or how to access support services, it must be provided in a variety 
of understandable formats, accessible locally and promptly to help carers make informed choices.

• Aim 3: Providing support, services & training to meet the needs of Carers of all ages 

By this we mean different types of support which can help carers carry out their caring role effectively and meet a 
range of needs, including maintaining their own physical and emotional health and well-being, being able to take 
up education, training and employment opportunities as well as participation in activities outside their caring role. 
Carers need to recharge their batteries but can only do so having confidence in the alternative care being provided 
to the person they care for. 

• Aim 4: Giving Carers of all ages a voice, with more choice & control over their lives 

By this we mean ensuring carers are involved in and consulted on issues and decisions that affect their daily lives 
and the lives of the person they care for. In addition, we must enable their voice to influence the planning, design 
and delivery of future services that affect them.

Aim 5: Working together to make the most of our resources for the benefit of Carers of all ages 

Individuals, their families and carers may require care and/or support from more than one organisation. Where 
this is the case, the care and support they receive should be effectively coordinated and delivered - the right 
services at the right time in the right place.

6.3. What does good look like for carers in Cwm Taf:

The Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 2016-19 contains a Vision Statement which identifies what good looks like for carers 
locally. In addition, one of the most consistent messages we have been given during engagement with carers is 
that what good looks like for them is when we “get it right for the person they care for”. 

P
age 252



Page | 61

6.4 Key actions:

We will continue to implement the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 2016-19 and refresh it to take account of the new 
national priority areas for carers. A Ministerial Advisory Group for Carers will be established in 2018 to drive 
improvement for carers in Wales and three national priority areas for improvement for all carers have been 
identified:

 Support and life alongside the caring role ;
 Identification and recognition; and
 Information, advice and assistance.

In addition, in September 2017, the Cwm Taf SSWB Partnership Board commissioned the Welsh Institute of Health 
and Social Care to work with partners to review our current service model for carers and consider how we could 
provide more effective integrated services across the region.  The Summary report of this work produced in 
January 2018 is available here (link). The report includes a blueprint of what a comprehensive “offer” for Cwm Taf 
carers could look like across five themes 

 Access, information, advice and assistance
 Support services 
 Employment support services, education and training

Carers of all ages in Cwm Taf will be recognised and valued as being fundamental to supportive and resilient 
families and communities. They will not have to care alone and will be able to access information, advice and 

support to help meet their needs, empowering them to lead healthy and fulfilled lives, balancing their caring role 
and their life outside caring.

P
age 253



Page | 62

 Respite and breaks
 Making it happen 

The Partnership Board has endorsed this approach, including exploring the scope of an integrated, dedicated team 
to respond to carers issues across the region, operating from multiple places where carers can receive elements of 
the “offer” that meet their needs more effectively.  

Specific Actions include:

C1 Identifying carers of all ages and recognising their contributions

How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
The Cwm Taf Carers Partnership will oversee the 
delivery of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy through its 
annual Action plan, including the implementation of 
the regional integrated model for carers in Cwm Taf 

 RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, Schools, Colleges, 
Employers 

The TLG will oversee the 
implementation of the Cwm Taf 
Carers Strategy, reporting to the 
Partnership Board regarding the on 
a bi-annual basis 

Key Regional Actions By 
When?

Resources  IAA Preventati
ve

Alternat
ive 

models
Implement actions under Aim 1 of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy including 

 Assessing and maximising the impact of Carers Champions
 Annual Carers Champions conference to share information and 

best practice 
 Staff awareness training, including student nurses and social 

workers through links with education providers 
 Roll out of Schools Award schemes

Implement relevant elements of the blue print offer for carers 

2018/19

2018/19

Core budgets
ICF 
WG Carers grant 

√ √ √

P
age 254



Page | 63

C2 Providing up to date, relevant and timely information, advice and assistance to carers of all ages 

How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
The Cwm Taf Carers Partnership will oversee the 
delivery of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy through its 
annual Action plan, including the implementation of 
the regional integrated model for carers in Cwm Taf

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, Independent Sector 

The TLG will oversee the 
implementation of the Cwm Taf 
Carers Strategy, reporting to the 
Partnership Board regarding the on 
a bi-annual basis 

Key Regional Actions By 
When?

Resources  IAA Preventati
ve

Alternat
ive 

models
Implement actions under Aim 2 of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy including 
supporting actions under OP1, LDA1 and CYP1/2 so carers know where in 
their local communities they can find the information, advice and 
assistance they need

Implement relevant elements of the blue print offer for carers 

2018/19
Core budgets
ICF 
WG Carers grant

√ √ √

C3 Providing support, services and training to meet the needs of carers of all ages
How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
The Cwm Taf Carers Partnership will oversee the 
delivery of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy through its 
Annual Action plan, including the implementation of  
the regional integrated model for carers in Cwm Taf

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, Independent Sector 

The TLG will oversee the 
implementation of the Cwm Taf 
Carers Strategy, reporting to the 
Partnership Board regarding the on 
a bi-annual basis 

P
age 255



Page | 64

Key Regional Actions By 
When?

Resources  IAA Preventati
ve

Alternat
ive 

models
Implement actions under Aim 3 of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy including 

 Flexible working policies for public sector employees in Cwm Taf who 
are carers

 Support the implementation of Age Friendly and Dementia Friendly 
Communities 

 Roll out John’s campaign to support people with dementia when they 
are in hospital by involving their carers during their inpatient stay

 Pilot inreach service into hospital premises to support carers and 
facilitate discharge 

 Develop options for respite services 

Implement relevant elements of the blue print offer for carers 

2018/19
Core budgets
ICF 
WG Carers grant
Respite grant 

√ √ √

C4 Giving carers of all ages a voice with more choice and control over their lives

How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
The Cwm Taf Carers Partnership will oversee the 
delivery of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy through its 
Annual Action plan, including the implementation of 
the regional integrated model for carers in Cwm Taf

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, Independent Sector 

The TLG will oversee the 
implementation of the Cwm Taf 
Carers Strategy, reporting to the 
Partnership Board regarding the on 
a bi-annual basis 

P
age 256



Page | 65

Key Regional Actions By 
When?

Resources  IAA Preventati
ve

Alternat
ive 

models
Implement actions under Aim 4 of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy including 

 Involvement of Carers in training staff 
 Development of carers stories for use in training and awareness 

raising, including use of DVDs 
 Working with peer support groups for carers 

Implement relevant elements of the blue print offer for carers 

2018/19
Core budgets
ICF 
WG Carers grant

√ √ √

C5 Working together to make the most of our resources for the benefit of carers of all ages

How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
The Cwm Taf Carers Partnership will oversee the 
delivery of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy through its 
Annual Action plan, including the implementation of 
the regional integrated model for carers in Cwm Taf

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, Independent Sector 

The TLG will oversee the 
implementation of the Cwm Taf 
Carers Strategy, reporting to the 
Partnership Board regarding the on 
a bi-annual basis 

Key Regional Actions By 
When?

Resources  IAA Preventati
ve

Alternat
ive 

models
 Implement actions under Aim 5 of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 

including opportunities for wider collaborative working eg with South 
Wales Fire and Rescue, South Wales Police, Welsh Ambulance 
Services , Job Centre Plus, Welsh Water 

2018/19
Core budgets
ICF 
WG Carers grant

√ √ √

P
age 257



Page | 66

 Implement relevant elements of the blue print offer for carers
Develop proposals for interim integrated carers team across the 
region and scope detailed implementation of more innovative model 
as suggested in Wihsc review  

7. PHYSICAL DISABILITY AND SENSORY IMPAIRMENT 

7.1. What did the Population assessment tell us? 

 Physical Disability including sensory loss is a significant issue affecting one in five people in Wales;
 There are around 4150 people in Cwm Taf registered as having some kind of physical disability or sensory 

impairment  -  service providers believe this number is not a true reflection of the numbers affected; 
 Choice and independence are important to disabled people just as they are for non-disabled people;
 As the number of people over the age of 80 grows in the next 15 years, more people are likely to suffer with 

health and physical disabilities, including sensory impairment as some of these conditions become more 
common as people get older;

 The Cwm Taf area is one of the most deprived in Wales which manifests itself in shorter life expectancy for 
our residents. Men living in the most deprived areas of Cwm Taf live almost one third of their lives with a 
limiting long term illness or disability;

 33% of adults in Wales reported in the Welsh Health Survey that their day to day activities were limited 
because of a health problem or disability lasting or expected to last at least 12 months;

 Data from the Welsh Health Survey shows that 16% of adults reported having difficulty with their hearing. 
The rate increased with age, and 36% of those aged 65 and over reported a hearing difficulty;

 Poor eyesight is a major risk factor for falls in older people as is hearing loss with tinnitus and balance 
disorders;

P
age 258



Page | 67

 Disabled people are significantly more likely to experience discrimination at work than non-disabled people 
and;

 Improvements in medical treatment and care mean that disabled children and young people with complex 
needs now have a greater life expectancy than previously. With this positive change come challenges to 
ensure they are able to lead as productive and fulfilling a life as possible. 

From looking at the data and from the engagement with people with a physical disability and/or sensory 
impairment and their carers, the population assessment drew out the following headline messages:

 Although a range of support services exist, people are unsure what is available to them and how to access 
services, support and help; 

 People do not identify with the language and definitions that are routinely used by professionals and providers 
of services;

 Services need to focus on the needs of individuals as there are many different types of conditions  which will 
affect people in different ways;  

 People with physical disabilities including sensory impairment want to be part of their community removing 
the barriers that exist and; 

 Establish early intervention and preventative services rather than reactive services, which often come into play 
at times of crisis.

P
age 259



Page | 68

Some of the relevant findings for people with a physical disability or sensory impairment from the Cwm Taf Well-
being Assessment included: 

 Taking part in things seems to be good for everyone’s well-being; 

 Gaining new skills and qualifications to tackle the challenges we face; 

 A good start in life is fundamental to the well-being of future generations – premature babies and those with 
a low birth weight are more likely to have multiple and complex disabilities; 

 Five health harming behaviours (smoking, obesity, alcohol consumption, poor diet and inactivity) lead to 
four chronic conditions (heart disease, cancer, stroke and diabetes) which account for 64% of early deaths in 
Cwm Taf; 

 In Cwm Taf, there are stark differences in healthy life expectancy and disability free life expectancy (ie the 
number of years someone can expect to live free of a chronic condition or limiting long term illness). People 
in Cwm Taf consistently report poorer health than the rest of Wales and;

 The quality of the home and the environment has an important part to play in improving people’s physical 
and mental health and well-being. 

P
age 260



Page | 69

Whilst we were undertaking the Population Assessment in Cwm Taf, we recognised that we needed to do more 
work to understand and respond to the needs of people with sensory impairment and physical disabilities. 
Although this group is not one of those specified in part 9 of the SSWB Act, we wish to develop a regional 
Statement of Intent, following the same approach as has been undertaken for other client groups. We will build on 
work done by individual partners, such as the delivery of the UHB’s Eye Care Plan and the implementation in the 
UHB of the All Wales Standards for communication and information for people with sensory loss, to maximise the impact 
we can make by working together. 

PDSI 1 Improving outcomes for people with a physical disability and/or sensory impairment 

How will we deliver? Partner agencies Reporting Mechanism
Development of a multiagency physical disability and 
sensory impairment working group (to include service 
users and carers)

  

RCT CBC, Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC, Cwm Taf UHB, Third 
Sector, Independent Sector 

The TLG will oversee the 
development of a multiagency 
working group and ensure an 
effective response is formulated to 
meet the specialist needs of people 
with physical disabilities and 
sensory impairments;  reporting to 
the Partnership Board regarding the 
on a bi-monthly basis 

Key Regional Actions By 
When?

Resources  IAA Preventati
ve

Alternat
ive 

models
 Establish a multiagency working group with effective representation 

and engagement arrangements
 Review the information from the  population assessment, relevant 

best practice and statutory guidance  

2018/19 Core funds
ICF √ √ √

P
age 261



Page | 70

 Co -produce and publish a statement of intent to meet the needs of 
people with physical disabilities and/or sensory impairment 

 Continue to deliver Early supported discharge service for stroke 
patients in the community to reduce length of stay in hospital

2019/20

Ongoing 

8. MENTAL HEALTH

8.1. What did the population assessment tell us? 

 Cwm Taf has the highest levels of mental illness and poor wellbeing in Wales;
 Around 50% of lifetime mental illness starts by the age of 14 and continues to have a harmful effect on the 

individual and their family for many years;
 As our older population increases, so will the prevalence of dementia. In 2015, there were approximately 

3,685 over 65s affected by dementia in Cwm Taf. This is estimated to rise to 5,455 by 2030;
 Mental ill health is consistently associated with unemployment, less education, low income or material 

standard of living, in addition to poor physical health and adverse life events; 
 Cwm Taf has the highest suicide rate in Wales  - 14.1 per 100,000 population; 
 Cwm Taf has the highest antidepressant prescribing figures in Wales; 
 People with mental illness are far more likely to live in rented accommodation and their mental ill health is 

often given as a major reason for tenancy breakdown and;
 Alcohol accounts for 62% of referrals to substance misuse treatment services in Cwm Taf, with substances 

making up the remaining 38% of referrals. Over a third of adults across Cwm Taf drink in excess of 
recommended guidelines. 

P
age 262



Page | 71

In addition, the Community Safety Partnership’s Strategic Assessment undertaken in 2017 highlighted the 
impact of alcohol and drug misuse on our communities:

 More than half of people with substance misuse problems are simultaneously diagnosed with a mental 
health disorder at some point in their lives, with alcohol being the most commonly reported substance 
misused. 

 Cwm Taf has the highest rates of both drug misuse and alcohol related deaths in Wales. 

From looking at the data and from the engagement with mental health service users and carers, the population 
assessment drew out the following headline messages:

 Supporting people's mental health is important – maternal mental health; Adverse Childhood Experiences 
(ACES); children and young people, adults, older people.

 Supporting the development of preventative services is a priority. Evidence shows a range of preventative 
interventions across the life course to be effective and cost effective

 We need to develop a common language to improve service provision and avoid stigma and confusion. There 
are a spectrum of experiences from wellbeing through to severe and mental illness   

 We need to improve our systems to provide better, integrated services and reduce inequalities. 

P
age 263



Page | 72

The responsibility for developing and implementing plans to meet the care and support needs in relation to mental 
health and substance misuse lies with other Partnerships in Cwm Taf ie the Cwm Taf Mental health Partnership and 
the Cwm Taf Area Planning Board for Substance Misuse. However, there need to be close links with the work of 
the SSWB Partnership as many of the actions needed overlap with those identified in this Regional Plan for other 
groups such as Older people and Children and Young People. The Mental Health Partnership and the Area Planning 
Board will keep the SSWB Partnership Board regularly updated on progress.

Some of the relevant findings for people with mental health problems from the Cwm Taf Well-being 
Assessment included: 

 Taking part in things seems to be good for everyone’s well-being 

 Gaining new skills and qualifications to tackle the challenges we face 

 A good start in life is fundamental to the well-being of future generations – children’s chances in life are 
strongly influenced by their experience during their early years, particularly the impact of Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACES) which may involve physical, emotional or sexual abuse or living in a family where there 
is parental separation, substance misuse, domestic violence or mental illness. 

 The quality of the home and the environment has an important part to play in improving people’s physical 
and mental health and well-being 

 Building resilient communities is important to mental well-being 

P
age 264



Page | 73

 

Cwm Taf Mental Health Partnership: Key actions for 2018-19 

MH 1 Developing the 10 year strategy for adult mental health services across Cwm Taf

 Key areas to include: transition between services; crisis and assessment; co-occurring mental health and 
substance misuse agenda; access to housing; addressing loneliness and isolation; access to meaningful 
daytime activities; suicide prevention (see also below)

MH 2 Developing a children’s and young people’s mental health and wellbeing strategy

 Key areas to include: transition to adult services; crisis support; early intervention and preventative 
services; behavioural interventions; fit to ACE (Adverse Childhood Experiences) agenda; 

MH 3 Developing a Cwm Taf Dementia strategy 

 Key areas to include: responses to the national dementia strategy key priorities; tackling loneliness and 
isolation; Valley LIFE project proposal and scope; 

MH 4 Developing a Cwm Taf multi agency response to Suicide Prevention - Talk to Me 2

 Developing a Cwm Taf regional multi-agency response to the national plan, led by the third sector 

MH 5 Reviewing assessment pathways and accessing support in a crisis 

MH 6 Implementing the co-occurring mental health and substance misuse framework

P
age 265



Page | 74

 Key areas to address in 2018-19 include: undertaking a joint audit, covering effective clinical leadership, 
resolution of professional differences of opinion; delivering multi-agency based training; ensuring up to date 
pathways, protocols and referral processes are in place between agencies and are publically available.

Throughout these priorities it has been agreed by the Mental Health Partnership that the following cross-cutting 
issues need to be embedded across all organisations: 

 service user and carer engagement and involvement in order to inform and improve service delivery 
 access to quality and timely information, advice and assistance to enable informed decision making 
 tackling loneliness and isolation 
 crisis and assessment processes 
 embedding the dignity pledge 

The new updated terms of reference for the Mental Health Partnership include the required structures and 
reporting mechanisms to ensure delivery, with the opportunity to escalate issues to the board. As part of the 
partnership board’s annual reporting and development cycle, these priorities will be reviewed and refreshed in the 
Autumn of 2018 for 2019/20.

Cwm Taf Area Planning Board: Key actions for 2018-19 

MH 7 Implementing the new Cwm Taf Integrated Substance Use Service Model

 Further developing and implementing a new service model across statutory and voluntary sector, designed 
with service users and their carers. 

The new service model will include: prevention, early intervention and diagnosis services; public health 
based initiatives to raise awareness of substance misuse problems; a tiered approach to services based on 
the recovery model including harm reduction, motivational interventions and assertive outreach; ensure that 
people are managed appropriately reflecting their identified needs and risks, as well as any individual’s 

P
age 266



Page | 75

protected characteristics; emphasis on developing the workforce skills, knowledge and training to ensure 
that staff are competent and well-trained for their current and future roles; and effective clinical leadership 
is embedded with clear lines of governance, accountability and means of escalating and resolving 
professional differences.

9. VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN, DOMESTIC ABUSE AND SEXUAL VIOLENCE 

9.1. What did the Population Assessment tell us?

 There are a high volume of incidents of violence reported to SW Police, despite this volume we are aware 
that many incidents go unreported, therefore we are dealing with a small proportion of actual abuse;

 The numbers of people accessing support services are a small proportion of those affected by abuse;
 There is limited support available to low and medium risk victims, this equates to significant unmet need;
 There is very little direct support provided to children to combat the impact of domestic abuse or sexual 

violence within their home environment;
 A relatively high number of cases per 10,000 population are referred to Multi Agency Risk Assessment 

Conference (MARAC) in Cwm Taf;
 Currently there are limited opportunities for service users to be involved in the design and delivery of 

services and;
 Support services across Cwm Taf are not consistent in the way they are provided or the type of intervention 

provided. 

P
age 267



Page | 76

The Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act for the first time established a 
number of statutory duties on responsible authorities. These included the requirement to develop a Local Delivery 
Strategy to deliver the national aims of preventing violence, protecting victims of violence and supporting people 
who have been affected by violence. The strategic responsibility for this issue rests with the Cwm Taf Community 
Safety Partnership Board and delivery of the local strategy and delivery plan is through the VAWDASV Steering 
Group. This issue also has close links with the Local Safeguarding Board.

From looking at the data and from the engagement with service users and service providers, the Population 
assessment drew out the following headline messages 

 People need to be empowered to report incidents of violence and take up the services we offer. 
 Services need to meet the needs of all groups in our communities. 
 Services need to work together to tackle the underlying problems that are leading to violence. 
 Services need to protect and support children in families where violence and abuse is happening. 
 People who use our services should tell us what they need and how we can do better.

P
age 268



Page | 77

The Cwm Taf Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy and Delivery Plan 2017-21 
has the overarching outcome that:

Individuals who live or work in Cwm Taf live fear free, in safe, violence free, relationships and communities

The Strategy & Delivery Plan has a number of strategic aims, each of which has associated actions that are set out 
in the Plan (link). The aims are:

Aim 1: Increase awareness of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence across the 
Cwm Taf Population 

To ensure more people are aware of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence by delivering 
various awareness campaigns.

Aim 2: Enhance education provision in relation to healthy relationships and gender equality 

The implementation of the “whole education approach” in schools across Cwm Taf, delivery of the national training 
framework and increased engagement with young people.

Aim 3: Hold perpetrators to account for their actions and support them to change their behaviour 

More services for perpetrators of violence and abuse to challenge and change their behaviour.

Aim 4: Enable professionals to provide effective, timely and appropriate responses to victims and 
survivors 

Training for professionals, an improved performance framework, improved service user engagement.

Aim 5: Increase the number of specialist services that are of high quality across the Cwm Taf region

P
age 269



Page | 78

An integrated Cwm Taf service model, joined up commissioning and adoption of a consistent set of core standards

Final sections to be added re where Plan will be available on partner websites, formats etc 

Summary version

For further information about Cwm Taf’s Regional Plan, please contact : 

Nicola Davies 

Head of Health and Well-being

Cwm Taf University Health Board 

Nicola.davies12@wales.nhs.uk

01443 744284 

P
age 270

mailto:Nicola.davies12@wales.nhs.uk


Page | 79

Appendix 1
NATIONAL OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK FOR PEOPLE WHO NEED CARE AND SUPPORT AND CARERS WHO NEED SUPPORT
What well-being means National well-being outcomes What we will measure
Securing rights and entitlements
Also for adults: Control over day-to-day life

I know and understand what care, support and opportunities are available 
and use these to help me achieve my well-being
I can access the right information, when I need it, in the way I want it and 
use this to manager and improve my well-being
I am treated with dignity and respect and treat others the same
My voice is heard and listened to
My individual circumstances are considered
I speak for myself and contribute to the decisions that affect my life, or 
have someone who can do it for me

Quality of care and support 
Quality of life
Whether people are treated with respect
Whether people receive the right information when they need it
Whether people are in control of their daily life
Whether people are involved in decisions about their care and 
support

Physical and mental health and emotional well-being
Also for children: Physical, intellectual, emotional, 
social and behavioural development

I am healthy and active and do things to keep myself healthy 
I am happy and do the things that make me happy
I get the right care and support, as early as possible

Whether people say they feel healthy physically and mentally 
Life satisfaction
Whether people are living a healthy life style (including children 
with up-to-date immunisations and dental checks, life 
expectancy, low birth weights)
Children’s development
Hip fractures among older people

Protection from abuse and neglect I am safe and protected from abuse and neglect
I am supported to protect the people that matter to me from abuse and 
neglect
I am informed about how to make my concerns known

How much abuse and neglect takes place
Whether people say they feel safe

Education, training and recreation I can learn and develop to my full potential
I do the things that matter to me

Educational attainment of children
School attendance rates of children
Adult learner outcomes and qualifications
Whether people are able do the things that matter to them

Domestic, family and personal relationships I belong
I contribute to and enjoy safe and healthy relationships

A sense of community
Loneliness

Contribution made to society I engage and make a contribution to my community
I feel valued in society

Whether people think the things they do in life are worthwhile
Participation in society

P
age 271



Page | 80

What well-being means National well-being outcomes What we will measure
Social and economic well-being
Also for adults: Participation in work

I contribute towards my social life and can be with the people that I 
choose
I do not live in poverty
I am supported to work
I get the help I need to grow up and be independent
I get care and support through the Welsh language if I want it

People working
Gap in life expectancy between least and most deprived
19-24 year olds who are not in education, employment or 
training 
Material deprivation

Suitability of living accommodation I live in a home that best supports me to achieve my well-being Whether housing meets people’s needs
Homeless households with dependent children or pregnant 
women
Quality of social housing

P
age 272



Page | 81

APPENDIX 2  
Summary Overview of Regional Priorities 

CROSS CUTTING PRIORITIES 
CC1 Implementation of WCCIS across the region
CC2 Development and embedding of co production as our way of working, adopting an asset based approach working with people and 
communities 
CC3 Development of  Cwm Taf Regional Commissioning arrangements
CC4 Development of Independent Professional Advocacy for those who need it ( based on requirements of  Part 10 of SSWB Act)
CC5 Ensure consistent, timely and easy access to information, advice and assistance that supports resilience and wellbeing
CC6 Secure a sustainable and good quality workforce across Health and social Care

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
CYP1: We will have the right universal services at the right time to promote wellbeing achievement and independence
CYP2: We will focus on early help for those with emerging difficulties
CYP3 We will target intensive support for those who are really struggling

LEARNING DISABILITY INCLUDING AUTISM  
LDA 1 We will ensure that people with a learning disability and their families are able to access modern services that promote a sense of 
belonging to and inclusion in their local community.
LDA 2:  We will ensure that services maximise independence, reduce dependency and emphasize choice and control.
LDA 3 We will ensure that children, young people and adults with a learning disability will be able to access efficient and effective services 
that enable citizen centred wellbeing outcomes
LD4 we will ensure that  children, young people and adults with a learning disability will be able to access efficient and effective services that 
minimize escalation of need and risk
LD5 we will ensure that  people with a learning disability and their families can use services that enable greater privacy and personalised care 
that meets their individual needs and lifestyles
LD6 Implementation of a new Integrated Autism service which is lifelong; flexible and responsive to need; overcomes barriers between health 
and social care; includes education and employment services; easily accessible; a source of expertise for wider services

P
age 273



Page | 82

OLDER PEOPLE
OP1 We will nurture supportive communities and family networks through making easily accessible universal services, general and targeted 
health and wellbeing initiatives available
OP2 We will offer integrated, time limited and goal orientated services to help people whose needs cannot be met purely by community and 
preventative support
OP3 We will ensure people have access to holistic assessment that takes into account peoples needs and wishes, promoting choice and 
control to improve quality of life
OP4 We will ensure that older people whose needs require a specialist or substitute service are able to access those services  at the right 
time in the right place and that they offer an improved quality of life

CARERS
C1 Identifying carers of all ages and recognising their contributions
C2 Providing up to date, relevant and timely information, advice and assistance to carers of all ages
C3 Providing support, services and training to meet the needs of carers of all ages
C4 Giving carers of all ages a voice with more choice and control over their lives
C5 Working together to make the most of our resources for the benefit of carers of all ages

PHYSICAL DISABILITY AND SENSORY IMPAIRMENT
PDSI 1 Improving outcomes for people with a physical disability and/or sensory impairment

MENTAL HEALTH 
MH1 Developing the 10 year strategy for adult mental health services across Cwm Taf 
MH2 Developing a children’s and young people’s mental health and well-being strategy 
MH3 Developing a Cwm Taf Dementia Strategy 
MH4 Developing a Cwm Taf wide response to the national plan for Suicide Prevention - Talk to Me 2 
MH5 Reviewing our Assessment pathways and how people access support in a crisis 
MH6 Implementing the co-occurring mental health and substance misuse framework 
MH7 Implementing the new Cwm Taf Integrated Substance Misuse service model 

P
age 274



Page | 83

VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN,DOMESTIC ABUSE AND SEXUAL VIOLENCE 
VWDASV1 Increase awareness of violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence across the Cwm Taf Population 
VWDASV2 Enhance education provision in relation to healthy relationships and gender equality
VWDASV3 Hold perpetrators to account for their actions and support them to change their behaviour 
VWDASV4 Enable professionals to provide effective, timely and appropriate responses to victims and survivors
VWDASV5 Increase the number of specialist services that are of high quality across the Cwm Taf region

P
age 275



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 

 

Cwm Taf Social Services and Well-being Partnership 
Report of the Community Panels held December 2017  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Practice Solutions Ltd 

Author: 
Heulwen Blackmore  

December 2017 
  

Page 277



2 

INDEX 
         Page 

1. Introduction and Background     3 

2. Methodology       3 

3. Common Themes      4 

4. Discussion Areas      4 

5. Staying Engaged      8 

6. Appendices       11 

 

  

Page 278



3 

1. Introduction and Background 
1.1 This report has been produced to summarise the key points identified in the engagement carried out as 

part of the ongoing development of the Cwm Taf Regional Plan. It is based on the input of people who 
engaged with the three workshops held in December 2017 and written input from people who also 
wanted to contribute.  
 

1.2 The Cwm Taf Social Services and Well-being Partnership Board comprises representatives from the 
Cwm Taf University Health Board, Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil Councils, the Third Sector, 
Care Forum Wales, Social Care Wales, and service user and carers. Wider engagement informs the 
development of the Cwm Taf Regional Plan. 

 
1.3 The first plan must be produced by April 2018, and will set out how the Partnership will respond to the 

findings of the Cwm Taf Population Needs Assessment published in April 2017 
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being . The plan covers a five-year period and will outline 
the range and level of services to be provided in response to the needs for care and support identified 
in the Population Needs Assessment. The needs and priorities within the plan will be reviewed annually 
to monitor progress, and amended as required to ensure that people who live in Cwm Taf who need 
care and/ or support can achieve positive outcomes. 

 
1.4 Priority areas set by Welsh Government under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 are: 

 
o Older people with complex needs and long-term conditions, including dementia 
o People with learning disabilities 
o Carers, including young carers 
o Integrated family support services 
o Children with complex needs due to disability and illness 

1.5 The Population Needs Assessment emphasised the need to look at the whole person and not just one 
problem they might experience. In addition to the groups listed above, Cwm Taf has identified the need 
for more work to improve services in other areas, for example for people with physical disabilities and 
sensory impairments, those with mental health issues,  substance misuse problems or victims of 
domestic abuse and sexual violence. 
 

2. Methodology 
2.1 Three Community Panels were held; in Abercynon, Porth and Merthyr Tydfil. The approach was 

adopted to ensure that those present were given time by facilitators who were able to listen to their 
specific views about the care and support they received from health and social care services.  Due to 
the small numbers of participants, everyone was given opportunity to share their perspective in a 
relaxed and safe environment which is not always possible in larger scale public events.  Attendance 
varied as the first Panel coincided with adverse weather conditions; however, the information gathered 
at each of the events provided a rich source of information to inform the development of the Regional 
Plan. 
 

2.2 At each event, a presentation which gave an overview of the plan was provided, together with 
opportunities for questions. This was then followed by facilitated discussions which focussed on six key 
areas which reflected the overarching themes of the 2017 Population Assessment: 

 
• Getting information, advice and assistance 
• Stopping problems before they start 
• Stopping problems before they get worse 

Page 279

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being


4 

• Connecting you to your community 
• Seamless services 
• Making it personal and working together with you 

 
2.3 Those who attended were encouraged to share their own experiences and explore good practice 

though positive experiences, or use negative experiences to frame improvement opportunities. 
 

2.4 Members of the Community Panels had an opportunity to respond to the Regional Plan by focussing on 
the following themes: 
 
• Identifying positive opportunities for co-production and building on community assets. 
• Identifying good practice in relation to the provision of information advice and assistance that 

supports resilience and well-being. 
• Exploring what outcomes people would expect from efficient and reliable community services. 
• How they want to be kept informed on progress and the changes to the area plan. 

3. Common Themes 
3.1 Running through each of the engagement events was the importance of communication – getting it 

right, and good quality information. This is covered in more detail under the headings which follow. 
 

3.2 It was felt that the priorities and issues identified were broadly the right ones. The challenge of 
engaging people in developing the plan was identified and several suggestions and offers about how 
this could be done were provided. Using easy read, better use of IT where people access services, local 
hubs, running a dedicated group for people with dementia, using the auspices perhaps of the 
Alzheimers Society and/ or MIND.  

 
3.3 Community assets were identified. These include initiatives and activities set up within communities by 

communities such as walking groups and community choirs, which also provide opportunities to 
improve well-being, remove social isolation and share information. The people who attended had very 
local information on issues in their geographical area and area of interest/ expertise which provided a 
rich source of information to help steer and shape plans. The willingness to engage, encourage others 
to engage and stay involved came through at each of the events.  

4. Discussion Areas 
GETTING INFORMATION, ADVICE AND ASSISTANCE 

4.1 The importance of good quality, easily accessible and understandable information and advice was 
emphasised by all. The diversity of approach to seeking and obtaining information was also highlighted.  
There is no clear centrally used source that people can access. Examples of sources used were: 
• Word of mouth 
• Interlink 
• Front line staff 
• Carers Wales 
• People First 
• Posters at GP or library 
• Internet 
• Phoning the council 
• Information board 

Page 280



5 

• RCT Carers project 
 

4.2 Having one “front door” was seen as essential, although attendees stressed the point that people want 
to get information by different methods, so as well as having one high profile front door, it was 
important that good quality up to date information was available at many access points. For example, it 
was very useful to have someone whose job it was to signpost people within the GP surgery.  The 
importance of getting information from “trusted voices” was raised. It was noted that within Cwm Taf, 
there is the possibility of the development of community hubs/ neighbourhood networks. 
 

4.3 It was recognised that the provision of an information, advice and assistance service is a statutory 
requirement, but there were concerns about variation across Wales and within regions, as well as a 
question mark over how performance was measured. How would people know the service was making a 
difference? Including equality monitoring as a statutory requirement would provide some information.  

 
4.4 There was some awareness of Dewis Cymru as the national approach to information, advice and 

assistance, but it was not widely used and it was felt that information there was patchy and not easy to 
find. Additionally, while it’s very useful to have online information, this does not work for everyone. 

 
4.5 People must be put at the centre of the service, and that means that the first point of contact must be 

well informed and equipped to supply advice to ensure that those who seek help do not have to repeat 
their story several times. The contact needed to have knowledge about translation services, for example. 

 
4.6 With respect to the way information was provided, several issues were raised. The need for easyread 

information to be routinely available, visual information like short video clips, and the need for other 
languages in addition to Welsh and English. The importance of keeping things simple, forms short, but 
also ensuring that if wanted, people had access to the full detail was important.  

 
4.7 Specifically, it is challenging to access information for people who have severe learning disabilities, which 

are compounded by health problems - even GPs can be at a loss to know which service to refer these 
individuals to because of their learning disabilities.  

 
4.8 Another specific area where it was felt it was difficult to access information was finance, debts and 

benefits – there is some available at CAB and Age Connect but identified as fundamental to well-being 
and not consistently provided or enough available. 

What hinders  

• Staff don’t have the information people are seeking – provide consistent good quality training and 
awareness and make it the expectation that they do know. 

• Lack of IT – access to internet in community centres and day centres. Specific example of learning 
disability given – if videos could be streamed or help given with internet based forms at day or 
community centres, this would support people and support Cwm Taf in its aspirations to involve 
people co-productively.  

Good examples/ ideas of information provision  

• Where queries have been emailed to the statutory authority a quick and helpful response received. 

Page 281



6 

• Community well-being co-ordinator – provides signposting to a broad range of sources of 
information e.g. on housing, benefits etc (based in GP surgery and referral by GP). 

• Six week sessions providing information to families of people with mental health issues. 
• Carers three monthly event with speakers and information - keeps us in the loop in Pontypridd as 

part of the RCT Carers Project. There is a good mental health carers support group which provides a 
chance to air your circumstances and get information.  

• Being part of local and national networks. 
• Hands on and word of mouth is really good. Better than technology - because it’s a distraction 

there’s always something else to do.  
• Hold a ‘Freshers Weeks’ for the Cwm Taf community in town centres to let people know about 

things that exist. 
• Careful consideration needs to be given with regards to the marketing of these events. We need to 

use other forms of communication, for example video, and engage people who use services to 
encourage participation.  
 

STOPPING PROBLEMS BEFORE THEY START 

4.9 It was felt that good quality information, advice and assistance was strongly linked to preventing 
problems before they start. Without that, problems could escalate to a point where they needed a much 
more significant intervention.  For many people, being independent and staying in their own home was 
essential for their well-being. Sometimes, extra help was needed to enable that to happen. Using social 
media effectively, e.g. in campaigns around public health, is useful. 
 

4.10 For many, finding the information was challenging so again, the importance of a high profile and 
effective single point of access was emphasised. The local approach was valued, having a relationship of 
trust enabled people to seek out information before a crisis happened.  Communication is key to good 
prevention – people need to know where, when and what preventative services exist.  

 
4.11 To ensure people retain well-being they need to be able to get out of their house and to get to work, 

school, leisure, social and cultural activities and things like health and social care. Public transport needs 
to support this and it doesn’t. Examples given of no Sunday bus service, and services ending early and 
starting late, leaving communities cut off. 

 
4.12  Some very important elements which would empower people to seek help early were: 

• Being able to speak to the right person at the right time 
• Feeling confident and comfortable to speak up about their issues 
• Trusting the person or organisation contacted 

4.13 There were several discussions about people in work with the comment that sometimes it felt like there 
was no safety net. Having systems in the work place so that you felt that you could say to people that 
you're not very well is important, particularly with mental ill health. 
 

4.14 We talked about some of the reasons people didn’t seek out help at an early stage. Lack of knowledge, 
fear of what might happen to them or their loved ones (including pets), lack of community infrastructure 
and being isolated were contributory factors. 

What hinders  

• Lack of access points or understanding of where to get help 
• Lack of confidence in services 
• Lack of transport at necessary times 

Page 282



7 

Good examples/ ideas of stopping problems before they start  

• Good Networks are essential. ‘Getting Porth Connected’ was identified as a good example. 
• Mind runs a Blue Light Champion scheme which is very good to learn about opening up when the 

culture or environment doesn't let you do that. 
• Social prescribing – linking people in to services in their community e.g. a gym.  
• Running tai chi classes for people in sheltered housing- helps prevent falls, improves well-being.  
• Proactive approaches in GP surgeries, e.g. alerting people when blood tests needed. 
• The Fire Service has a very good internal mechanism as well as an organisational culture that tries to 

stop problems before the happen. 
• Community infrastructure such as a local community choir, which has the additional benefits or 

encouraging connectivity, reducing social isolation and is an example of co-production.  
• Obesity prevention - some schools have children running a mile a day. 
• Local Area Co-ordinators should be used as an additional mechanism for pushing information into 

communities.  However, they need to reach out to more people under 50.   
• Pet sitting fostering service for people who have to leave their animals behind because of 

circumstances. There are examples of it working well and relives the stress that could and would be 
caused to the person. 

STOPPING PROBLEMS BEFORE THEY GET WORSE 

4.15 To stop problems before they escalate, the starting point must be to put people at the centre, and 
design and deliver services around people. An assessment which is focused on what’s important to 
people and follow up is vital. If after illness, physical or mental, contact and support was maintained over 
time with the person using the service, this could prevent problems getting worse.  
 

4.16 Investment in community capacity and services is essential. Some places in Cwm Taf are lacking basic 
community amenities and there is insufficient transport and sometimes an inability to travel to where 
the amenities are. Financial issues are exacerbated if you are ill, a carer, disabled etc. Help for people 
who may be struggling on a limited income is needed.   

 
4.17  Staff must have knowledge of different conditions and how their caring role might impact the person 

using the service and their carers.  While there may be support in place, the reality is that there is 
frequently a waiting list which impacts on outcomes.  

 
4.18 There needs to be a good understanding of the needs of carers and the stresses of caring. There are 

secondary conditions or ill health as a consequence of caring and services need to be prepared to 
provide an effective response when Carers are unable to carry out their role.  

 
4.19 The need for respite and breaks must be recognised, as to provide some way of “recharging batteries” 

before carers become exhausted or ill through their responsibilities is important. This enable carers to 
continue and may prevent problems getting worse. Doing simple things like taking carers out for a coffee 
and listening to what they’re up to and offering ways to help makes a positive difference. Getting respite 
for people when they need it will reduce problems.  

 
4.20 The lack of bereavement support services was highlighted by a carer with reference to people with a 

learning disability. Supporting people, life after caring or for the cared for person when a carer is no 
longer there is a crucial area for consideration. 

 

Page 283



8 

What hinders 

• Services not talking to each other. 
• Non delivery of a person centred approach to assessment.  
• “When things have gone wrong, everyone pushes you around and no one wants to know”. 

Good examples/ ideas of stopping problems getting worse  

• Value community voluntary transport, but different rules apply depending on where you live. Make 
them equitable and consistent and easy to understand.  

• Put in place activities which reflect people’s different needs and interests. There needs to be choice 
and variety of activity. 

• Professionals should work with carers and service users to co-produce opportunities for well-being. 
• Carers’ advocates to support carers helps deal with individual situations. It can to help with reducing 

family and marriage tensions.  
• Help carers build confidence and self advocate.  
• Isolation is a real challenge for carers. They have set up a walking group that has been going for the 

last ten years. A yoga group for carers is also helpful.   
• An idea is an all Wales respite place for carers - that recognises that carers can get away from their 

cared for to do something different / reenergise.  
• Increase psychological support for carers to help people help themselves - increase personal 

resilience. There is some available through MIND, for example, and via the RCT Carers Project. 
• Hospital Discharge Services have the potential to inform people about preventative services. 

 
CONNECTING YOU TO YOUR COMMUNITY 

4.21  Having a real connection within your own community supports well-being.  Being part of social groups 
was seen as helping in preventing issues like loneliness and isolation, providing a rich source of 
information and to supporting positive activities. People can do much themselves, they can and do self-
organise, but a level of support and co-ordination and funding is needed to make it happen and keep it 
going. The costs of supporting people to get and stay connected could be negligible when contrasted 
with the cost of putting in crisis support if problems escalated.  
 

4.22 Some communities are isolated due to geography and transport and even travelling to the nearest town 
is a challenge with poor or no public transport. Some communities have no central “hub” such as a 
community centre, pub or post office. 

 
4.23 Intergenerational projects should be run to connect people to the community, for example younger 

people teaching older people how to use technology.  
 

4.24 Support in the community for people with a learning disability was highlighted as important. If there are 
no services, the result can be higher level interventions than are needed – e.g. residential care.  

What hinders  

• Not knowing what’s available in the community – no one organisation/ person holds the knowledge. 
• Not recognising the assets that people have – for example, people who use services can and want to 

contribute to society eg through work or volunteering.  

Good examples of connecting 

Page 284



9 

• Community choir. 
• Facebook pages. 
• Interlink resources help people connect – community co-ordinators. 
• An example of a project in northern Europe was discussed where older people run a group for 

children in the community. Parents leave and the group cook with one another - parents return and 
then they eat together.  This project helps to develop skills that highlight the importance of creating 
and sharing healthy meals and having time out to relax for all members of the family. 

SEAMLESS SERVICES  

4.25 Services designed around people, not restricted by organisational boundaries, are the ideal. This refers to 
all services – health, social services, housing, education, transport, leisure and should cut across the 
statutory and the third sector. 
 

4.26 There were discussions about how we bring everyone to work together around the person. The 
bureaucracy in many organisations can be a barrier to effective seamless services.  Professionals across 
organisations need to work together and share information. There should be a personal multi-agency 
plan designed around the individual who needs care and support, and that should be shared. 

 
4.27 The changed role of the Fire Service was commended as a way that should be considered by health and 

social care services in exploring how the change from a reactive to a preventative service could be 
managed.  

What hinders  

•  Bureaucracy and different rules in different organisations. 
• Lack of understanding/ awareness of staff about the “systems”. 

Good examples of seamless services  

• The fire service accesses the community about safety ...could we use iPads or other forms of smart 
phone technology to get the fire service to share useful information about care and support in the 
community. 

MAKING IT PERSONAL AND WORKING TOGETHER WITH YOU 

4.28 The importance of professionals working in partnership with people who use services and carers was 
emphasised and it was generally felt that there was a way to go to make this a reality, not just in Cwm 
Taf. The role of front line staff is important in setting the tone of co-production, of identifying 
opportunities for people to get engaged more generally e.g. as in these Citizen Panels. In one case, a 
social worker had informed a person about the events and actively encouraged an attendee to get 
engaged to ensure they were involved in wider practice and policy. This should be further encouraged, 
but requires front line staff to be very well informed about what’s going on, and to be in tune with the co-
productive approach. 
 

4.29 It was felt that to maximise resources they must be shared and used effectively. There are opportunities. 
There are untapped resources in the form of public buildings which are used part time e.g.schools and 
could be used by people who use services, carers and organisations as places to engage, get information. 
Some commented that everyone needs to take ownership for their personal contribution to their local 
community.   

 

Page 285



10 

4.30 Learning from mistakes is important. One example demonstrated an initial lack of understanding of the 
needs and abilities of an individual; but the willingness of the organisation to listen to the person who 
uses the service, the carer and be flexible was commended. The carer concerned had provided a source 
of expertise to the organisation to enable them to improve the quality of their service.  

What hinders  

• Lack of a can do attitude. 
• A lack of understanding of the principles of the Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act around 

“what matters to me”. 

Good examples / ideas about making it personal and working together 

• Young carers who work with the organisation (Action for Children, Barnardos) to design activities 
and events. 

• Work with the people who work with the community e.g. pharmacies, doctors, postmen ... so that 
they are able to signpost people.  Give them an iPad or other form of Smart Phone technology with 
information and ways to push information through to the relevant organisation or service. 

5. Staying Engaged  

 
5.1 People who came to the events felt they were valuable and wanted to stay engaged. When asked how 

they wanted to be kept informed about developments, they put forward a broad range of ideas. These 
were: 
 
• Email  
• Group meetings – another community panel 
• Face to face carries a bit more weight and helps shares people’s experiences. 
• Videos  
• You tube  
• A freshers week for communities or wards or towns  
• Information markets - something that used to happen  
• Information boards in supermarkets, GPs, doctors surgeries, hospitals, libraries, charities based 

within the area 
• Radio  
• Newsletter  
• Social media  
• A share point as in software to share resources and gather comments. 
• Posters displayed in dentists, DWP buildings, libraries, homeless shelters, churches and other 

religious settings 
 

5.2 There were offers of future support from people who attended.  “If we know about future design / 
consultation groups we could hopefully join ones that we are interested in and encourage wider 
engagement from our community; “I would like and I would offer to run something for people with 
dementia given enough notice”.  

Page 286



Appendix 1 

 

11 

Dear Colleague,  

CWM TAF REGIONAL PLAN - 2018-23 
As an integral part of the Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board’s work to respond to the 
findings of the Cwm Taf Population Assessment published in April 2017, we are committed to involving 
citizens throughout the process.  A Regional Plan has been developed and we are now at the stage where we 
wish to test the priorities and actions identified within the plan, with people who live in Cwm Taf.   

We have asked an independent team to facilitate three Community Panels across the Cwm Taf region during 
December 2017. These groups are to be made up of individuals who have experience of using health and 
social care services, or who are carers of people who use health and social care services and I would be 
grateful if you could raise awareness of these events within your networks. 

Each Community Panel event will host between 30 – 50 people and will take place on the following dates: 

Date Place  Time 
11th December Abercynon sports centre, Parc, Abercynon, 

Mountain Ash CF45 4UY 
10 am -12:30pm 

12th December Rhondda Heritage park hotel, Coedcae Rd, 
Pontypridd, CF37 2NP 

12:30 pm - 3:00pm 

15th December Canolfan Soar, Pontmorlais W, Merthyr Tydfil, 
CF47 8UB  

10 am -12:30pm 

 
The priorities and actions within the Regional Plan will have relevance to all people who access care and 
support services in Cwm Taf and we are seeking a cross section of views. It is likely that each session will last 
about two and a half hours.  

It will not be necessary for participants to have knowledge of the work of the Cwm Taf Social Services and 
Wellbeing Partnership Board, but to have knowledge and experience of engaging with health and social care 
services, and a willingness to participate.  

An organisation called Practice Solutions are arranging the Community Panels.  People can register their 
attendance to attend one of the events by contacting Katie Lineham at Practice Solutions, by Wednesday 6th 
December. Her email address is:katie@practicesolutions-ltd.co.uk  
and her phone number is 01443 742384.  

You are welcome to use Welsh at the meeting, let Katie know when registering and please confirm any 
additional communication or access requirements. 

Yours sincerely,  

 
Sian Nowell 
Head of transformation - Cwm Taf Region 

Page 287

mailto:katie@practicesolutions-ltd.co.uk


Appendix 2 
 

12 

CWM TAF REGIONAL PARTNERSHIP 

COMMUNITY PANELS FACILITATION DECEMBER 2017 

Background paper and basis of group work 

The Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board consists of the Cwm Taf University Health 
Board and both Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil Councils.   

The Regional Plan sets out how they will respond to the findings of the Cwm Taf Population 
Assessment published in April 2017.   It is a five-year plan, which outlines the range and level of 
services to be provided in response to the needs for care and support identified in the population 
assessment. The Partnership Board must prioritise the integration of services in relation to: 

• Older people with complex needs and long-term conditions, including dementia 
• People with learning disabilities  
• Carers including young carers 
• Integrated Family Support Services  
• Children with complex needs due to disability and illness  

 
 The Population Needs Assessment emphasised the need to look at the whole person and not just 
one problem they might experience and we know that more work needs to be done locally to 
improve services for people with physical disabilities and sensory impairments.    
 
Our plans for older people and mental health services have been developed together to support 
people with dementia effectively.  In relation to children’s needs, issues relating to mental health, 
domestic violence and substance misuse are also relevant. The involvement of housing and 
education alongside health and social care services has also been considered. 
 
The priorities and actions within the area plan will be reviewed annually to monitor progress. They 
will be amended as appropriate, to ensure that we empower and enable people in Cwm Taf who 
need care and support to live the best lives they can and achieve the outcomes that matter to 
them. 
 
The Driving Force for Change 
The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act (2014) sets out a challenge to reshape the way 
communities are supported by statutory organisations.    We must make a radical change in our 
“offer” to individuals, families and communities; supporting them to take responsibility for their 
own health and well-being. We must shift our emphasis from reactive long term (often 
institutional) services to an approach which promotes choice, dignity and independence. it is 
important to recognise the assets and strengths that people bring to their own health and social 
care, and to their communities and networks   

Page 288



Appendix 2 
 

13 

Working to co-produce positive outcomes for adults  
The starting point is to emphasise the key role of families and communities in offering support and 
care to their members. All our citizens are surrounded by a network of family, friends and 
neighbours that influence their quality of life. They in turn contribute to the community in which 
they live.  
 
Our role is to complement these networks by supporting people to continue to live fulfilled lives, 
and when they need it, to help them tackle life problems (e.g. ill-health, bereavement, becoming 
socially isolated). This is important not only for the individuals concerned, but for the resilience, 
wellbeing and development of our communities.  

Accessing advice, information and assistance 
We need to make the right services available to people at the right time. Where individuals, their 
families and carers may require care and/or support from more than one organisation this should 
be effectively coordinated and delivered. By doing so we can support people as soon as they need 
it, help them to remain happily within their family and community, and for some, avoid expensive 
and disruptive specialist and substitute care. If this done successfully, over time we can also take 
some resources out of specialist and substitute care and into better community and universal 
services. 

Working with children and young people 

We plan to improve the way we work partnership with local children, young people, their families 
and communities.  We will work to involve them in decisions about their life which helps them to 
achieve personal outcomes, build on their strengths and become resilient.    

We want to work collaboratively in, and with communities to develop the best possible 
environment for children and young people to thrive in Cwm Taf  

We want to focus our intensive support on those children and young people who need help to deal 
with significant adverse experiences. 

 
 
Acknowledging the role of Carers 
Carers of all ages will be identified, and the contribution of their caring role recognised by 
professionals and the public.  They need to be involved in decisions that affect them and the person 
they care for. 
  
We want Carers, of all ages to have a voice with more choice & control over their lives. They should 
be involved in, and consulted on issues and decisions that affect their daily lives and the lives of the 
person they care for.  Carers should also have a say about the design of future services that affect 
them.  

Page 289



Appendix 2 
 

14 

 
We want to work positively with Carers of all ages by ensuring they have access to advice and 
assistance that provides up to date, relevant and timely information and access to the right services 
at the right time in the right place. 

There should be support, services & training to meet the needs of Carers of all ages available. 
Carers should be able to maintain their own physical and emotional health and well-being and take 
up education, training and employment opportunities.  They should also be able to participate in 
activities outside their caring role. 
 

Page 290



Appendix 3 
 

15 

Time Task Tools Who 
10.00 Welcome 

Write down what you expect from today? 
 

Post it notes 
Flip chart paper 
Pens  

Sarah Dafydd 
to lead 
Team 
support 

10.05 Presentation – the context  PowerPoint 
presentation 
Laptop/Projector 

Nicola/Gio 
 

10.25 Write down/tell us what you think about the presentation Post it notes to 
be collected and 
displayed on flip 
chart paper 

Dafydd to 
lead 

10.30 Group discussion 1 
 

• Getting information, advice and assistance 
• Stopping problems before they start 
• Stopping problems before they get worse 

Stage1: Give an example of where has worked well?  
Using those examples of what's worked well.    
Stage 2: 
What would good look like? i.e. Where would it be? /Who would be using it? What would 
happen? 

Flip Chart paper 
Pens for groups  

Facilitation 
teams 

11.05 Refreshment break   
11.15 Feedback – conversation highlights in relation to:  

• Getting information, advice and assistance 
• Stopping problems before they start 
• Stopping problems before they get worse 

Stage 3: Brief Discussion about what's feasible versus desirable. 

Flip chart paper 
displayed 
around the room 

Dafydd to 
facilitate 
discussion 

11.25 Group discussion 2  
Connecting you to your community 
Seamless services 

Flip chart paper, 
pens and post it 
notes 

Facilitation 
teams 

P
age 291



Appendix 3 
 

16 

Making it personal and working together with you 
 
Stage1: Give an example of where has worked well?  
Using those examples of what's worked well.    
Stage 2: What would good look like? i.e. Where would it be? /Who would be using it? What 
would happen? 

12.00 Feedback  
Feedback – conversation highlights in relation to:  
Connecting you to your community 
Seamless services 
Making it personal and working together with you 
 
Stage 3: Brief Discussion about what's feasible versus desirable. 

 Dafydd to 
facilitate the 
whole group 
discussion  

12.10 Tell us how you want to be kept informed with the plan.  
What works? Group discussion 

 Facilitation 
teams 

12.20 What next? – short presentation  PowerPoint and 
laptop 

Nicola 

12.25 Have expectations been met?  Dafydd 
12.30  Close   

 

P
age 292



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

RURAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME – TIRWEDD 
Y COMIN THE COMMON LANDSCAPE
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report provides an overview of the Rural Development Programme to date for 
the Rural Electoral Divisions of Cwm Taf and detail about the Tirwedd y Comin 
project on Merthyr & Gelligaer Common which we have entered into with Caerphilly.

1.2 The project specifically relates to Common Land and potential programme 
development.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 The Rural Action Cwm Taf Rural Development Programme, funded through the 
Welsh Government and European Union has been in existence since 2014 and is 
due to end Dec 2021.  Worth £1.2 Million, the LEADER programme has supported 
ten revenue projects to date, focusing on delivering upon the RDP themes of:

 Exploration of Digital Technology
 Renewable Energy at a community level
 Adding Value to Local Identity & Natural & Cultural Resources
 Exploring new ways of providing non statutory services
 Facilitating pre commercial development, business partnerships and short supply 

chains

Date Written 6th February 2018
Report Author Joanne Davies
Service Area Community Regeneration
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 21st February 2018

Page 293

Agenda Item 12



2.2 Projects will also deliver upon cross cutting themes of:

 Rural Poverty
 Health
 Welsh Language/Equalities
 Uplands (for clarification on this we have a map which outlines what these 

areas are)
 Resilient/Sustainable Rural communities

2.3 The programme delivers across the Electoral Divisions of Bedlinog, Cyfarthfa, 
Merthyr Vale, Plymouth, Treharris & Vaynor in Merthyr Tydfil and Maerdy, Rhigos & 
Ynysybwl in Rhondda Cynon Taf.

3.0 TIRWEDD Y COMIN – THE COMMON LANDSCAPE

3.1 The Merthyr & Gelligaer Common is a CADW designated Historic Landscape and is   
unique in its value to the rural communities which surround it, from an environmental, 
social and economic perspective.  The quality of habitat, biodiversity and grazing 
upon the Common is being degraded due to a number of issues which ultimately 
have their basis in negative human interaction with the landscape, perhaps due to an 
ignorance of how Common Land should be treated and what the regulations are for 
accessing the Common.

3.2 This Project will primarily work within the local community, but also share information 
regionally to tackle priority issues on the Common such as fly tipping and littering, fly 
grazing, off road vehicles and general antisocial behaviour problems.  It is expected 
that these issues will be addressed in the first year of the project.  The main aim of 
the project is to restore, maintain and protect the Common Landscape to ensure that 
the custodianship of it can be passed to future generations.  

3.3 The second year of the project will focus on land management, habitat restoration 
(tackling invasive species) and the responsible promotion of the landscape from a 
Tourism and Heritage perspective.  The issues addressed in year one will continue 
to be monitored and acted upon. 

3.4 The project will incorporate community education, skills and training to ensure that 
the balance of the Common can be restored and sustained.  Actions will support 
farming, rural businesses, rural communities and the upland ecosystem.

3.5 The Common Land Project will be managed by the Merthyr & Gelligaer Commoners 
Association, who will employ a part-time Ranger (25 hours) and Administrator (12 
hours) to run the project over two years.  Caerphilly/Blaenau Gwent’s Local Action 
Group (Cwm a Mynydd) and Merthyr/Rhondda Cynon Taf’s Local Action Group 
(Rural Action Cwm Taf) will jointly fund the 80% grant allocation with the Commoners 
Association providing the 20% cash match.

3.6 An SLA has been entered into for the duration of the project with Caerphilly CBC as 
a partnership agreement, required by Welsh Government, to ensure a transparent 
and impartial approach to project delivery.  

Page 294



3.7 A grant agreement will be issued to the Commoner’s Association from Caerphilly 
Council (as the Lead Council in this project) on behalf of both Councils.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 Funding for the Common Land project has been provided through the RDP LEADER 
Co-operation profile.  This is match funded by the Commoner’s Association.  The 
funding allocated for the two year project from the Rural Action Cwm Taf Board is 
£63,942.  Total project costs are £159,857.  There are no direct funding implications 
for MTCBC.

4.2 Spend for the overall Rural Programme is on track and in line with Programme 
delivery timescales.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 295



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 297

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 301

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Capital Programme 2018/19 to 2021/22
	4 Council Priorities and Budget Consultation 2018/19
	5 Cwm Taf Wellbeing Plan
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	6 Capital Monitoring Report 2017/18 – Quarter 3
	7 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 – Quarter 3
	8 Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 to 2021/22 – Final
	9 Annual Equality Report for 2016/17
	10 Special Guardianship Orders
	11 Cwm Taf Regional Plan 2018-23
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	INDEX
	1. Introduction and Background
	2. Methodology
	3. Common Themes
	4. Discussion Areas
	5. Staying Engaged


	12 Rural Development Programme – Tirwedd y Comin The Common Landscape
	13 Part Of Taff Bargoed Park, Trelewis, Merthyr Tydfil
	Appendix 1


